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FINANCIAL STATEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Objective(s) of Agenda Item 

1. To discuss responses to an exposure draft (ED) – ED 47, Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis, and to obtain the IPSASB’s direction on: 

(a) Specific Matters for Comment (SMC) 1 – 7; and 

(b) Other Key Issues. 

Material(s) Presented 

Agenda Item 6.1 Analysis of Comments – SMCs and Other Key Issues 

Agenda Item 6.2 Detailed Analysis of Respondents’ Comments on ED 47 

Agenda Item 6.3 Responses by Jurisdiction, Function, and Language 

Background 

2. ED 47 was issued in March 2012. Comments were requested by July 31, 2012. Thirty-seven (37) 

responses were received. See Agenda Item 6.3 for analyses the composition of responses by 

jurisdiction, function, and language. The detailed list of respondents is included at the beginning of 

Agenda Paper 6.2. 

3. At this meeting, the main focus will be on the analyses of SMCs in AP 6.1.  

(a) Staff has identified two issues in the ‘Other Key Issues’ section of AP 6.2 that relate to the 

IPSASB’s decision on SMC 1 (i.e., whether to issue the material as an IPSAS).  

(b) The two issues relate to (1) the impact of issuing an IPSAS on an entity’s ability to assert 

compliance with IPSASs and (2) on the impact on the audit opinion on the financial 

statements when an entity does not comply with the proposed IPSAS. 

(c) These two issues will be considered in conjunction with SMC 1 to provide staff with direction 

in redrafting the material. 

(d) Staff has also analyzed a third of the ‘Other Key Issues’ dealing with the FSDA definition. 

(e) The proposed changes to the Basis for Conclusions are presented together in Appendix 1 to 

present a complete picture of all the proposed revisions. These will be referred to in relation 

to specific issues. 
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4. The analyses of remaining ‘Other Key Issues’ in AP 6.2 will be addressed if time permits. They 

have not been analyzed in detail; however AP 6.2 provides brief staff comments on them. 

5. The minor comments noted in Agenda Paper 6.2 will not be discussed at this meeting. It is staff’s 

intent to address those in the context of redrafting the material to implement the IPSASB’s 

decisions on the issues noted in item 1. However, if there are comments on those issues where 

staff’s position has been provided, they can be brought to staff’s attention if time permits. 

Action(s) Requested 

6. The IPSASB is asked to consider each of the ‘Matters for Consideration’ in Agenda Paper 6.1. 
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Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis – Analysis of Comments 

Specific Matters for Comment and Other Key Issues 

 

SECTION  PAGE  

Introduction 1 

General Comments 2 

SMC 1 – Mandatory IPSAS  

(includes analysis of other key issues: Forward-looking Information and 

Compliance/Assurance which are related to SMC 1) 

3 

SMC 2 – Amendments to IPSAS 1 10 

SMC 3 – Distinction from Other Reports 13 

SMC 4 – Required Content of FSDA 16 

SMC 5 – Transitional Provisions 23 

SMC 6 – Implementation Guidance 24 

SMC 7 – Illustrative Example 27 

Comments on Other Key Issues – Definition of FSDA 29 

Appendix 1 – Proposed Changes to Basis for Conclusions 31 

Appendix 2 – Excerpts from IFRS Practice Statement 38 

Introduction 

1. This is the first IPSASB discussion of responses to Exposure Draft (ED) 47 of a proposed 

International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS), Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis (FSDA). This analysis of the responses has been prepared by staff.   

2. This Agenda Paper (AP) discusses the respondents’ general comments on the project and on the 

Specific Matters for Comment (SMC) in ED 47, and when appropriate, proposes changes to ED 47. 

The paper is presented as follows (consistent with AP 6.2): 

(a) General Comments; 

(b) SMC 1:  Mandatory IPSAS (includes analysis of other key issues: Forward-looking  

 Information and Compliance/Assurance which are related to SMC 1); 

(c) SMC 2:  Amendments to IPSAS 1; 

(d) SMC 3:  Distinction from Other Reports; 

(e) SMC 4: Required Content of FSDA; 

(f) SMC 5:  Transitional Provisions; 
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(g) SMC 6:  Implementation Guidance; and 

(h) SMC 7:  Illustrative Example. 

3. AP 6.2 sets out respondents’ detailed comments (a ‘cut and paste’ of the response letters). AP 6.2 

includes a categorization of the responses on the issue (e.g., agree, disagree, etc.) as well as a 

column for staff comments, which provides a staff view or a cross-reference to this paper and 

proposes what action to take.   

(a) Where appropriate for clarity, staff has sub-divided the comments of respondents that have 

made several points related to an issue. This is indicated by adding a number immediately 

after the respondent number (e.g., 1.1 relates to the first comment that respondent 1 has 

made on the issue).  

(b) In cases where staff considered the comments to be more of a drafting issue, the comments 

are included in the ‘Other Comments’ section of AP 6.2, which is not expected to be 

considered at this IPSASB meeting due to time constraints. 

General Comments 

4. The majority of the 37 respondents to ED 47 provided general comments (#1, 3, 4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 

14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22, 25, 28, 31, 32, 33, 35, 36, 37).  

5. Of those respondents that provided general comments, the majority of those respondents (#3, 4, 7, 

8, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 31, 33, 35, 36) supported the need 

for/relevance of the project in general, and provided specific comments for improvement. Staff 

considers this to be support for continuing to develop the project, subject to the IPSASB’s decisions 

on the SMCs and other key issues raised by respondents. 

6. Some respondents (#4, 22, 32, 37) reiterated their comments on other IPSASB projects, that 

subject matters that are outside of the financial statements are not within the IPSASB’s remit. Staff 

does not recommend any action on these comments, as the IPSASB’s Terms of Reference include 

broader subjects that meet the needs of users. These respondents nevertheless provided 

comments on the content of the proposed standard. 

7. Respondents #1 and 16 commented on the scope of FSDA. Staff does not consider there is a need 

to broaden the scope of the project. As noted below in relation to SMC 3, clarity of the distinction of 

FSDA from other forms of general purpose financial reports (GPFR) and from the notes to the 

financial statements is necessary.  

8. Respondent #3 suggests aligning the title of the proposed pronouncement with the IFRS Practice 

Statement on Management Commentary. Staff is not adverse to changing the title, but notes that 

the majority of respondents did not suggest such a change. Staff suggests this issue be revisited at 

the end of the session, taking into account the IPSASB’s decisions on SMC 1, SMC 3 and the other 

issue dealing with ‘Convergence with IFRS Practice Statement’. 

 

Matter(s) for Consideration 

1. Does the IPSASB agree that there is support for continuing to develop the project, subject to the 

IPSASB’s decisions on the SMCs and other key issues raised by respondents? 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

Broad Agreement with SMC 1 

9. Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 1 asked the following question: 

“Do you agree that the material presented in this Exposure Draft should be developed as 

a mandatory IPSAS that applies to all entities that prepare financial statements in 

accordance with IPSASs?”  

10. All 37 respondents replied to this SMC.   

11. Table 1 below summarizes the overall views of the responses to SMC 1. 

Table 1: Overview of Responses to SMC 1 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 1, 2, 5, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 

19, 23, 25, 29, 30, 31, 36 

17 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Disagree, material should be issued as 

guidance, rather than as an IPSAS) 

4, 6, 9, 11, 16, 17, 18, 20, 24, 26, 

27, 28, 32, 34, 37 

15 

C – DISAGREE (Disagree material should be issued as IPSAS, 

but not clear on whether it should be issued as guidance) 

3 , 21, 22, 33, 35 5 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED ON THE SMC ― 0 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

12. The comments for and against issuing the material as an IPSAS were fairly evenly split, with a 

slight majority going to not issuing the material as an IPSAS (categories B and C). Of those not in 

favour of issuing the material as an IPSAS, 15  expressed a clear view that it should be issued as 

guidance similar to the IPSASB that in ED 46, Reporting on the Long-term Sustainability of Public 

Finances (LTFS). 

13. There were other issues raised by respondents (see ‘Forward-looking Information’ and 

‘Compliance/Assurance’) that also highlighted the difficulties with issuing the material as an IPSAS. 

Staff considered these together and believes there is a preponderance of reasons that support 

issuing the material as guidance, including those highlighted in responses #11, 16, 17, 27, 28, 34: 

(a) Issuing a standard at the present time is premature. Issuing the material as guidance at this 

time will allow practical experience to be gained across jurisdictions. A standard could be 

issued at a later date. 

(b) There are concerns that not all jurisdictions that may adopt the FSDA guidance would 

necessarily follow International Standards on Auditing (ISAs”, so the IPSASB’s rationale that 

there would be no issues with the impact on an audit opinion on the financial statements is 

not necessarily true in all cases. 
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(c) A mandatory IPSAS may conflict with existing legislative or administrative requirements for 

various types of public sector entities, which may impede its adoption. The result would be 

that the objective of the guidance―to assist financial statement users’ understanding of the 

financial statements―would not be met. A similar concern expressed by respondents to the 

IFRS Practice Statement.  

14. Staff therefore recommends that the IPSASB continue to develop the material as a Recommended 

Practice Guideline (RPG). This will necessitate changes to the Basis for Conclusions (BC) to 

describe the IPSASB’s rationale for issuing the material as guidance. See Appendix 1 for proposed 

wording changes to the BC. 

15. The proposed changes to the body of ED 47 are adapted from ED 46, Status and Scope section, 

and from the IFRS Practice Statement (new paragraphs 9 – 10 under new heading, ‘Identification of 

Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis’ from paragraphs 5 – 7 of the Practice Statement). 

Paragraphs 7A – 7C, which are the result of analysis of SMC 2, are also presented here to show 

the proposed flow of this section. 

16. Staff also proposes (see ‘Compliance/Assurance analysis below) that paragraph 2 be added based 

on paragraph 4 of the IFRS Practice Statement. 

17. The proposed changes are as follows: 

Status and Scope 

2.  This RPG does not mandate which entities should be required to publish financial statement 

discussion and analysis, how frequently an entity should do so or the level of assurance to 

which financial statement discussion and analysis should be subjected.  

3.  The reporting of information in accordance with this RPG represents good practice. Although 

this RPG does not have the authority of an International Public Sector Accounting Standard 

(IPSAS), aAn entity that prepares and presents general purpose financial statements (“financial 

statements”) in accordance with IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, is encouraged 

toshall  prepare and present financial statement discussion and analysis and to follow this RPG 

in its preparation and presentation. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall should be 

prepared for the same reporting entity that prepares and presents financial statements under 

the accrual basis of accounting. 

34.  This Standard applies only to financial statement discussion and analysis. It does not apply to 

other information included in public documents issued in conjunction with the financial 

statements, such as reports on the long-term sustainability of public finances or reports on 

service performance information. However, it is important that any significant information 

provided in such reports be considered when preparing and presenting financial statement 

discussion and analysis.  

45.  This Standard RPG applies to all public sector entities other than Government Business 

Enterprises. 

56.  The Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards issued by the IPSASB6 

explains that Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) apply IFRSs issued by the IASB. GBEs 

are defined in IPSAS 1. 

Requirement for Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

6.  An entity shall issue the financial statement discussion and analysis when it issues financial 

statements. 
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7.  IPSAS 1 requires financial statements to be prepared at least annually. Some entities may 

prepare condensed interim financial information. This Standard requiresRPG  an entity to issue 

financial statement discussion and analysis in conjunction with the entity’s annual financial 

statements. Therefore, financial statement discussion and analysis should be prepared for the 

same reporting period as the financial statements. 

Identification of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

Paragraphs 7A – 7C ( see SMC 2 for analysis)   

7A. Financial statement discussion and analysis relates to financial statements. Accordingly, an 

entity should either make the financial statements available with the financial statement 

discussion and analysis or identify in the financial statement discussion and analysis the 

financial statements to which it relates. 

7B. Financial statement discussion and analysis should include cross-references to the financial 

statements to avoid duplicating information. Although certain disclosures are required to be 

provided in the notes to the financial statements in accordance with various IPSASs, further 

elaboration of such transactions and events may assist in providing greater insight as to how 

such transactions and events may affect the entity’s future operations. Financial statement 

discussion and analysis should reflect the individual situation of the reporting entity. 

7C. In addition, if the entity has published reports on the long-term sustainability of public 

finances or reports on service performance information prior to or at the same time as the 

financial statements and financial statement discussion and analysis, care should be taken to 

avoid significant overlap in the financial statement discussion and analysis with the 

information presented in those other reports. In such cases, consideration should be given to 

appropriately cross-referencing information in those other reports in the financial statement 

discussion and analysis. 

 … 

9.  When financial statement discussion and analysis is presented, it should explain the extent to 

which this RPG has been followed. An assertion that financial statement discussion and 

analysis complies with the RPG can be made only if it complies with the RPG in its entirety. 

10. Financial statement discussion and analysis should identify clearly what it is presenting and 

distinguish it from other information. 

18. Staff proposes that as a result of the recommendation to issue the material as an RPG rather than 

as an IPSAS, and the addition of paragraph 10 adapted from the IFRS Practice Statement, the 

following additional changes are necessary to avoid duplication and improve flow (note that the 

numbering presented is ED 47 numbering which may need to be changed in light of the earlier 

changes proposed): 

 Identification of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

11. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall be identified clearly, and distinguished 

from the financial statements. 

12. Separate identification of financial statement discussion and analysis enables users to 

distinguish: 

(a) Financial statements prepared and presented under the accrual basis of accounting in 

accordance with IPSASs; and 

(b)  Other information presented in an annual report or other document that may be useful to users 

but is not the subject of requirements in IPSASs. 
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Compliance with this IPSAS 

13. An entity whose financial statement discussion and analysis complies with this IPSAS 

shall make an explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance. Financial 

statement discussion and analysis shall not be described as complying with this IPSAS 

unless it complies with all the requirements of this IPSAS. 

14. In some jurisdictions, preparation and presentation of financial statement discussion and 

analysis is required by legislative, regulatory, or other externally-imposed regulations. Entities 

are encouraged to disclose information about compliance with those requirements. 

19. Because some of the changes proposed to the BF pertain to the issue of ‘Compliance/Assurance’, 

staff has included all changes to the section of the BC as Appendix 1 to this paper. 

Other Key Issues Related to SMC 1: 

Forward-looking Information 

20. ED 47 contains the following guidance on forward-looking information: 

24. Financial statements can have a predictive or prospective role. This Standard does not require 

the entity to disclose forward-looking information, such as forecasts or projections. However, 

financial statement discussion and analysis should explain significant changes and trends in an 

entity’s financial position and financial performance. An analysis of trends includes those financial 

statement items that are important and significant to gaining a better understanding of an entity’s 

financial position and performance and changes in financial position and performance over a period 

of time. 

A.IG8. When dealing with qualitative or forward-looking information (e.g., expectations about 

financial results in the future), it is not generally possible to specify a uniform quantitative threshold 

above which a particular type of information becomes material. 

21. It also contains the following Alternative View of an IPSASB Member: 

Alternative View of Mr. Thomas Müller-Marqués Berger 

AV1. This member is of the view that ED 47 should require entities to disclose forward-looking 

information, such as forecasts or projections. As outlined in the IPSASB’s Conceptual Framework 

Exposure Draft 1, the objectives of financial reporting by public sector entities are to provide 

information about the entity that is useful to users of GPFRs for accountability purposes and for 

decision-making purposes. 

AV2. In the view of this member, the decision not to require entities to disclose forward-looking 

information does not completely fulfill user needs as the objective of decision-making is not 

sufficiently addressed. 

22. The rationale for the IPSASB’s position on forward-looking information is as follows: 

Forward-Looking Information 

BC17. This Standard does not require the entity to disclose forward-looking information, such as 

forecasts or projections. However, the IPSASB noted that information in financial statements 

also has predictive ability about the entity’s operations, and that financial statement discussion 

and analysis could enhance that ability. For example, information about an entity’s risk 

management policies, and trend analyses of significant financial statement items, may assist 

users in assessing the extent to which resources will be available to support future service 

delivery objectives and the amounts and timing of future cash flows necessary to service and 

repay existing claims to the entity’s resources. The IPSASB has thus provide guidance on how 

such information could be included in financial statement discussion and analysis. 



Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis – Analysis of Comments  

IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) 

Agenda Item 6.1 

Page 7 of 40 

23. Sixteen respondents commented on whether FSDA should contain forward-looking
1
 (prospective) 

information.  

24. Table 1A below summarizes the overall views of the comments on forward-looking information.. 

Table 1A: Overview of Comments on Forward-looking Information 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE prospective information s/be provided 006, 011, 014, 017, 018, 019, 

022, 023, 033 

9 

B – DISAGREE prospective information should be provided 004, 010, 021 3 

C – NO CLEAR VIEW provided in comments 013, 016, 026, 031 4 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  16 

D – DID NOT COMMENT ― 21 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

25. Of those respondents that commented, nine (#006, 011, 014, 017, 018, 019, 022, 023, 033) 

supported providing prospective information in FSDA (Category A). Three respondents (#4, 10, 21), 

noted such information should not be provided (Category B). 

26. Two respondents commented that ED 47 was unclear on whether forward-looking information was 

expected to be included in FSDA. Respondent #31 commented that the ED states that the 

information should be based on “currently known facts and supportable assumptions”, but other 

information in the ED seems to be forward looking. Respondent #19 (see General Comments 

section in AP 6.2) recommended developing a consistent and clear proposal with respect to the 

inclusion of forward-looking information.  

27. In developing ED 47, which proposed the guidance be issued as a mandatory IPSAS, the IPSASB 

decided to not require prospective information to be provided for the reasons set out below.  

Forward-Looking Information 

BC17. This Standard does not require the entity to disclose forward-looking information, such as 

forecasts or projections. However, the IPSASB noted that information in financial statements also 

has predictive ability about the entity’s operations, and that financial statement discussion and 

analysis could enhance that ability. For example, information about an entity’s risk management 

policies, and trend analyses of significant financial statement items, may assist users in assessing 

the extent to which resources will be available to support future service delivery objectives and the 

amounts and timing of future cash flows necessary to service and repay existing claims to the 

entity’s resources. The IPSASB has thus provided guidance on how such information could be 

included in financial statement discussion and analysis. 

28. Staff has proposed that the guidance be issued as a RPG. In light of that proposal, staff considers it 

may be appropriate to add clearer guidance on whether FSDA should provide forward-looking 

                                                      
1
 ED 46 uses the term ‘prospective’. The IFRS Practice Statement uses the term ‘forward-looking’. 
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information. Both ED 46 and the IFRS Practice Statement include guidance on providing such 

information. 

29. Staff therefore proposes that such guidance should now provided for FSDA. If the IPSASB agrees 

with this proposal, staff recommends that the material be adapted directly from the IFRS Practice 

Statement. Relevant portions of the IFRS Practice Statement are in Appendix 2 to this paper: 

30. Staff notes that the term ‘forward-looking’ has been used in FSDA 47 because it was considered to 

be appropriate in light of the fact that FSDA is intended to cover similar subject matter to 

Management Commentary. However, staff now considers it would be appropriate to use the term 

‘prospective’ in such guidance because it is consistent with the IPSASB terminology in ED 46 on 

LTFS. Staff does not consider this change needs to be addressed in the BC.  

Compliance/Assurance 

31. Eight respondents (#14, 17, 24, 27, 28, 31, 32, 33) expressed concerns with issues related to an 

entity’s ability to assert compliance with IPSASs if FSDA is mandatory, the audit/ assurance 

implications of a mandatory IPSAS, and the inclusion of non-IPSAS compliant information in FSDA. 

32. Four respondents (#17, 31, 32, 33) were concerned that a mandatory IPSAS on FSDA would 

create issues for the ability to assert compliance with IPSASs if an entity did not also comply with 

ED 47. Respondent #33 noted in particular that the relationship of ‘fair presentation’ of FSDA and 

fair presentation of financial statements should be clarified. Staff also considered the concern 

expressed by several respondents under SMC 1 above (#11, 16, 17, 27, 28, 34) regarding the 

impact of a mandatory IPSAS on determination of fair presentation of the financial statements 

under IPSASs. 

33. Four respondents (#24, 28, 31 and 32) pointed out that there are additional audit costs because of 

the auditor’s requirements under ISA 720 which requires the auditor to determine whether there are 

inconsistencies between the FSDA and the financial statements, which mean additional work, 

regardless of the fact that no assurance is provided on the FSDA. They note that the costs of 

preparing FSDA and additional audit costs should be compared with the expected benefits of 

preparing FSDA.  

34. Respondent #32 noted that the auditor may influence the content of FSDA under a mandatory 

IPSAS, which could blur the lines of responsibility between management and the auditor. Staff does 

not consider this to be a greater issue for FSDA than it would be for the financial statements; 

auditors are required to be independent in any case. 

35. Staff considers this issue is no longer a concern if the material is issued as a RPG, because the 

concern was with the confusion created by having a mandatory IPSAS apply to information other 

than the financial statements. Staff has proposed changes to the BC to address this issue (see AP 

6.4). 

36. In previous IPSAS discussions, the IPSASB has taken the view that the need for, level of, and 

extent of, assurance is a matter for preparers to form a judgment on in conjunction with their 

auditors, taking into account the needs of users. ED 46 reflects this by addressing audit and 

assurance in a broader sub-section on the Reliability of Projections. This sub-section explains that 

there are a range of approaches, such as assurance by an external auditor and peer review by 

independent experts, entities might take to enhance the credibility of LTFS information. At the June 

meeting, staff suggested that, given the views on audit and assurance expressed in relation to ED 
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46 on LTFS, and the significance of the issue to some respondents there should be a fuller 

explanation of the IPSASB’s approach in the BC, regardless of the substance of the approach 

taken. However, Members were not inclined to go into detail in the Basis for Conclusions. Staff 

notes that the IFRS Practice Statement includes the following material in its BC, which staff 

considers appropriate without going into too much detail, and proposes adding it to the BC (see 

Appendix 1 to this paper): 

BC16 The Board decided to provide guidance on the content of management commentary in the 

form of a non-binding practice statement, rather than an IFRS, because it believes it is up to 

individual jurisdictions to make their own judgements on: 

(a)  whether entities should be required to include management commentary in addition to their 

IFRS financial statements and whether inclusion is necessary to assert compliance with 

IFRSs; 

(b)  the level of assurance to which management commentary should be subjected; 

(c)  the necessity of ‘safe harbour’ provisions in relation to the inclusion of forward–looking 

information;* and 

(d) the type of entity that should present management commentary. 

37. Staff also proposes adding similar wording to that in paragraph 4 of the IFRS Practice Statement to 

clarify that the RPG does not mandate assurance.  

4  The Practice Statement does not mandate which entities should be required to publish 

management commentary, how frequently an entity should do so or the level of assurance to 

which management commentary should be subjected.  

38. An adaptation of this guidance has been included in the proposed revisions to the Status and 

Scope section under SMC 1. 

 

Matter(s) for Consideration 

2. Does the IPSASB agree to continue to develop ED 47 as a RPG? 

3. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed changes to ED 47 to clarify the status and scope of the 

RPG? 

4. Do you agree that guidance should be added on providing prospective information in FSDA? 

5. If so, should it be consistent with the material shown above from the IFRS Practice Statement? 

6. Do you agree that the term ‘prospective’ should be used in place of ‘forward-looking’? 

7. Do you agree that the compliance with the FSDA guidance and effect on the audit opinion on the fair 

presentation of financial statements (and related audit opinion) are no longer a concern if the 

material is issued as a RPG? 

8. Do you agree with the proposals to clarify that the RPG does not contain guidance on the level of 

assurance to be provided on FSDA? 

9. Do you agree with amendments to the definition of financial statement discussion and analysis and 

the addition of a definition of ‘prospective information’? 
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SMC 2: Amendments to IPSAS 2 

Broad Agreement with SMC 2 

39. Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 2 asked the following question: 

“Do you agree that IPSAS 1 should be amended to clearly indicate that financial statement 

discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements?” 

40. All 37 respondents replied to this SMC.   

41. Table 2 below summarizes the overall views of the responses to SMC 2, which were generally 

supportive. 

Table 2: Overview of Responses to SMC 2 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 

16, 18, 19, 20, 23, 24, 25, 28, 29, 

30, 31, 32, 33, 35, 36 

26 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (If material issued as an IPSAS) 11, 34 2 

C – DISAGREE (Not needed if IPSAS issued as guidance, linked 

to comment on SMC 1) 

3, 4, 5, 17, 21, 26, 27 7 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 22 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

42. The proposed amendment to IPSAS 1 set out in ED 47 is as follows: 

A new paragraph is inserted after paragraph 21 as follows: 

Components of Financial Statements 

21.  A complete set of financial statements comprises: 

(a) A statement of financial position; 

(b) A statement of financial performance; 

(c) A statement of changes in net assets/equity; 

(d) A cash flow statement; 

(e) When the entity makes publicly available its approved budget, a comparison of budget 

and actual amounts either as a separate additional financial statement or as a budget 

column in the financial statements; and 

(f) Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory       

notes. 

21A. Financial statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements. 

IPSAS XX (ED 47), Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis requires financial statement 

discussion and analysis to be presented in conjunction with its financial statements. 
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43. The majority of respondents (Category A) agreed with the need to amend IPSAS 1 as presented in 

ED 47. Nine respondents (categories B and C) had responses conditional on whether the material 

is issued as an IPSAS.  Seven respondents (Category C) noted that the proposed amendment is 

not required if the material is issued as guidance. Two respondents (Category B) also noted the 

decision depends on whether the material is issued as an IPSAS but they did not specifically 

indicate it is not required. 

44. Two respondents  (#5 and 26) favour FSDA being included as part of the financial statements. Staff 

does not consider this be justified on the basis that a majority of respondents wanted greater clarity 

that FSDA is not part of the financial statements and that overlap between disclosures in the 

financial statements and FSDA needs to be removed. 

45. Staff notes that some respondents commented on the need to distinguish the FSDA from the notes 

to the financial statements under SMC 3. Staff also considered these comments in relation to SMC 

2. Staff believes that there is sufficient support to retain the proposed amendment to IPSAS 1. 

46. Staff also notes that it is important to clearly distinguish whether FSDA is part is part of the financial 

statements, regardless of whether the material is issued as an IPSAS or as guidance. Staff 

considers this as part of the issue of ‘positioning’ FSDA appropriately relative to other GPFRs and 

other parts of the financial statements (i.e., the notes). 

47. Staff does not therefore propose to delete the amendment proposed to IPSAS 1 (other than to 

reflect the IPSASB’s decision on SMC 1 as necessary), but to add further guidance to distinguish 

FSDA from other GPFRs and the notes to the financial statements. Proposed changes to the 

guidance and the related BC are set out under SMC 3. 

48. If the IPSASB decides under SMC 1 to issue the material as guidance, proposed paragraph 21A of 

IPSAS 1 would be as follows: 

21A. Financial statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the an entity’s financial 

statements. Recommended Practice Guideline XXIPSAS XX (ED 47), Financial Statement 

Discussion and Analysis, requires recommends that financial statement discussion and 

analysis to be presented in conjunction with its an entity’s financial statements. 

Cross-references necessary 

49. Four respondents (see #33 under SMC 1 and SMC 2, #34 under SMC 1, #10 under SMC 3, and #5 

under SMC 4 and SMC 6) commented on the need for cross references between FSDA and the 

notes to the financial statements and between FSDA and other GPFRs (e.g., LTFS and service 

performance reporting (SPR) as described in the IPSASB Consultation Paper (CP), Reporting 

Service Performance Information). 

50. Staff proposes the following paragraphs be added to the new section ‘Identification of Financial 

Statement Discussion and Analysis (see SMC 1) to address their concerns. Note that because the 

material in paragraph B.IG23 is now addressed in a more general sense in paragraph 7B, staff 

proposes deleting paragraph B.IG23. 

Identification of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

7A. Financial statement discussion and analysis relates to financial statements. Accordingly, an 

entity should either make the financial statements available with the financial statement 
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discussion and analysis or identify in the financial statement discussion and analysis the 

financial statements to which it relates. 

7B. Financial statement discussion and analysis should include cross-references to the financial 

statements to avoid duplicating information. Although certain disclosures are required to be 

provided in the notes to the financial statements in accordance with various IPSASs, further 

elaboration of such transactions and events may assist in providing greater insight as to how 

such transactions and events may affect the entity’s future operations. Financial statement 

discussion and analysis should reflect the individual situation of the reporting entity. 

7C. In addition, if the entity has published reports on the long-term sustainability of public 

finances or reports on service performance information prior to or at the same time as the 

financial statements and financial statement discussion and analysis, care should be taken to 

avoid significant overlap in the financial statement discussion and analysis with the 

information presented in those other reports. In such cases, consideration should be given to 

appropriately cross-referencing information in those other reports in the financial statement 

discussion and analysis. 

B.IG23. Although such disclosures are required to be provided in the notes to the financial 

statements in accordance with various IPSASs, further elaboration of such transactions and 

events may assist in providing greater insight as to how such events may affect the entity's 

future operations. 

 

Matter(s) for Consideration 

10. Does the IPSASB agree the amendment to IPSAS 1 should be retained? 

11. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed changes to the amendment to IPSAS 1 if the IPSASB 

decides under SMC 1 to issue the material as guidance rather than an IPSAS? 
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SMC 3: Distinction from Other Reports 

Broad Agreement with SMC 3 

51. Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 3 asked the following question: 

“Is the scope of financial statement discussion and analysis clearly defined so as to distinguish it 

from other reports being addressed by the IPSASB (e.g., service performance reporting, reporting 

on the long-term sustainability of public finances)?” 

52. All 37 respondents replied to this SMC.   

53. Table 3 below summarizes the overall views of the responses to SMC 3. 

Table 3: Overview of Responses to SMC 3 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14, 15, 

18, 19, 20, 23, 26, 27, 30, 31, 32, 

35 

21 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to greater clarity about relation 

to Notes, LTFS and SPR) 

3, 4, 13, 16, 17, 22, 24, 25, 28, 

33, 34, 36, 37 

13 

C – DISAGREE ― 0 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 10, 21, 29 3 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

54. In general, respondents (categories A and B) agreed that FSDA had been appropriately 

distinguished from other reports such as LTFS and service performance reporting (SPR). 

55. A large subset of respondents (Category B) had comments on the relation of FSDA to the financial 

statement notes, LTFS, and SPR.    

(a) Respondent #14 noted that clarification is required that FSDA covers the same period 

as the financial statements. Staff considers this an important distinction, especially in 

light of comments on the linkages to other reports such as LTFS and SPR, which will 

not necessarily have the same reporting period as the financial statements, and may 

not be issued on as timely a basis as would be expected for the financial statements 

and FSDA. 

(b) Respondents #3 and 4 comment that the relation of FSDA to the notes is not clear and 

may result in overlap. Respondent #16 also notes that guidance is necessary on 

deciding when additional disclosure is needed in the FSDA when relevant disclosures 

have been made in the financial statements. 

(c) Respondent  #10 stated that FSDA should be cross-referenced to SPR. Respondent 

#16 noted that FSDA and SPR need to be well connected as there may be linkages 
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between what is reported in the SPR to the financial statements, which need to be 

referenced in FSDA. Respondent #17 also notes there may be overlap between what 

is reported in LTFS and SPR and what is reported in FSDA. Nine respondents (#22, 

24, 26, 27, 29, 33, 34, 36, 37) point out that the distinctions between FSDA and other 

types of reports needs to be clarified. Respondent #24 notes that LTFS and SPR be 

specifically excluded from the scope of FSDA. 

(d) Respondent #28 commented in particular on the proposed amendment to IPSAS 24, 

Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements and the impact on when 

such disclosures would be mandatory. This issue is addressed under SMC 4. 

(e) Under SMC 6, respondent #5 suggested a change to the Implementation Guidance to 

require cross references between FSDA and the financial statements to clarify 

applicability of the Implementation Guidance. Staff recommends that the proposed 

guidance be included in the Minimum Required Content section because it has broader 

application in the guidance. See proposed additional wording (adapted from the 

respondent’s suggested wording) under SMC 1. 

56. Staff agrees with respondents that more guidance is required on the links between FSDA, the notes 

to the financial statements, and LTFS and SPR. See the proposed changes to the Status and 

Scope, and Identification of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis sections of ED 47 under 

SMC 1 to clarify these linkages. See also the proposed rationale under the ‘Actual-to-Budget’ 

section below. 

57. Staff also suggests amending paragraph A.IG7 as follows to clarify that information should not be 

repeated in financial statement discussion and analysis if it is reported in the financial statements. 

Proposed wording is as follows: 

A.IG7. Generic or “boilerplate” information that does not relate to the specific operations, practices 

and circumstances of the entity is unlikely to be relevant and should not be included in financial 

statement discussion and analysis. DWhen practicable, duplication of the disclosures made in the 

notes to its financial statements should be avoided. If it is necessary to repeat information in the 

financial statements to provide a context for the information presented in financial statement 

discussion and analysis, such repetition should be minimized to the extent possible. Financial 

statement discussion and analysis that recites financial statement information without analysis or 

explanations, or presents discussions that do not provide insight into the entity’s past performance 

is unlikely to provide information that is relevant to users of the financial statements, and may 

create an obstacle for users to identify and understand the most significant matters the entity faces. 

For example, it is not appropriate to repeat in the financial statement discussion and analysis 

information provided in detailed note disclosures without providing additional insight. commentary 

on the economy that relates specifically to the entity’s financial statements and expected impacts 

on the entity would be relevant information for users. 
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Matter(s) for Consideration 

12. Does the IPSASB agree with the amendment to the Status and Scope section of ED 47? 

13. Does the IPSASB agree with the changes (in addition to those under SMC 1) to clarify the scope 

of FSDA?  

14. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed changes to the amendment to IPSAS 1 if the IPSASB 

decides under SMC 1 to issue the material as guidance rather than an IPSAS? 
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SMC 4: Required Content of FSDA 

Broad Agreement with SMC 4 

58. Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 4 asked the following question: 

“Is the required content for financial statement discussion and analysis appropriate?”  

59. All 37 respondents replied to this SMC.   

60. Table 4 below summarizes the overall views of the responses to SMC 4. 

Table 4: Overview of Responses to SMC 4 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 21, 

24, 28, 31, 36 

15 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to specific suggestions for 

improvement) 

1, 4, 5, 9, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 

20, 22, 23, 26, 27, 29, 30, 33, 34 

18 

C – DISAGREE 33, 35, 37 3 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 25 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

61. The strong majority of respondents (categories A and B) agreed that the content of FSDA was 

appropriate. However, over half of the total had suggestions for changes to ED 47. 

62. Four respondents (#1, 3, 22, and 26) suggested the scope of FSDA was too restricted by relating 

only to the financial statements. Staff notes that the IPSASB had carefully considered the scope 

and title of the report to ensure it did not overlap with other types of GPFR and to link FSDA to the 

financial statements alone. Staff does not propose a change to the scope of FSDA. 

63. Two respondents (#4 and 5) commented on the need for clarifying the distinction between FSDA 

and the notes, LTFS, and SPR. Staff has analyzed this issue under SMC 1 and SMC 3. 

64. Respondent #9 suggested additional detail should be provided about how to prepare an actual-to-

budget comparison. Staff does not consider the FSDA guidance the appropriate place for such 

guidance. Such guidance, if required, would be provided in IPSAS 24. 

Required Content 

Other Sources 

65. The required content of FSDA is set out in paragraphs 15 – 32 of ED 47. The majority of 

respondents did not suggest that the required content in ED 47 was inappropriate.  

66. Three respondents suggested other presentation frameworks for content of FSDA should be used. 

Respondent #16 suggested consideration of the US Securities and Exchange Commission 

guidance in Regulation S-K on Management Discussion and Analysis. Respondents #17 and 23 
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suggested consideration of the IIRC content elements for inclusion paragraph 15. It is noted that 

based on staff’s initial review of those documents, many of the content items they contain are 

consistent with the matters in paragraph 15, and are thus a matter of preference. 

67. Staff notes that the IFRS Practice Statement contains another set of recommended ‘elements of 

management commentary’ which could be considered in redrafting ED 47. This approach would 

have the benefit of providing further alignment of the IPSASB guidance with the IFRS Practice 

Statement, as suggested by some respondents (see ‘Convergence with IFRS Practice Statement’ 

analysis below). Staff also considers it may be necessary to consider incorporating some of the 

items in paragraph 24 of the IFRS Practice Statement in light of staff’s proposal that guidance on 

prospective information should be provided if the material is issued as a RPG as proposed under 

SMC 1. Paragraph 24 reads: 

24 Although the particular focus of management commentary will depend on the facts and 

circumstances of the entity, management commentary should include information that is essential 

to an understanding of: 

(a)  the nature of the business; 

(b)  management’s objectives and its strategies for meeting those objectives; 

(c)  the entity’s most significant resources, risks and relationships; 

(d)  the results of operations and prospects; and 

(e)  the critical performance measures and indicators that management uses to evaluate the 

entity’s performance against stated objectives. 

68. In redrafting ED 47, staff will consider the specific items in these documents. Staff also notes that 

with a proposed change to a RPG the concerns with recommended content may not be as 

significant, as the material will not be mandatory. In addition, staff considers the proposed changes 

to clarify the status and scope (see SMC 1 analysis) and the proposed change to paragraph 15 

(see below) will help to alleviate respondents’ concerns over the specific categories which may not 

line up directly with the requirements in their jurisdictions as well as the concern of respondents 

#33, 35, and 37 which indicated the required content in ED 47 is inappropriate. 

69. Staff is mindful that if the IPSASB agrees with the staff proposal to issue the guidance as a RPG, 

significantly redrafting the categories of the FSDA content which most respondents agreed with in 

principle, would require additional staff and IPSASB time. Staff therefore recommends that the 

basic approach in ED 47 for the required content not be changed dramatically, but that relevant 

parts of other guidance on FSDA be considered when redrafting the material. 

Complement and Supplement 

70. Respondent #27 commented that paragraph 16 of ED 47 implies that IPSAS requirements are not 

satisfactory in and of themselves. That paragraph reads as follows: 

16. Financial statement discussion and analysis provides useful information to users for 

accountability and decision-making purposes. However, some matters may be required to be 

included in the financial statements by relevant IPSASs that may also be required to be 

included in financial statement discussion and analysis in accordance with this Standard. In 

those cases, financial statement discussion and analysis should not merely repeat what is in 

the financial statements, but it should complement and supplement the financial statement 

explanations by providing insights and perspectives thereon. 
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71. The intent of paragraph 16 was to highlight that FSDA should not simply repeat financial statement 

disclosures, but add to them to meet users’ needs. Staff notes that the IFRS Practice Statement 

contains the following guidance:  

16  Management commentary should supplement and complement the financial statements with 

explanations of the amounts presented in the financial statements and the conditions and 

events that shaped that information. Management commentary should also include information 

about the entity and its performance that is not presented in the financial statements but is 

important to the management of the entity. 

72. Staff proposes amending the guidance in ED 47.16 to be consistent with that in the IFRS Practice 

Statement which does not distinguish significant information presented in FSDA (i.e., whether it is 

required by other IPSASs) so it does not seem to carry the same implications of financial statement 

deficiency as extant ED 47.16. 

73. In addition, paragraph 25 of the IFRS Practice Statement contains the following guidance which 

would address the concern of respondent 34 that the categories of ‘minimum required content’ 

should not be considered in isolation. Staff considers that the proposed changes under SMC 1 and 

SMC 3 will address the respondent’s concern regarding overlap with the contents of other IPSASB 

projects. 

25 The elements are not listed in a specific order. They are, however, related and should not be 

presented in isolation. Management should provide its perspective on the business and its 

analysis of the interaction of the elements to help users to understand the entity’s financial 

statements and to understand management’s objectives and strategies for achieving those 

objectives. 

74. Staff also notes that paragraph 15 was a requirement in ED 47, and staff proposes adding wording 

consistent with ED 46.20 as a lead-in to illustrate that the information is not required but 

recommended practice. Similar changes were proposed by respondents #17 and 27. 

75. Proposed wording is as follows (note that the wording was amended from the requirement in 

boldface in ED 47): 

15. A single presentation approach is unlikely to satisfy the objectives of financial reporting. Financial 

statement discussion and analysis will need to be complemented by additional presentational 

methods involving a combination of narrative reporting, graphical presentation and the use of 

quantitative analysis methods such as ratios. To the extent it does not replicate information in the 

financial statements, financial statement discussion and analysis shall generally includes the 

following information, at a minimum: 

(a)  An overview of the entity; 

(b)  Information about the entity’s objectives and strategies; 

(c)  An analysis of the entity’s financial statements, including variances and trends; and 

(d) Information about the entity’s risks and uncertainties, including its risk management strategy, and 

its opportunities. 

15A. The categories of information are not listed in a specific order. They are, however, related and 

should not be presented in isolation. Perspectives should be provided on the business and its 

analysis of the interaction of the elements to help users to understand the entity’s financial 

statements and to understand the entity’s objectives and strategies for achieving those 

objectives. 
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76. Staff considers paragraph 17 of ED 47 can be deleted in light of the change proposed above. 

Paragraph 17 reads: 

 Although the specific information contained in an entity’s financial statement discussion and 

analysis will vary depending on the facts and circumstances specific to the entity, certain 

essential elements are important to all financial statement discussion and analysis, as discussed 

below. 

77. Respondent #33 commented that each criterion in paragraph 15 should be expanded on in the 

guidance. Staff notes that paragraphs 1 – 32 contain the guidance the respondent is asking for. In 

addition, Sections B and C of the Implementation Guidance provide more focused guidance on the 

financial statement analysis in paragraph 15 (c). Staff is proposing to delete Section B and to 

reposition relevant portions of Section C within the body of the document (see SMC 6). 

Overview of the Entity  

78. Respondent #9 suggested the following be added in the overview section of FSDA: An overview of 

the entity’s structure, the organizational scope of the Accounting Officer’s responsibilities, the 

geographic location of significant offices and service delivery points, and staffing levels in significant 

branches. Respondent #30 suggests the Overview is optional. An overview is consistent with 

paragraph 24 of the IFRS Practice Statement which refers to ‘nature of the business’. Staff 

proposes an amendment in the lead-in to paragraph 18 to make this link explicit. 

79. Staff agrees with the proposed changes except for the entity’s structure, which staff considers is 

included in paragraph 18(a) and the organizational scope of the Accounting Officer’s responsibilities 

as it is included in paragraph 18 (b),  and suggests the following amendments to paragraph 18 of 

ED 47: 

Overview of the Entity 

18.  An overview of the entity helps users to understand the nature of the entity and how the 

environment in which it operates affect an entity’s financial statements. This information is the 

starting point in assisting users’ understanding of an entity’s financial statements. Information 

provided about an entity’s operations in financial statement discussion and analysis may 

include current information, and significant changes from the prior year, about: 

(a)  The entity’s mission and vision; 

(b)  The entity’s governance (e.g., legislative or regulatory structure, management structure, and 

staffing) 

(c) The entity’s geographic organization (e.g., locations and service delivery areas); 

(dc)  The entity’s relationships with other entities (e.g., funding arrangements); 

(ed)  External trends, events and developments in the legal, regulatory, social, political, and 

macro-economic environment specific to the entity, which have or may have a material impact 

on the entity’s financial position and financial performance (e.g., the impact of a regional or 

international financial crisis on employment, the tax base, or interest rates in the jurisdiction); 

and 

(fe)  The entity’s main operations, including service delivery methods (e.g., outsourcing, service 

concession arrangements) and significant changes in them.  
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Further Changes 

80. Overall, staff notes that this section will require a redraft to remove all references to ‘requirements’ 

similar to the proposed changes to paragraph 15 below if the IPSASB agrees with the staff proposal 

to issue the guidance as a RPG.  

81. A number of other specific examples for change (see Other Comments) were also provided by 

respondents. Those individual comments are not analyzed, but will be considered by staff when 

redrafting the document and presented for the IPSASB’s consideration in December 2012.  

FSDA Measures that are not Required by IPSASs 

82. Respondent #14 suggested amending paragraph 22 to require reconciliation of measures that are 

not required or defined by IPSASs to the financial statements. Respondent #16 indicated ED 47 

doesn’t address the issue of ‘non-GAAP’ information. Respondent #17 (under 

Compliance/assurance) suggests the guidance should require an entity to identify any non-IPSAS 

compliant information that is included in the FSDA. Staff disagrees with the need to change 

paragraph 22, and notes that paragraph 40 of the IFRS Practice Statement contains the following 

wording on which paragraph 22 was based. That wording does address the case when measures 

are not required or defined in IPSASs: 

40  If information from the financial statements has been adjusted for inclusion in management 

commentary, that fact should be disclosed. If financial performance measures that are not 

required or defined by IFRSs are included within management commentary, those measures 

should be defined and explained, including an explanation of the relevance of the measure to 

users. When financial performance measures are derived or drawn from the financial 

statements, those measures should be reconciled to measures presented in the financial 

statements that have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs. 

83. Staff notes that the first sentence of paragraph 40 of the IFRS Practice Statement has not been 

included in paragraph 22 of ED 47 and proposes adding it. The suggested wording change to 

paragraph 22 is as follows: 

22. If information from the financial statements has been adjusted for inclusion in management 

commentary, that fact should be disclosed. If financial performance measures that are not 

required or defined by IPSASs are included within financial statement discussion and analysis, 

those measures should be defined and explained, including an explanation of the relevance of 

the measure to users. When financial performance measures are derived or drawn from the 

financial statements, those measures should be reconciled to measures presented in the financial 

statements that have been prepared in accordance with IPSASs. In addition, narrative 

explanations of such illustrations should be provided if necessary to accurately and completely 

present the information. 

Placement of Disclosure within Financial Reports  

84. Staff notes that the IFRS Practice Statement contains its rationale for disclosures that may be 

included in financial statements or financial statement discussion and analysis. Staff considers that 

guidance is necessary in light of respondent’s comments under various SMCs that it is not clear what 

should be disclosed in the notes and in other reports such as LTFS and SPR. 

85. The relevant text is included in Appendix 2. 
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Interaction with IPSAS 24 

86. Four respondents (#27, 29, 33, and 34) commented on how the requirements in ED 47.26 would 

affect entities whose budgets are not made publicly available. Respondent #28 also commented on 

this issue under SMC 3 and respondents #13, 20, and 34 under SMC 5. This requirement will, 

however, contradict the exemption provided in IPSAS 24 as paragraph .26 does not seem to 

consider the impact on entities whose budgets are not made publically available. If the requirement 

in paragraph .25 is retained, it would mean that entities would now have to disclose a comparison 

between actual and budget information to ensure compliance with the requirements of this 

paragraph, irrespective of the exemption allowed in IPSAS 24.  

87. The respondents propose that the requirement in paragraph .26(a) be amended to clarify that the 

disclosure of such information in financial statement discussion and analysis is encouraged to the 

extent that the exemption in IPSAS 24 is not applicable. 

88. Proposed amendments to paragraphs 25 and 26 of ED 47 are as follows: 

25. Identification of the main events, trends, and factors influencing the current reporting period may 

provide information about the entity’s intended actions in relation to such events, trends, and 

factors because the party responsible for the preparation of the entity’s financial statement 

discussion and analysis possesses informed expectations regarding the entity’s future operations 

based on its detailed knowledge of the entity’s current operations. 

26. To the extent such information is not included in the financial statements and the exemption in 

paragraph 14 of IPSAS 24, Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements is not 

applicable, financial statement discussion and analysis should include information about 

significant positive and negative variances between: 

(a)  Actual results and the budget; and 

(b) The prior year and current year financial statements, by explaining significant changes and 

highlighting trends. 

Entities that do not make their approved budget publicly available are encouraged to include this 

information in their financial statement discussion and analysis. 

Key Characteristics 

89. Respondent #21 suggested the consequences from the IPSAS CP, Key Characteristics of the 

Public Sector with Potential Implications for Financial Reporting should be included to avoid 

confusion regarding the actual-to-budget comparison. 

90. Relevant text from that CP is in paragraph 3.2:  

“Because of the budget’s significance, information that helps users assess actual spending against 

budget estimates and the resulting budgetary surplus or deficit for the reporting period, compared 

with that budgeted, is important in determining how well a public sector entity has met its financial 

objectives. Comparison of actual results to the budget therefore provides information about one 

aspect of financial performance and is important accountability information for users of public sector 

financial reports. Therefore, the importance of the budget needs to be borne in mind in assessing 

the needs of the users of financial reports and in determining the scope of financial reporting. 

91. Staff does not consider this material to be necessary in the FSDA guidance. This is a change that 

the IPSASB may consider making to IPSAS 24 when the Key Characteristics document is finalized. 

Organization of FSDA Content 

92. Respondent #14 suggested additional detail be provided about how to organize the FSDA (e.g., 

use of headings). Staff does not agree with providing this level of detailed guidance, which would 
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be contrary to the objective of allowing each entity to develop FSDA that is most relevant to its own 

circumstances.  

 

Matter(s) for Consideration 

15. Does the IPSASB agree that it is not necessary to replace the required content element in 

paragraph 15 of ED 47? 

16. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed changes to paragraph 15? 

17. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed new paragraph 15A? 

18. Does the IPSASB agree with deletion of paragraph 17? 

19. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed changes to paragraph 18? 

20. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed changes to paragraph 22? 

21. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed changes to paragraphs 25 and 26? 
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SMC 5: Transitional Provisions 

93. Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 5 asked the following question: 

 “Do you agree with the transitional provisions?”  

92. All 37 respondents replied to this SMC.   

93. Table 5 below summarizes the overall views of the responses to SMC 5. 

Table 5: Overview of Responses to SMC 5 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 

15, 18, 19, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 

29, 30, 31, 33, 36 

25 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to IPSASB decision on SMC 1) 16, 17, 20, 21, 22, 35, 37 7 

C – DISAGREE 3, 4, 13, 32, 34 5 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED ― 0 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

94. A strong majority of respondents supported the transitional provisions (Category A). In addition, 

seven respondents (Category B) agreed with the transitional provisions if the material is issued as 

an IPSAS.  

95. Respondents #17 and 21 note that such requirements are not required if the IPSASB issues a RPG 

rather than an IPSAS as proposed in ED 47.  

96. Two respondents (#14 and 16) commented on the relationship of the transitional provisions on the 

IPSASB’s project on first-time adoption. If the IPSASB decides to issue an IPSAS their comments 

will be considered with in relation to that IPSASB project. 

97. Three respondents (#13, 20, 34) commented on the actual-to-budget (IPSAS 24) issue which was 

analyzed under SMC 4 under ‘Placement of Disclosure within Financial Reports’. 

98. Staff has proposed that the material be issued as a RPG rather than as an IPSAS (see SMC 1). 

Staff notes that ED 46, which proposes a RPG does not contain transitional provisions, and 

accordingly staff recommends deletion of this section of ED 47. 

 

Matter(s) for Consideration 

22. Does the IPSASB agree that the Transitional Provisions should be deleted because they are not 

needed in a RPG? 
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SMC 6: Implementation Guidance 

Broad Agreement with SMC 6 

101. Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 6 asked the following question: 

“Is the Implementation Guidance useful to understanding the requirements of the proposed 

IPSAS?”  

100. All 37 respondents replied to this SMC.   

101. Table 6 below summarizes the overall views of the responses to SMC 6. 

Table 6: Overview of Responses to SMC 6 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 2, 4, 6, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 15, 16, 

18, 20, 23, 24, 31, 32, 33, 34, 36 

19 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to specific suggestions for 

improvement) 

1, 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 17, 19, 22, 25, 

27, 28, 29, 30, 35, 37 

16 

C – DISAGREE 21 1 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 26 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

102. Overall there was support for the Implementation Guidance (IG) in ED 47 (categories A and B). 

However, almost half of those respondents that indicated support also made suggestions for 

improving the guidance (Category B). 

Should the Implementation Guidance be Retained? 

103. Respondent #21 suggested Appendix B of ED 47 could be deleted in its entirety. Staff notes that 

the IFRS Practice Statement does not contain guidance at the level of specificity of ED 47, 

Appendix B. In addition, ED 46 does not contain such guidance for LTFS.  

104. Staff considers that the much of the material in the Implementation Guidance is not required, for the 

reasons noted by the IASB above. In particular, Section B is not needed because the specific items 

to be included in the FSDA are noted in the proposed revised definition (see ‘Other Key Issue – 

Definition of FSDA’).  Staff proposes that the guidance in Section C can be incorporated in the body 

of the proposed RPG.  

105. Staff notes the reasons of the IASB for not including guidance or examples, set out in the BC for the 

Practice Statement: 

BC41 In developing the exposure draft, the Board considered the view that detailed 

application guidance or illustrative examples are necessary to put into operation the 

guidance around forward-looking information included in the Practice Statement. 

However, the Board decided not to include such detailed guidance because there is a 
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risk that undue emphasis could be placed on the application guidance or illustrative 

examples. Furthermore, the Board observed that such guidance or examples could be 

misinterpreted and thus reduce the flexibility in applying the framework. Many 

respondents to the exposure draft supported the Board’s decision not to include 

detailed application guidance or illustrative examples.  

106. Staff proposes to add the rationale in the IFRS Practice Statement Basis for Conclusions above to 

the BC in the proposed RPG. See Appendix 1 for proposed wording.  

107. Staff will consider the specific changes suggested by respondents in redrafting ED 47. 

108. The main comment areas they noted are set out below.  

Section A – Qualitative Characteristics  

111. Respondent #3 suggests Appendix A of ED 47 dealing with the QCs could be deleted because they 

are in the Conceptual Framework (CF). Staff notes the IPSASB had used the existing QCs in 

IPSAS 1 pending finalization of the CF.  

112. Respondent #14 (under SMC 4) and respondent #27 suggested the QCs in Section A of the IG  

should be moved to the body of the document because of their significance and that additional 

guidance should be provided on the QCs if the material is issued as a RPG.   

113. Respondent #27 noted a discrepancy between paragraphs A.IG5 and A.IG6, which read as follows: 

A.IG5. The matters that are relevant to an entity are also specific to that entity. Financial statement 

discussion and analysis reflects detailed knowledge of the items, transactions, and events 

presented in the entity’s financial statements and of the policies that govern the entity’s 

operations. This means that financial statement discussion and analysis may not include 

some matters that are material to the components of the financial statements set out in 

IPSAS 1, or it may include some matters that are not material to the financial statements. 

A.IG6. Financial statement discussion and analysis needs to be clear and concise to be useful, 

therefore the most important, or material, matters must be selected to be included, 

descriptions should be non-technical, and an appropriate but not excessive level of detail 

should be provided. Inclusion of information about immaterial items could make the more 

important information difficult to find. 

114. The intent of the last sentence in paragraph A.IG5 is to address the matter referred to in paragraph 

C.IG5. Staff proposes to delete it as it is explained in C.IG5. The proposed addition of guidance 

highlighting the preparer’s judgment in preparing FSDA will allow for the case when an item is 

material to the financial statements but not included in the FSDA. 

115. Respondent #28 thought some of the QCs in IPSAS 1 were not addressed. Staff considers this an 

issue with the headings that were in place for IPSAS 1 which were confusing. The lead-in to IPSAS 

1. The four QCs are identified in the introduction to Appendix A of IPSAS 1 which states: “The four 

principal qualitative characteristics are understandability, relevance, reliability, and comparability.” 

These are the QCs identified in paragraphA.IG1. Staff does not propose a change. 

116. Respondent #29 suggested that ‘timeliness’ be added as a QC. Timeliness is a constraint listed in 

IPSAS 1, and would be addressed by the fact that FSDA is intended to be issued with the entity’s 

financial statements. See SMC 1 for additions to the Status and Scope section to clarify this matter. 
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117. Staff considers the QCs are an underpinning of the guidance, and not its focus. They are therefore 

best presented in implementation guidance. Staff does not propose to move the guidance on the 

QCs or to delete it. Staff notes, however, that if the IPSASB approves Phase 1 of the CF, the 

guidance would need to be revised to be consistent with the QCs in the CF. 

Section B – Information about Property, Plant, and Equipment (PP&E) 

116. Three respondents (#11, 17, and 21) commented particularly on the guidance on PP&E in Section 

B of the IG. 

117. They noted that the guidance was too detailed for the FSDA guidance, and some of the information 

noted may require specialized valuations. Respondent #37 (see Other Comments section of AP 

6.2) commented that it could be the subject of separate guidance on asset condition). Staff notes 

that if the guidance on PP&E is deleted from Section B of the IG, the IG would not be complete in 

terms of the main financial statement items.  

118. Staff notes that if the IPSASB decides to retain Section B of the IG, the proposal to issue the 

material as a RPG rather than an IPSAS, along with the proposed changes to the introductory 

wording of IG section B, would reinforce that the information in the IG is not mandatory (the IG 

wording in ED 47 specifies that FSDA may include the information specified).  

119. Staff therefore recommends deleting IG section B.  

120. If the IPSASB decides that Section B of the IG should be retained, staff proposes to amend the 

lead-in to Section B of the IG to indicate that (1) information is not required if it is already presented 

in the financial statements, and (2) it is up to the preparer of FSDA to tailor the information 

presented to the needs of users of the entity’s financial statements to reinforce that the information 

in the IG is not mandatory. Proposed wording is as follows: 

This Implementation Guidance includes guidance on how an entity may prepare and present 

financial statement discussion and analysis that includes information about all significant items, 

transactions, and events presented in the financial statements that are most relevant to enhancing 

users’ understanding of the financial statements. The information is not required to be included in 

financial statement discussion and analysis if it is included in the financial statements. It is up to the 

preparer of the financial statement discussion and analysis to tailor the information presented to the 

needs of users of the entity’s financial statements. 

 

Matter(s) for Consideration 

23. Does the IPSASB agree that only Section A of the Implementation Guidance (on the QCs) should 

be retained (i.e., delete Section B and incorporate the guidance in Section C in the body of the 

RPG)? 

24. Does the IPSASB agree that relevant guidance on analysis of variances and trends can be 

incorporated in the body of the document? 

25. Does the IPSASB agree with the rationale for the change from ED 47 in the Basis for 

Conclusions? 

26. Does the IPSASB agree the last sentence of paragraph A.IG5 should be deleted? 

27. If Section B of the Implementation Guidance is retained, do you agree with the proposed 

additional wording in the lead-in? 



Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis – Analysis of Comments  

IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) 

Agenda Item 6.1 

Page 27 of 40 

SMC 7: Illustrative Example 

123. Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 7 asked the following question: 

“Is the Illustrative Example a useful way of illustrating the requirements of the proposed 

IPSAS”  

122. All 37 respondents replied to this SMC.   

123. Table 7 below summarizes the overall views of the responses to SMC 7. 

Table 6: Overview of Responses to SMC 6 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 14, 18, 20, 24, 

25, 26, 27, 30, 36 

16 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to specific suggestions for 

improvement/need for another example dealing with a 

smaller entity) 

1, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 19, 22, 23, 

28, 32, 33, 34, 35 

14 

C – DISAGREE 3, 21, 31, 37 4 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 4, 11, 29 3 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS TOTAL 37 

124. A majority of respondents (Category A and Category B) supported the Illustrative Example in ED 

47. Of those, almost half also suggested changes to the example provided, mainly to suggest an 

example be developed for an entity that is not a national government. 

125. Staff has recommended (see SMC 1) that the material be further developed as a RPG, rather than 

as an IPSAS as proposed in ED 47.  

126. Staff notes that (1) ED 46 does not contain an example to illustrate how the LTFS information might 

be presented, (2) although ED 47 does provide guidance to allow for the guidance to be adapted to 

various entities, there is always a possibility that an illustrative example would be used as a 

template; development of another example for a smaller entity (‘differential reporting’ or 

‘proportionate application) would not alleviate this concern and may exacerbate it, and (3) the IFRS 

Practice Statement encourages tailoring the guidance to an entity’s specific circumstances and 

does not contain an illustrative example. 

127. For consistency with other similar guidance, rather than develop a further example, or amend the 

example in ED 47, which would require staff and IPSASB time, the focus should be on the guidance 

in ED 47. Staff therefore recommends that the Illustrative Example be deleted. The reasons for 

doing so should be set out in the BC. See Appendix 1 for proposed wording. 
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Matter(s) for Consideration 

28. Does the IPSASB agree that the Illustrative Example should be deleted because it is not needed in 

a RPG? 

29. Does the IPSASB agree that a further Illustrative Example should not be developed? 
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Other Key Issue – Definition of FSDA 

128. Four respondents (#17, 22, 27, 33) commented on the definition of FSDA provided in paragraph 8 

of ED 47.  

129. Paragraph 8 reads as follows: 

8.  The following term is used in this Standard with the meaning specified: 

 Financial statement discussion and analysis is an explanation of the significant items, 

transactions, and events presented in an entity’s financial statements and the trends and 

factors that influenced them. 

 Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in 

those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms published 

separately. 

130. Respondent #17 suggested the definition was too narrow to apply to all the matters in the required 

content in paragraph 15 of ED 47.  

131. Respondents #22 and 33 indicated that the definition in the Document, which has similar objectives 

to those of the Management Discussion & Analysis (MD&A) reports issued in the private sector, is 

inappropriate because it does not adequately distinguish between the notes to the financial 

statements and FSDA (see also analysis under SMC 3). Staff considers that the proposed changes 

under Status and Scope (see SMC 1) and related changes to the BC (see Appendix 1) will 

appropriately distinguish the FSDA from the financial statements. 

132. Respondent #27 suggested adding ‘significant risks and uncertainties’ from paragraph 15, as well 

as deleting the reference to ‘significant’ on the basis that IPSASs already apply to significant items. 

Staff does not consider it necessary to refer to specific items of the proposed content of FSDA in 

the definition. Staff considers the changes proposed below to the FSDA definition address the 

respondent’s concerns. 

133. Staff also considers that the specific references to the financial statement items in the definition 

support the deletion of Section B of the Implementation Guidance (see SMC 6). 

134. In light of the proposal to include prospective information on a basis consistent with that in the IFRS 

Practice Statement, staff also considers it necessary to include a definition of prospective 

information based on the definition of forward-looking information in the Practice Statement. See 

Appendix 2 for the wording of the definition in the IFRS Practice Statement. 

135. The proposed revised Definitions section is as follows: 

The following terms is usedare defined in this Standard with the meaning specifiedRPG: 

Financial statement discussion and analysis is anconsists of historical narrative 

explanations and quantitative analysis of the significant items, transactions, and 

eventsitems presented in an entity’s financial statements that have been prepared in 

accordance with IPSASs, specifically the entity’s financial position, financial performance, 

and cash flows. and the trends and factors that influenced them. It also provides 

commentary on an entity’s prospects and other information not presented in the financial 

statements. Management commentary also serves as a basis for understanding 

management’s objectives and its strategies for achieving those objectives. 
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Prospective information is information about the future. It includes information about the 

future (for example, information about prospects and plans) that may later be presented as 

historical information (i.e., results). It is subjective and its preparation requires the exercise 

of professional judgment. 

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those 

Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms published separately. 

 

Matter(s) for Consideration 

30. Does the IPSASB agree with the proposed changes to the definition of FSDA? 

31. Does the IPSASB agree with the addition of a definition of ‘prospective information’? 
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Appendix 1 – Proposed Changes to Basis for Conclusions  

Note that additional changes may be required to improve the overall flow of the BC. This is staff’s initial 

proposal regarding the parts of the BC that need to be changed as a result of changes proposed to address 

respondents’ comments. 

Introduction 

This Agenda Paper sets out the proposed amendments to the Basis for Conclusions identified by staff in 

the analyses in AP 6.1 and 6.3.  

Other changes may be required to address changes proposed in those agenda papers or agreed to by 

the IPSASB at this meeting. 

 
Basis for Conclusions 
 

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS RPG XX (ED 47). 

Status and Scope and Authority 

BC1.  The IPSASB approved a project in March 2008 to address “narrative reporting”. In developing this 

Standard, the IPSASB clarified that the scope of the project is to address only those reports that 

provide discussion and analysis specifically pertaining to an entity’s general purpose financial 

statements (“financial statements”) as set out in IPSAS 1, and not broader types of reports that 

may be considered general purpose financial reports as envisaged in the IPSASB’s Conceptual 

Framework. 

BC2.  In undertaking this project, the IPSASB considered, under its Criteria for Modifying IASB 

Documents, whether to develop guidance that was converged with Management Commentary, an 

IFRS Practice Statement. The IPSASB did not consider this approach to be appropriate because: 

(a)  The users identified in the Practice Statement are investors. IPSAS 1, Presentation of 

Financial Statements, identifies different users, which results in different information needs 

related to the financial statements. 

(b)  Additionally, in the private sector there may be a strong influence from the securities 

exchanges and their regulators which help ensure and reinforce the information needs of the 

investors. In the public sector there may not be a comparable regulator, which participates in 

the process of standardizing financial statement discussion and analysis for a jurisdiction, 

and therefore reliance on the private sector guidance may result in loss of accountability in 

the public sector. 

BC3.  BC9.  IPSAS 1 defines the scope of the financial statements. The IPSASB does not consider 

financial statement discussion and analysis to be part of the financial statements prepared in 

accordance with IPSASs despite its close link to the financial statements. The IPSASB did not, 

therefore, amend IPSAS 1 to include financial statement discussion and analysis as an integral 

part of the financial statements. Nevertheless, the IPSASB has clarified the close link between 

the financial statements and financial statement discussion and analysis.  

Financial statement discussion and analysis is intended to address similar matters to reports that may be 

termed “management discussion and analysis” and “management commentary” in various 

jurisdictions. However, the IPSASB did not consider those terms to accurately describe the nature 
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of the report in relation to the financial statements. The IPSASB decided it was important to link 

financial statement discussion and analysis to the financial statements because the financial 

statement discussion and analysis is intended to explain the financial statements, and not to 

stand alone. The IPSASB considers the term “financial statement discussion and analysis” clearly 

defines the scope of applicability of this Standard and its close linkage to the financial statements. 

BC4.  The IPSASB considered whether public sector entities that prepare and present financial 

statements in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS): 

(a)  Should be required to prepare financial statement discussion and analysis; and 

(b)  If so, whether financial statement discussion and analysis should be included as an integral 

part of the general purpose financial statements. 

BC5. The IPSASB considers that financial statement discussion and analysis provides additional 

information necessary to meet the objectives of financial statements. The IPSASBED 47 

concluded proposed that all entities that prepare and present their financial statements in 

accordance with IPSASs should be required to prepare financial statement discussion and 

analysis in accordance with this IPSAS, which has the same level of authority as accrual based 

IPSASs. 

BC6.  The IPSASB decided it was important to develop a standard that provided principles for financial 

statement discussion and analysis, while allowing reporting on specific information most relevant 

to an entity. Accordingly, this Standard has been developed from a principles based perspective 

that can be applied to all public sector entities. In addition, entities are encouraged to prepare 

financial statement discussion and analysis that meets their specific circumstances. 

BC7.  The IPSASB considered whether a requirement to issue financial statement discussion and 

analysis when an entity issues financial statements prepared in accordance with IPSASs would 

be an impediment to the adoption of IPSASs. The IPSASB considered that the users of financial 

statements in such jurisdictions may even have a greater need for the benefit of financial 

statement discussion and analysis to help explain the financial statements. 

BC8.  The IPSASB considers that in all cases, the benefits of providing financial statement discussion 

and analysis would outweigh the costs of preparing it, as the information used to prepare financial 

statement discussion and analysis is used in the preparation ofderived from the financial 

statement informations, and tailored towith additional perspectives on the information based on  

the specific circumstances of the entity. The IPSASB therefore concluded that financial statement 

discussion and analysis should be prepared by all entities that prepare their financial statements 

in accordance with IPSASs 

BCXX.  ED 47 proposed that an International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) is the 

appropriate type of pronouncement to apply to the financial statement discussion and analysis. 

While some respondents to ED 47 agreed with the proposal for a mandatory IPSAS, a majority of 

respondents to ED 47 argued that the material should not be issued as an IPSAS.  

BCXX.  The IPSASB therefore decided that the guidance on the content of financial statement discussion 

and analysis in the form of a non-binding Recommended Practice Guideline (RPG), rather than 

an IPSAS, because it believes it is up to individual jurisdictions to make their own judgments on: 
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(a)  Whether entities should be required to include financial statement discussion and analysis in 

addition to their IPSAS financial statements and whether inclusion is necessary to assert 

compliance with IPSASs; 

(b) The level of assurance to which financial statement discussion and analysis should be 

subjected; and 

(c)  The type of entity that should present financial statement discussion and analysis. 

Objective 

BC9.  IPSAS 1 defines the scope of the financial statements. The IPSASB does not consider financial 

statement discussion and analysis to be part of the financial statements prepared in accordance 

with IPSASs despite its close link to the financial statements. The IPSASB did not, therefore, 

amend IPSAS 1 to include financial statement discussion and analysis as an integral part of the 

financial statements. Nevertheless, the IPSASB has clarified the close link between the financial 

statements and financial statement discussion and analysis. 

BC10.  The IPSASB noted the concern that, if this Standard were an IPSAS, it could still be considered 

part of the financial statements and there could be confusion as to whether it would be subject to 

the same audit requirements as the financial statements. This could cause difficulties in some 

jurisdictions if the inclusion of financial statement discussion and analysis resulted in a qualified 

audit report on the financial statements. While the audit of financial statement discussion and 

analysis is desirable, the IPSASB considers that imposing an audit requirement on such 

information exceeds its mandate. However, it is noted that an audit of financial statements would 

not automatically require audited financial statement discussion and analysis. The term “financial 

statements” ordinarily refers to a complete set of financial statements as determined by the 

requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial reporting framework 

for public sector entities is described in IPSAS 1, and does not include financial statement 

discussion and analysis. 

BC11.  To date, IPSASs have addressed only matters that pertain to the content of the financial 

statements themselves. The IPSASB considered whether it would be appropriate to allow for a 

new type of pronouncement that had equivalent authoritative status to the IPSASs. The IPSASB 

is of the view that introducing a new type of pronouncement would be confusing to its 

constituents. Accordingly, the IPSASB has decided that an International Public Sector Accounting 

Standard (IPSAS) is the appropriate type of pronouncement to apply to the financial statement 

discussion and analysis., if this Standard were an IPSAS, it could still be considered part of the 

financial statements and there could be confusion as to whether it would be subject to the same 

audit requirements as the financial statements. This could cause difficulties in some jurisdictions if 

the inclusion of financial statement discussion and analysis resulted in a qualified audit report on 

the financial statements. While the audit of financial statement discussion and analysis is 

desirable, the IPSASB considers that imposing an audit requirement on such information exceeds 

its mandate.  

BCXX.  The RPG sets out a non-binding framework to guide the presentation of financial statement 

discussion and analysis. The IPSASB’s intention in issuing the RPG is to foster good practice in 

financial statement discussion and analysis reporting by permitting an entity to exercise discretion 

in tailoring its financial statement discussion and analysis to the entity’s particular circumstances. 
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BCXX.  Although the RPG is not an IPSAS and is not binding, the IPSASB believes the RPG will promote 

comparability across all entities that present financial statement discussion and analysis to 

accompany their IPSAS financial statements, thereby improving the usefulness of the financial 

reports to users. 

BC14  The IPSASB considered the view that a non-binding RPG would not result in improvements in 

financial reporting. However, the IPSASB decided that a RPG would provide useful guidance for 

entities, and its flexible application would benefit entities in jurisdictions that have local 

requirements or regulations. Furthermore, the IPSASB believes that a RPG might encourage 

entities that are not accustomed to presenting financial statement discussion and analysis to 

provide it for users. The existence of a RPG might also encourage jurisdictions to adopt it as their 

own. 

Identification of fFinancial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

BCXX.  The positioning of financial statement discussion and analysis relative to the financial statements 

varies among jurisdictions that require financial statement discussion and analysis. In some 

jurisdictions, financial statement discussion and analysis accompanies the annual financial 

statements in a printed report to shareholders. In others, financial statement discussion and 

analysis is contained within separate annual regulatory filings.  

BCXX. The IPSASB also decided to link financial statement discussion and analysis to the financial 

statements because financial statement discussion and analysis is designed to supplement and 

complement information provided in a related set of financial statements. The IPSASB observed 

that providing financial statement discussion and analysis without (at minimum) identifying the 

related financial statements might be misleading for users. Consequently, the IPSASB decided 

that when an entity presents financial statement discussion and analysis that relates to IPSAS 

financial statements, it should either make the financial statements available with the commentary 

or identify the financial statements to which the commentary relates. The IPSASB noted that 

because the RPG does not require entities to prepare financial statement discussion and 

analysis, IPSAS financial statements can be made available for use without a corresponding 

financial statement discussion and analysis. 

BCXX. In the IPSASB’s view, it is important for users of the financial reports to be able to distinguish 

information contained in the reports using the RPG from information that is prepared using 

IPSASs and from information that may be useful to users but is neither the subject of the RPG 

nor the requirements in IPSASs. While the IPSASB concluded that preparers should not be 

required to include a formal confirmation that they have complied with the RPG, because the 

Statement is not binding, it did agree that it would be helpful if preparers included in financial 

statement discussion and analysis an explanation of the extent to which the RPG has been 

followed. The IPSASB also concluded that it would be misleading if preparers were to assert 

compliance with the RPG if they did not comply with the RPG in its entirety.  

Qualitative Characteristics 

BC12.  The IPSASB also concluded that the information in financial statement discussion and analysis 

should possess the qualitative characteristics and constraints in IPSAS 1. Accordingly, IPSAS 

RPG  XX (ED 47) contains requirements that financial statement discussion and analysis contain 

information that is consistent with those qualitative characteristics.  
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Structure and Content of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

BC13.  Paragraph 21 of IPSAS 1 states that a complete set of financial statements comprises: 

(a)  A statement of financial position; 

(b)  A statement of financial performance; 

(c)  A statement of changes in net assets/equity; 

(d)  A cash flow statement; 

(e)  When the entity makes publicly available its approved budget, a comparison of budget and 

actual amounts either as a separate additional financial statement or as a budget column in 

the financial statements; and 

(f)  Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

The IPSASB noted that in some of the minimum required content in paragraph 15 of IPSAS XX 

(ED 47) may also be required under other IPSASs for financial statements. IPSAS XX (ED 47) 

therefore requires financial statement discussion and analysis include significant items, 

transactions, and events that are presented in an entity’s financial statements to the extent it does 

not replicate information in the financial statements. 

BC14.  The IPSASB noted that the content and format of presentation of financial statement discussion 

and analysis should be determined by the entity, in a way that best reflects its circumstances, 

noting that the specific information contained in an entity’s financial statement discussion and 

analysis will vary depending on the facts and circumstances specific to the entity. The IPSASB 

wishes to avoid a checklist approach that may result in an entity reporting less relevant 

information. Accordingly, some flexibility is provided in the content and format However, the 

Standard contains certain essential required content that is important to al financial statement 

discussion and analysis. 

BC15.  In determining the matters that should be required in financial statement discussion an analysis, 

the IPSASB reviewed and compared existing national standards, guidance, an regulatory 

requirements for financial statement discussion and analysis (or its equivalent) in the public 

sector. The existing approaches, identified in conducting the research, were use to help form the 

basis for the required content of financial statement discussion and analysis. 

BC16.  In some cases, such as IPSAS 24, Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements , 

an IPSAS permits certain information to be included in separate reports (e.g., financial statement 

discussion and analysis) rather than in the financial statements. The IPSASB did not consider it 

necessary to duplicate the financial statement disclosure in the financial statement discussion 

and analysis and has accordingly provided guidance to that effect. 

Forward-LookingProspective Information 

BC17.  ED $7 This Standard doesdid not require the entity to disclose forward-looking information, such 

as forecasts or projections. Some respondents to ED were concerned about the perceived focus 

on prospective information in ED 47, while others expressed the view that it should be required. 

However, the IPSASB decided that forward-looking information is important. In light of the 

IPSASB’s decision to issue this guidance as a Recommended Practice Guideline, the IPSASB 
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decided it would be appropriate to include clear guidance that recommended practice for financial 

statement discussion and analysis would include forward-looking information.  

BCXX. The IPSASB observed that in some jurisdictions, requirements relating to financial statement 

discussion and analysis focus on information that helps users of the financial reports to assess 

the entity’s prospects. Explanations of management’s perspective of the entity’s direction, targets 

and prospects, in addition to explanations of past events, can help users of the financial reports to 

develop expectations about the entity from its past performance and current state. Furthermore, 

the IPSASB observed that the Recommended Practice Guideline allows flexibility in determining 

to what extent financial statement discussion and analysis includes forward-looking information. 

In particular, the IPSASB observed that the Recommended Practice Guideline clearly indicates 

that the extent of forward-looking information will be influenced by the regulatory and legal 

environment within which the entity operates. Moreover, although disclosure of forward-looking 

information is encouraged in many jurisdictions, this does not necessarily mean providing 

forecasts or projections.  

BCXX.  The IPSASB considered the view that forward-looking information might present an over-

optimistic picture of the entity. However, the IPSASB observes that forward-looking information 

must possess the qualitative characteristics, including faithful representation, and thus must be 

neutral. Furthermore, underlying assumptions used in providing the forward-looking information 

must be disclosed, thus enabling users to evaluate the reasonableness of the assumptions. 

BCXX.  An example of what the IPSASB envisages as forward-looking information that does not include 

forecasts or projections is the commentary that could be provided for a defined benefit pension 

plan that has a deficit (described in paragraph BC34). In that example, management could 

provide forward-looking information by explaining management’s objectives and strategies for 

remedying the plan deficit. These strategies might include a planned future increase in 

contributions, changes in investment strategy or changes to the plan. Management could also 

provide an explanation of how general market trends or other risks might affect the deficit and the 

strategies of management for remedying the deficit. This disclosure could include some 

quantitative information, but it is not necessarily a forecast or a projection. 

Implementation Guidance and Illustrative Example 

BCXX. In developing ED 47, the IPSASB, the IPSASB decided it was necessary to include 

Implementation Guidance and an Illustrative Example to support the required content of financial 

statement discussion and analysis, which it proposed as mandatory for all entities that prepared 

IPSAS accrual basis financial statements.  

BCXX. The guidance on financial statement discussion and analysis in this RPG is not mandatory, and 

accordingly, the IPSASB considered the view that detailed application guidance or illustrative 

examples are necessary to put into operation the guidance on financial statement discussion and 

analysis. The IPSASB decided not to include such detailed guidance in the RPG because there is 

a risk that undue emphasis could be placed on the application guidance or illustrative examples. 

Furthermore, the IPSASB observed that such guidance or examples could be misinterpreted and 

thus reduce the flexibility in applying the framework. Many respondents to the exposure draft 

supported the IPSASB’s decision not to include detailed implementation guidance on the content 

of financial statement discussion and analysis or illustrative examples. 
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BCXX. The IPSASB decided to retain the implementation guidance on “Qualitative Characteristics of 

General Purpose Financial Reports―Applicability to Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis” because this information provides a context for deciding what information an entity 

should include in its financial statement discussion and analysis.  

 

 However, the IPSASB noted that information in financial statements also has predictive ability 

about the entity’s operations, and that financial statement discussion and analysis could enhance 

that ability. For example, information about an entity’s risk management policies, and trend 

analyses of significant financial statement items, may assist users in assessing the extent to 

which resources will be available to support future service delivery objectives and the amounts 

and timing of future cash flows necessary to service and repay existing claims to the entity’s 

resources. The IPSASB has thus provide guidance on how such information could be included in 

financial statement discussion and analysis. 

Transitional Provisions 

BC18. The IPSASB determined that a transitional provision was required to address the case when an 

entity has used the exemption under IPSAS 1 to not include comparative information in respect of 

the financial statements to which accrual accounting is first adopted in accordance with IPSASs. 

This Standard states that comparative information should be included I financial statement 

discussion and analysis when it is relevant to an understanding of the current period’s financial 

statements. However, where an entity has applied the transitional provision in IPSAS 1 it is 

unlikely to have comparative information and thus it would not be possible to provide such 

comparative information. 
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Appendix 2 – Excerpts from IFRS Practice Statement  

Management Commentary Definition 
 

management 

commentary 

 

A narrative report that relates to financial statements that have been 

prepared in accordance with IFRSs. Management commentary provides 

users with historical explanations of the amounts presented in the 

financial statements, specifically the entity’s financial position, financial 

performance and cash flows. It also provides commentary on an entity’s 

prospects and other information not presented in the financial 

statements. Management commentary also serves as a basis for 

understanding management’s objectives and its strategies for achieving 

those objectives. 

Forward-looking Information 

13 In aligning with those principles, management commentary should include: 

(a)  forward-looking information; and 

(b)  information that possesses the qualitative characteristics described in the Conceptual 

Framework for Financial Reporting. 

Forward-looking information 

17      Management commentary should communicate management’s perspective of the entity’s direction. 

Such information does not predict the future, but instead sets out management’s objectives for the 

entity and its strategies for achieving those objectives. The extent to which management 

commentary looks forward will be influenced by the regulatory and legal environment within which 

the entity operates. 

18  Management should include forward-looking information when it is aware of trends, uncertainties or 

other factors that could affect the entity’s liquidity, capital resources, revenues and the results of its 

operations. Such information should focus on the extent to which the entity’s financial position, 

liquidity and performance may change in the future and why, and include management’s 

assessment of the entity’s prospects in the light of current period results. Management should 

provide forward-looking information through narrative explanations or through quantified data, 

which may—but are not required to—include projections or forecasts. Management should disclose 

the assumptions used in providing forward-looking information. 

19  Management should explain how and why the performance of the entity is short of, meets or 

exceeds forward-looking disclosures made in the prior period management commentary. For 

example, if management stated targets for future performance in previous reporting periods, it 

should report the entity’s actual performance in the current reporting period and analyse and 

explain significant variances from its previously stated targets as well as the implications of those 

variances for management’s expectations for the entity’s future performance. 
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Defined Terms 

forward-looking 

information 

 

Information about the future. It includes information about the future (for 

example, information about prospects and plans) that may later be 

presented as historical information (ie results). It is subjective and its 

preparation requires the exercise of professional judgement. 

 

BC27 The content of management commentary is not necessarily bound to the reporting period described 

by the financial statements to which it relates. Some information within management commentary 

looks to the future. The Board concluded that the inclusion of forward-looking information within 

management commentary helps users of the financial reports assess whether past performance is 

indicative of future performance and whether the progress of the entity is in line with management’s 

stated objectives. 

Forward-looking information 

BC35 The Board observed that in many jurisdictions, requirements relating to management commentary 

focus on information that helps users of the financial reports to assess the entity’s prospects. These 

requirements have their roots in regulation, specifically in the MD&A requirements of the SEC. The 

third of the SEC objectives for MD&A reporting is: … to provide information about the quality of, and 

potential variability of, a company’s earnings and cash flow, so that investors can ascertain the 

likelihood that past performance is indicative of future performance. [SEC, Regulation S-K, Item 

303] 

BC36 This US regulatory requirement for the inclusion of information that helps investors assess 

prospects is found in both Canadian securities regulations and the European Modernisation 

Directive. The Directive has in turn been transposed into legislation in EU Member States. 

BC37 The Board agreed with the inclusion of forward-looking information in management commentary for 

the reasons specified in the SEC MD&A requirements. 

BC38 Many respondents to the exposure draft were concerned about the focus on forward-looking 

information. However, the Board decided that forward-looking information is important. 

Explanations of management’s perspective of the entity’s direction, targets and prospects, in 

addition to explanations of past events, can help users of the financial reports to develop 

expectations about the entity from its past performance and current state. Furthermore, the Board 

observed that the Practice Statement allows flexibility for management in determining to what 

extent management commentary includes forward-looking information. In particular, the Board 

observed that the Practice Statement clearly indicates that the extent of forward-looking information 

will be influenced by the regulatory and legal environment within which the entity operates. 

Moreover, although disclosure of forward-looking information is encouraged in many jurisdictions, 

this does not necessarily mean providing forecasts or projections. The Board notes that in some 

jurisdictions there are safe harbour provisions to restrict liability claims or regulatory provisions, or 

both, for forward-looking information. However, those safe harbour provisions require cautionary 

statements to be included with the forward-looking information. 

BC39 The Board considered the view that forward-looking information might present an over-optimistic 

picture of the entity. However, the Board observes that forward-looking information must possess 

the qualitative characteristics, including faithful representation, and thus must be neutral. 
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Furthermore, management must disclose its assumptions used in providing the forward-looking 

information, thus enabling users to evaluate the reasonableness of the assumptions. 

BC40 An example of what the Board envisages as forward-looking information that does not include 

forecasts or projections is again the commentary that could be provided for a defined benefit 

pension plan that has a deficit (described in paragraph BC34). In that example, management could 

provide forward-looking information by explaining management’s objectives and strategies for 

remedying the plan deficit. These strategies might include a planned future increase in 

contributions, changes in investment strategy or changes to the plan. Management could also 

provide an explanation of how general market trends or other risks might affect the deficit and the 

strategies of management for remedying the deficit. This disclosure could include some quantitative 

information, but it is not necessarily a forecast or a projection. 

BC41 In developing the exposure draft, the Board considered the view that detailed application guidance 

or illustrative examples are necessary to put into operation the guidance around forward-looking 

information included in the Practice Statement. However, the Board decided not to include such 

detailed guidance because there is a risk that undue emphasis could be placed on the application 

guidance or illustrative examples. Furthermore, the Board observed that such guidance or 

examples could be misinterpreted and thus reduce the flexibility in applying the framework. Many 

respondents to the exposure draft supported the Board’s decision not to include detailed application 

guidance or illustrative examples. 

Placement of disclosure within the financial reports 

BC50 The Board noted that neither IFRSs nor the Conceptual Framework include principles to guide the 

Board’s approach for establishing disclosure requirements. Thus, it is not always clear whether 

information belongs in the notes to the financial statements or in management commentary. 

BC51 In December 2007 the Board decided to defer its work on a framework for disclosure and instead 

wait for the phase Boundaries of financial reporting, and presentation and disclosure (phase E) of 

the conceptual framework project. The Board noted that phase E includes the development of 

disclosure principles. Consequently, the Board views phase E of the conceptual framework as the 

appropriate project to resolve questions about the placement of disclosures in the financial reports. 

BC52 The Board acknowledges that until phase E is completed, overlap will exist between the type of 

information that is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements and the type of information that 

is disclosed in management commentary. In the light of this overlap, the Board decided that it was 

important to establish management commentary as a disclosure tool, before resolving questions of 

placement. 

BC53 The Board acknowledges that some entities already present management commentary and it has 

addressed this overlap in one area, which is the risk disclosures required by IFRS 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures. IFRS 7 permits management to provide required risk disclosures either in 

the financial statements or in management commentary, if the disclosure in management 

commentary is cross-referenced in the financial statements and management commentary is 

provided at the same time and under the same terms as the financial statements. However, IFRS 7 

and the Practice Statement do not address auditing matters related to the location of those 

disclosures. 
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List of Respondents: 

Response 

# 
Respondent Name Country Function 

001 Swedish National Financial Management Authority (ESV) Sweden Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

002 Swedish National Audit Office Sweden Audit Office 

003 Swiss Public Sector Financial Reporting Advisory Committee (SRS-CSPCP) Switzerland Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

004 Conseil de Normalisation des Comptes Publics (CNOCP) France  Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

005 Eumetsat International Preparer 

006 Instituut van de Bedrifsrevisoren Institut des Reviseurs d’Entreprises (IBR-IRE) Belgium Member or Regional Body 

007 Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB, from staff) Canada  Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

008 Zambia Institute of Chartered Accountants Zambia  Member or Regional Body 

009 The International on Governmental Financial Management (ICGFM) International Other 

010 Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) International Member or Regional Body 

011 Australasian Council of Auditors-General (ACAG)  Australia Audit Office 

012 National Audit Office Malta Malta Audit Office 

013 
Committee on Accounting for Public Benefit Entities (CAPE)  of the Accounting 

Standards Board   
UK Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

014 Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) Germany Member or Regional Body 

015 
Financial Management Standards Board (FMSB) of the Association of Government 

Accountants (AGA) 
USA Other 

016 New Zealand Accounting Standards Board (XRB)  New Zealand Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

017 Heads of Treasuries Accounting and Reporting Advisory Committee (HoTARAC) Australia Preparer 

018 Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority (ADAA) 
United Arab 

Emirates 
International 
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Response 

# 
Respondent Name Country Function 

019 Department of Finance and Deregulation, Australian Government Australia  Preparer 

020 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) UK Member or Regional Body 

021 Cour des comptes France Audit Office 

022 Direction générale des finances publiques (DGFiP) France Preparer 

023 Felicitas T Irungu  Kenya Other 

024 Comptroller’s Division of Manitoba Canada  Preparer 

025 Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya (ICPAK) Kenya Member or Regional Body 

026 Joint Accounting Bodies Australia Member or Regional Body 

027 Accounting Standards Board  South Africa Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

028 Task Force on Accounting Standards, United Nations System International  Preparer 

029 The Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (JICPA) Japan Member or Regional Body 

030 Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat Canada Preparer 

031 Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (IRBA) South Africa  Audit Office 

032 Ministry of Finance of Ontario Canada  Preparer  

033 Ernst & Young International Accountancy Firm 

034 Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) Australia Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

035 
Department of Finance Office of the Comptroller General  

Provincial Government of Newfoundland and Labrador  
Canada Preparer 

036 Denise Silva Ferreira Juvenal Brazil Other 

037 Province of British Columbia Canada  Preparer  
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General Comments on the ED: 

R # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

001 Our conclusion is that the naming and scope of the Exposure draft must be widened or that it 

should be more clear from the text and the example that the kind of discussion and analysis that we 

recommend is to be included when relevant. 

Staff position: The IPSASB specifically narrowed 

the scope from “narrative reporting” which may 

be considered to include LTFS and SPR reports. 

Staff does not consider there is a need to 

change the name of the report in light of the 

IPSASB’s decisions on scope of the project. 

See specific comments on changes that will be 

made to clarify the relationship between FSDA 

and other types of GPFRs in SMC 4. 

003 The SRS-CSPCP is of the opinion that the proposed title Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis does not reflect the definition intended. However in Section 8 (page 7) there is a 

reference to explanation only. The title also does not reflect the proposed content of such a 

document. The proposed content is limited to a description. The expressions Discussion and 

Analysis awaken in the users expectations that cannot be fulfilled in such a document. The SRS-

CSPCP emphasises that the IFRS is also proposing to draw up such a narrative report. Here the 

document is called Management Commentary. 

The SRS-CSPCP therefore proposes changing the title Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis to Financial Statement Commentary, because it is rather a structured explanation of the 

Financial Statement than an analysis of ratios. The expression Commentary has the advantage 

that it is consistent with the IFRS. However, we believe that the expression Management should 

not be taken over from the IFRS, because it is sometimes accepted only reluctantly by the public 

sector. 

Below we will use the title Financial Statement Commentary and not Financial Statement 

Discussion and Analysis. 

In principle the SRS-CSPCP finds that it is useful to comment on the Financial Statement, because 

in this way it can be better understood by non-accountants 

Respondent supports need for the project. 

Staff position: Staff disagrees that the ED does 

not relate to “discussion and analysis” and does 

not propose to change the title of the proposed 

standard. 
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R # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

004 To begin with, the CNOCP wishes to stress the relevance of the question raised by the IPSAS 

Board in this exposure draft, namely that of a report on financial statements. Indeed, the CNOCP 

believes that a Presentation Report on Financial Statements is needed to make statements easier 

to understand.   

However, the CNOCP considers that such a report is not a matter for an IPSAS firstly because this 

issue falls outside the scope of accounting standard-setting and secondly since a Presentation 

Report on Financial Statements is not conducive to standardisation. 

The CNOCP would like to stress the following points: 

- The importance of the budget for the public sector has consequences for reports on 

financial statements. While in the private sector, the “management discussion and 

analysis” provides information on internal and external growth and development prospects, 

which are reported to shareholders at the annual general meeting, in the public sector, 

forward-looking elements are discussed when the budget is being adopted. Accordingly, in 

the public sector, a Presentation Report on Financial Statements must be more tightly 

focused on the analysis of financial statements than in the private sector, since earlier 

budget discussions have dealt with the analysis of financial sustainability and the 

performance of public policies. This theme was, moreover, addressed during the debate 

on sustainability. 

- Any provisions relating to the Presentation Report on Financial Statements fall outside the 

scope of accounting standard-setting. The scope of the documents should be precisely 

defined (information related to the notes –disclosures- and information that could be 

included in the Presentation Report on Financial Statements if they are to be considered 

relevant by the preparer). 

Accordingly, the CNOCP believes that a Presentation Report on Financial Statements: 

- ... 

- could provide useful insight to statement users, fostering a good understanding of the 

consequences of past public policies, but without assessing the performance or 

appropriateness of the underlying public policy; 

Respondent supports need for the project. 

Staff notes the respondent’s view that project is not 

within IPSASB’s remit. 

Staff position: The IPSASB has determined this 

project to be within its scope. 

Staff also notes the respondent’s view that the 

FSDA should consider forward-looking 

information, including LTFS and SPR, which are 

the subject of other IPSASB projects. 
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R # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

- does fall outside the scope of accounting standard-setting. Furthermore it is the preparer’s 

duty to define the relevant analysis that should be presented to the users through his 

financial communication strategy. 

007 We believe that having a standard on this topic is of value as it will contribute to providing users with 

information which will enhance their understanding of the financial position and results of 

operations, enabling them to make more informed decisions and judgments.   

Respondent supports need for the project. 

008 We strongly support the project which is being undertaken, as it will provide a framework for the 

consistent and comparable preparation and presentation of financial statement discussion and 

analysis in public sector entities’ financial statements. 

Respondent supports need for the project. 

009 1. The International Consortium on Governmental Financial Management (ICGFM) welcomes the 

opportunity to respond to IPSAS Exposure Draft 47 on Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis (FSD&A).  We are pleased to see the IPSASB address discussion and analysis of 

financial statements since much of the financial data presented is not clearly understood by 

many governmental decision makers. 

Respondent supports need for the project. 

010 Overall, we are broadly supportive of the introduction of the accounting standard ‘financial 

statement discussion and analysis’. We believe that it will help to shine a new light on the financial 

information presented by public entities for a wide range of users and promote the harmonisation of 

reporting across the public sector. However, while transparency and accountability will be improved 

it will be important to highlight in the proposed standard that information should be reported 

objectively so as to avoid bias. There is evidence from other sectors that discussion and analysis 

has at times led to self-promotion and padding e.g. reporting only positive service performance and 

outcomes.    

Respondent supports need for the project. 

011 ACAG supports the concepts outlined in the exposure draft. As per previous responses to the 

IPSASB, ACAG agrees with the objectives of financial reporting, including narrative reports as 

outlined in the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector 

Entities: Role, Authority and Scope; Objectives and Users; Qualitative Characteristics; and 

Reporting Entity.  

Respondent supports need for the project. 
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R # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

014 In Germany there is a relatively long history in the private sector of reporting on an entity’s financial 

results, position and operating environment in a Lagebericht (Management Report) which 

complements, but does not form part of, an entity’s financial statements. Similar reporting (whether 

termed “Lagebericht” or “Rechenschaftsbericht”) is also prevalent in many cases in the public 

sector.  

On the basis of experience in both the private sector and much of the public sector in Germany, the 

IDW believes that users’ information needs are well served by a combination of the information 

provided within a full set of financial statements and reporting provided in a management report 

pursuant to the German Commercial Code [Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB)] and the German 

Accounting Standard No. 15 (GAS 15) “Management Reporting”. GAS 15, which is promulgated by 

the Accounting Standards Committee of Germany (Deutsches Rechnungslegungs Standards 

Committee e.V. (DRSC)), primarily provides an interpretation and further explanation of the legal 

requirements of the German Commercial Code. The Standards for Governmental Accrual 

Accounting in accordance with the German “Budget Principles Law” (Haushaltsgrundsätzegesetz 

(HGrG)) are also based on the requirements of the German Commercial Code, including in respect 

of the management report.  

We therefore fully support the IPSASB’s decision to make preparation of financial statement 

discussion and analysis (FSDA) mandatory for public sector entities required to prepare general 

purpose financial statements. As noted in our responses to the SMCs, we also agree that the FSDA 

should not be a part of the financial statements, rather a separate report to complement the 

financial statements.  

Subject to our response to SMC#4 in the appendix to this letter, we also support the principles-

based approach taken in developing the exposure draft, which facilitates application of the Standard 

by all public sector entities presenting general purpose financial statements (GPFS) allowing 

sufficient flexibility to reflect a public sector entity’s individual circumstances.   

Respondent supports need for the project. 

 

015 We agree that benefits of issuing financial statement discussion and analysis will outweigh the costs 

for developing such additional information and that it will benefit all users of a public entity’s 

financial statements.  We have some general comments and observations about ED 47  that we 

Respondent supports need for the project. 
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R # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

wish the IPSASB to consider before we provide specific answers to the questions asked in the ED. 

016 The NZASB strongly supports guidance that would lead to high quality commentary that is 

consistent with and complements the financial statements and statements of service 

performance, but considers that a mandatory standard is not the best way to achieve this. A 

mandatory standard may even have the opposite effect if preparers respond by treating it as a 

compliance exercise or create an additional report. 

We consider that guidance, rather than a standard, would be more appropriate at this point. An 

RPG would provide an opportunity for useful guidance for those jurisdictions that do not already 

have such guidance or legislative requirements and, over time, an RPG could influence 

reporting by those that do have existing requirements. Furthermore, we note that a key reason 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued Management Commentary as a 

practice statement rather than a standard is because of the need for flexibility in the face of 

existing national requirements.  

Respondent supports need for the project. 

 

See additional comments on SMC 1. 

016.1 We note that the IPSASB decided to limit the scope of the project to discussion and analysis of 

an entity’s general purpose financial statements. In our view, the scope of any discussion and 

analysis in the public sector should be on the general purpose financial report as a whole, not 

just on the financial statements.  

Staff position: Staff disagrees. The IPSASB has 

not yet finalized its Conceptual Framework 

dealing with the broader GPFRs, so it is not 

appropriate to broaden the applicability of FSDA 

at this time. It may be considered as part of the 

IPSASB’s ongoing project prioritization process. 

016.2 Whilst we understand that the IPSASB has a separate project on service performance reporting 

and may not wish to prejudge the outcome of that project, we consider that any public sector 

guidance on analysis and discussion would be incomplete unless it signalled a strong 

expectation that the FSDA would be accompanied by a well-connected service performance 

discussion. We consider that IPSASB should issue guidance on service performance before 

issuing guidance on discussion and analysis. Explanations of variances in reported performance 

have limited value if they ignore a key aspect of public sector performance. 

Staff position: Staff disagrees with the need for 

FSDA to be accompanied by service 

performance reports (SPR). Firstly, the timing of 

FSDA is expected to related directly to the 

financial statements, while SPR’s timing may 

vary. Second, this could result in a de facto 

requirement for SPR to be prepared whenever 

FSDA is, regardless of whether FSDA is 

mandatory (see SMC 1 below). 
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R # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

016.3 We have responded to the specific matters for comment posed in the Exposure Draft in the 

appendix to this letter. Our responses should be read in the context of our strong preference for 

the IPSASB to issue guidance rather than a standard. 

See comments at SMC 1. 

017 In its current form, HoTARAC does not support the proposal for the reasons outlined below. 

HoTARAC commends the IPSASB for including implementation guidance and an illustrative 

example. HoTARAC had previously recommended the inclusion of this type of guidance in its 

response to the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) exposure draft 2009/6 of the 

current International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) practice statement Management 

Commentary (the IFRS Practice Statement). Additionally, HoTARAC supports the minimum 

required content as outlined in the proposal as generally appropriate and sufficiently flexible to 

accommodate a variety of entities. HoTARAC acknowledges that the proposals aim to bring a 

degree of objectivity to commentary that accommpanies financial statements and temper 

management’s inclination to provide over optimistic views. 

However, HoTARAC has the following
1
 concerns: … 

Respondent supports need for the project. 

 

017.1 Integrated Reporting 

In specifying the scope of the proposals, HoTARAC recommends consideration be given to the type 

of requirements that may arise from integrated reporting. HoTARAC draws the attention of the 

IPSASB to the recent discussion paper ‘Towards Integrated Reporting Communicating Value in the 

21
st
 Century’ (the discussion paper) issued by the International Integrated Reporting Committee 

(IIRC). In particular, the Content Elements on page 14 and 15 of the discussion paper are similar to 

the FSDA under the proposals. The Professional Accountants in Business Committee of IFAC were 

supportive of the proposals in the discussion paper in their submission and IPSASB may wish to 

consider the extent these IIRC proposals will be applicable to the public sector and the possible 

overlap with the requirements of the FSDA. HoTARAC believes that for the benefit of both 

preparers and users of financial information, it is preferable that there not be unnecessary 

duplication between the reporting requirements under different frameworks. 

Staff position: Staff disagrees that the project 

should reflect the integrated reporting proposals 

overall; however staff will consider the addition 

of Content Elements in finalizing the proposed 

standard to the extent they are not in conflict 

with the required content in ED 47. It is not the 

intent to completely replace the material 

presented in ED 47, but if there is helpful 

guidance to explain material in ED 47, staff will 

consider it. 

                                                 
1
 Some of the comments in the introductory portion of this response are analyzed in the “Comments on Other Key Issues” sections of this analysis. 
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GENERAL COMMENTS 

019 Finance commends the IPSASB’s efforts in developing a principles based pronouncement for this 

type of report. Finance is generally supportive of the proposals and their development as a 

standard. Finance also believes the proposals are important in bringing a degree of objectivity to 

commentary that is included with financial statements.  

Finance has contributed to the Australian Heads of Treasuries Accounting and Reporting Advisory 

Committee’s (HoTARAC’s) submissions on the Exposure Draft. However, Finance believes it is 

appropriate to submit its own response to highlight where Finance’s views diverge from those of 

HoTARAC or the issue is deemed to be significant for IPSASB’s consideration.  

… 

Finance believes the Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis report (FSDA) should be 

capable of being read as a standalone document, with references to other publicly available 

information where relevant.  

Finance would further recommend developing a consistent and clear proposal with respect to the 

required content and inclusion of forward-looking information.  

Respondent supports need for the project. 

 

020 General comments 

As noted in successive CIPFA responses on this topic and others 

- CIPFA strongly supports IPSASB’s development of high quality standards for public sector 

financial reporting, whether through the Board’s recent project to develop IFRS converged 

IPSASs or through wholly public sector specific IPSASs. 

- CIPFA agrees that it is important to broaden the developing Conceptual Framework to 

cover matters which go beyond a focus on financial statements.  

We would like to strongly reiterate and reinforce CIPFA’s support for the aspirations of this project 

and other related projects. 

General comments 

This exposure draft, Financial Discussion and Analysis is one of a number of initiatives which relate 

to reporting that goes wider than financial statements, including recent consultations on Reporting 

Service Performance Information, and Reporting on the Long Term Sustainability of a Public Sector 

Respondent supports need for the project. 

Staff position: Staff agrees with the 

respondent’s comments about the IASB’s 

rationale for the need for management 

commentary and recommends adding this 

argument to the Basis for Conclusions. 
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GENERAL COMMENTS 

Entity’s Finances. The main counterpart of these types of reporting for the private sector is 

Management Commentary on which the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued a 

non-mandatory Practice Statement in December 2010. The IASB recognises that, even in the 

context of for-profit reporting where profit measures provide a more uniform basis for assessing and 

comparing the performance of reporting entities, a more complete and useful view of performance 

and position can be provided through narrative and analytical commentary, reflecting the 

perspective of those determining the objectives of the entity and directing its activities. 

CIPFA recognises that Management Commentary does not fully parallel the wider reporting being 

considered by the IPSASB Board, and that for example Long Term Sustainability is a rather 

different kind of reporting to even more complicated aspects of going concern. We also recognise 

that reporting on service performance information provides additional benefit to public sector entities 

which do not obtain useful information by reporting on profit, and that for this reason more 

developed guidance on such reporting would be helpful. … 

021 I am writing on behalf of the French Cour des comptes Advisory Committee on Accounting 

Standards to express its views on the ED 47 on “Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis” 

(hereafter “FSDA”). The Committee reflects the French Cour des comptes position for the whole 

General Government Sector (Central Government, Local Governments and Social Security Funds). 

Preliminary remark: 

As a preliminary remark, we would like to stress the importance of FSDA. A FSDA is a valuable 

document contributing to a better understanding of the financial statements.  

Respondent supports need for the project. 

 

022 This attachment contains comments by the Public Finances Directorate General on the IPSASB’s 

Exposure Draft 47 (“the ED”) relating to Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis (“the 

Document”). 

As explained in our previous responses to IPSASB requests for comments, we believe that the 

Document is not within the IPSASB’s remit.  

Our point is that the Document is not based exclusively on data included in financial statements 

prepared using accrual accounting. As it is intended to shed light on activity and on developments 

concerning the impact of past public policy, it explores relationships between accounting and non-

Staff notes the respondent’s view that project is not 

within IPSASB’s remit. 

Staff position: The IPSASB has determined this 

project to be within its scope. 
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GENERAL COMMENTS 

accounting data. The Document therefore falls outside the accounting field and has more to do with 

the choice of disclosure methods made by the management of the public entity concerned.  

Then, the Document, as it is based on subjective and non-accounting data, is, by definition, not 

included in the Global Purpose Financial Statements
2
 and hence in accounting information in 

general. 

024 The Province agrees with the general prescriptive contents of the ED.   Respondent supports need for the project. 

025 Overall, we are supportive of the initiative as we believe it makes significant strides in achieving the 

objectives of financial reporting by providing stakeholders with narrative descriptions and analyses 

of various matters that can assist in placing aspects of the financial statements in context. It can 

also enhance the value of financial information for decision making and for making assessments of 

the entity’s discharge of accountability. 

Respondent supports need for the project. 

 

026 We do not support the IPSASB decision that FSDA is necessary to meet the objectives of general 

purpose financial statements. Accordingly, we do not agree with the IPSASB conclusion that all 

entities that prepapre and present their financial statements in accordance with ISPASs be required 

to prepare FSDA in accordance with IPSASs. We reason that the IPSASB’s decisions are not 

consistent with its proposed Conceptual Framework which uses a hierarchy to differentiate the 

information needs of users by category. General Purpose Financial Reports as one category within 

that hierarchy consist of two sub-categories, being, “General Purpose Financial Statements: and 

“Additional Information:
3
 We believe the FSDA is one example of the additional information sub-

category and we consider it premature to require such reporting. Therefore, we encourage the 

IPSASB to proceed with the development of this material as guidance.  

Respondent supports the need for the project but 

recommends it be issued as guidance rather than a 

mandatory pronouncement. 

027 Overall, we are supportive of the proposal to develop a framework for the preparation and Respondent supports need for the project. 

                                                 
2
 A complete set of financial statements comprises : 

 a statement of financial position, 

 a statement of financial performance, 

 a statement of changes in net assets/equity, 

 a cash flow statement, and 

 notes. 
3
 The second sub-category is restricted to information that is necessary to meet the accountability and decision-making objectives of general purpose financial statements. 
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GENERAL COMMENTS 

presentation of financial statement discussion and analysis. We believe that this would result in 

consistent, comparable and useful information being provided to users for accountability and 

decision-making purposes. We do, however, have reservations about the type of pronouncement 

that the IPSASB intends to issue on financial statement discussion and analysis, ie an IPSAS, as 

explained in our response to specific matter for comment no 1.   

 

028 3 The Task Force believes that the position outlined in ED 47 that reporting entities need to 

provide information outside financial statements in order to meet the objectives of the financial 

statements is questionable. 

[Staff note: Item 4 analyzed under “Compliance/Assurance” caption, below] 

5 The Task Force requests that the IPSASB carefully consider the above points and the 

explanations provided in the appendix to this letter when deciding whether ED 47 should be 

issued as an IPSAS.   

Respondent supports need for the project, but 

questions whether it should be issued as a 

mandatory pronouncement. 

 

031 We express our support for the overall proposal of developing a framework for the preparation and 

presentation of financial statement discussion and analysis in public sector entities, which provides 

useful information to users for accountability and decision-making purposes. 

Respondent supports need for the project. 

 

032 As a senior government in Canada, Ontario believes that the FSD&A section of its Annual Report 

and Consolidated Financial Statements compliments the government’s financial statements and 

notes, and therefore contributes to achieving the province’s transparency and accountability 

reporting objectives.   

We note that IPSASB’s Exposure Draft on FSD&A proposes to expand the content of the FSD&A 

from a traditional focus on historical financial results to a broader discussion and analysis of non-

financial and management information. As proposed, Ontario believes that IPSASB’s suggested 

recommendations to FSD&A exceeds the intended framework for accounting standards which focus 

on fair reporting of historical financial results to users.  In addition, there is some concern that the 

Exposure Draft reflects concepts from IPSASB’s incomplete conceptual framework project.  As a 

result, Ontario does not support the proposed addition to standards that are not related to a 

conceptual framework limited to the production of historic general purpose financial statements.  

Respondent considers FSDA goes beyond the 

GPFS and does not therefore support it. Staff 

considers the first paragraph to indicate support for 

the project overall, but not the specific content of the 

proposals or the mandatory nature of the proposals. 
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GENERAL COMMENTS 

033 We commend the efforts of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) 

in developing guidance for the preparation of Financial Statement Discussion & Analysis (FSD&A) 

by public sector entities. We believe such guidance would be useful to preparers, as it sets out 

guidance on the structure, content and how information should be presented in the FSD&A, and 

also improve the quality of narrative reporting by public sector entities. We also believe that such 

guidance would be helpful to users in comparing information presented by public sector entities.  

Respondent supports need for the project. 

 

 

 

033.1 We observe concerns in some jurisdictions regarding the proposed requirement of mandating these 

disclosures and the potential conflict between these requirements and existing requirements in 

particular jurisdictions where similar requirements exist. It would be helpful if there is further 

consideration and more guidance issued by the Board as to how the proposed guidance could be 

applied alongside existing requirements. As for countries without such disclosure guidance in their 

reporting framework, we see the proposed guidance as filling the gap for such countries in this area. 

Respondent reiterates concern in comments on 

SMC 1. 

033.2 In addition, we believe that more work needs to be done in order for the future IPSAS to be 

operational. Specifically, the scope of the guidance and linkage with other IPSAS requirements 

need to be refined regarding overlapping requirements with other IPSASs. Therefore we are unsure 

whether it is currently appropriate that the proposed guidance should be developed as an IPSAS. 

We suggest that the Board consider this project together with the proposals in the Service 

Performance Reporting project and the Conceptual Framework Phase 4: Presentation and 

Disclosure project, before making final decisions on the requirements for FSD&A to ensure that 

these components of the general purpose financial report (GPFR) fit together cohesively. 

Respondent reiterates concern in comments on 

SMC 3. 

035 The AASB generally supports the proposed requirements for Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis (FSDA).  However, the AASB has significant concerns with how the proposals for a 

Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis (FSDA) would fit within the IPSASB’s overarching 

view of general purpose financial reporting relative to other “broad scope” components being 

considered in other IPSASB projects, such as service performance reporting and reporting on the 

long-term sustainability of an entity’s finances.   

Respondent supports need for the project. 

[Staff note: Comments on other projects included 

with SMC 3] 

036 I´m Denise Juvenal this is pleased to have the opportunity to comment on this consultation. This is 

my individual commentary for IFAC-IPSASB about Financial Statement Discussion Analysis. I agree 

Respondent supports need for the project. 
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GENERAL COMMENTS 

with this proposal and I think that is very important this study for public sector and principally study 

about risk management for public sector. 

 

037 IPSASB Due Process 

In our pervious exposure document responses to IPSASB we have expressed a concern about the 

change from International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) being the guidance for the 

preparation of the General Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS) to IPSASs becoming guidance for 

the preparation of general purpose financial reports (GPFR). Recently IPSASB initiated a change to 

the IPSASs Terms of Reference (ToR) to support this change in direction. ToRs are and have been 

included in the Handbook of International Public Sector Accounting Pronouncements and hence are 

part of IPSASs. The ToR, both the former and the updated, include a description of the due process 

that IPSASB must follow when an IPSAS is changed or introduced. The updated ToR includes the 

statement that IPSASB is required to be transparent in its activities, and in developing IPSASs to 

adhere to due process. IPSASB was not transparent in its update to the IPSAS ToR nor did 

IPSASB follow the due process described in the former or updated ToR. The change was approved 

by International Federation of Accounts Board of directors. Requests were made to IPSASB staff 

asking for copies of the materials that were provided to the IFAC board in support of the ToR 

change and the minutes of the IFAC board meeting that approved the change. We were informed 

that these documents are not publicly available. We regret that IPSASB has not met its 

transparency or due process requirements with respect to its activities or the change to the IPSASs 

ToR that was effective on January 1, 2012. 

Staff notes the respondent’s view that project is not 

within IPSASB’s remit. 

Staff position: The IPSASB has determined this 

project to be within its scope. 

037.1 Distinguishing between Financial Statements and Financial Reports 

The updated RoR includes a new category of standards that will be issued by IPSASB, which are 

called Recommended Practice Guidelines. We suggest that IPSASs be limited to accounting 

standards that support the preparation of general purpose financial statements and that 

Recommended Practice Guidelines be the guidance for all reports that are not general purpose 

financial statements. Such a differentiation will ensure that entities are able to comply with the 

IPSAS 1 requirement that financial statements shall not be described as complying with IPSASs 

unless they comply with all the requirements of IPSASs. Entities would not be able to meet his 

Staff notes the respondent’s comment relates to 

SMC 1. 

Comments relate also to Compliance/Assurance 

issue, discussed below. 

Staff position: Staff disagrees that FSDA is 

intended to be issued with the GPFS, unlike the 

other two IPSASB proposals (long-term 

sustainability and service performance 
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requirement unless they concurrently issue all the general purpose financial reports that IPSASB 

might include in IPSASs. Examples of reports that IPSASB could include in IPSAS are: reporting on 

the long term sustainability of a public entities finances and the reporting of service performance 

information. It is unlikely that entities will issues these reports concurrently with their GPFS; 

therefore they would not be able to include a statement that the GPFS have been prepared in 

accordance with IPSASs, which would negate the value of adopting IPSASs in the first place. 

reporting).  

Staff notes comment that IPSASs should only 

apply to the GPFS (see analysis of SMC 1). 
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 1:  

Do you agree that the material presented in this Exposure Draft should be developed as a mandatory IPSAS that applies to all entities that 

prepare financial statements in accordance with IPSASs?  

 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 1, 2, 5, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 19, 23, 25, 29, 30, 31, 36 17 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Disagree, material should be issued as 

guidance, rather than as an IPSAS) 

4, 6, 9, 11, 16, 17, 18, 20, 24, 26, 27, 28, 32, 34, 37 15 

C – DISAGREE (Disagree material should be issued as IPSAS, 

but not clear on whether it should be issued as guidance) 

3 , 21, 22, 33, 35 5 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED ON THE SMC ― 0 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

001 A We agree that material should be developed as an IPSAS, but first after completion as stated in our 

overall opinion. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

002 A Yes. As pointed out in the standard, many jurisdictions require some sort of financial statement 

discussion and analysis. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

003 C The SRS-CSPCP does not agree with this proposal. It is of the opinion that this ED should not be 

developed as a binding standard, because the Financial Statement Commentary is not part of the GPFS 

but is only part of the other GPFR. The SRS-CSPCP points out that in the IFRS the Management 

Respondent does not support issuance 

as an IPSAS. No clear alternative as to 

whether it should be issued as guidance, 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

Commentary is not a standard. Consequently an enterprise that uses IFRS is not compelled to prepare a 

Management Commentary or to apply a specific form in its preparation. The fact of not preparing a 

Management Commentary or of doing so in a different form does not prevent the enterprise’s accounts 

from being in conformity with IFRS.  

The SRS-CSPCP is of the opinion that the differences between the public and the private sectors do not 

justify a different solution. In other words, there is no reason for demanding a commentary in the public 

sector in order to satisfy IPSAS, but not in the private sector, in order to satisfy IFRS. 

Furthermore, even if IPSAS are accounting and not auditing standards, there would be problems with 

the proposal of a standard which would have the “same level of authority as the accrual based IPSAS” 

when it comes to audit. The discussions within SRS-CSPCP have demonstrated these difficulties. A 

binding standard should be capable of being audited. As far as the Financial Statement Commentary is 

concerned, it would mean that the overall commentary should be audited, i.e. not only the facts and 

figures it includes, but also the comments and the interpretations it contains. This latter part being 

possibly the greatest part. Naturally figures and facts can be audited. However, comments and 

interpretations of the facts and figures are qualitative in nature. In practice they are influenced by politics. 

For this reason, auditing these qualitative elements is a tricky, difficult, or even impossible task, precisely 

because these pieces of information are not objective. 

although reference to the IFRS 

Management Commentary document is 

made. 

004 B The CNOCP considers that a Presentation Report on Financial Statements is necessary to help users 

understand financial statements. However, the CNOCP does not think that this is a matter for an IPSAS. 

In this regard, the CNOCP notes that the IASB has published a Practice Statement on Management 

Commentary for companies
4
. 

In addition, the CNOCP questions whether it is possible to genuinely standardise this type of report. It 

seems feasible only to provide public entities with guidance on methods for preparing such reports or on 

the themes that should be covered, while leaving it up to accounts preparers to determine whether 

information on these subjects is actually relevant or whether other factors need to be emphasised. When 

a report is standardised, there is a danger that it could lose its value, as entities check off the sections 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

                                                 
4
 IFRS Practice Statement Management Commentary, published on 8 December 2010 and not approved. 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

required under the standard without necessarily highlighting the most important information. 

Moreover, setting a standard could create confusion with the financial statements. 

 

1
 IFRS Practice Statement Management Commentary, published on 8 December 2010 and not 

approved. 

005 A EUMETSAT agrees with the proposed approach of developing an IPSAS for the FSDA. As the FSDA 

shall be mandatory in the context of the annual financial statements, we appreciate the inclusion of the 

related standard as equal element with the same level of authority, the same set-up of governance 

structure and the same level of commitment as other IPSASs relevant for the preparation of annual 

financial statements. 

As ED 47 will be an equal element of all IPSASs and will be mandatory with regard to annual financial 

statements, the statement of compliance with IPSAS as outlined by IPSAS 1.28 should serve as general 

rule for all IPSASs – including the proposed IPSAS on financial statement discussion and analysis. For 

that reason, we deem a separate statement of compliance with the proposed IPSAS on financial 

statement discussion and analysis unnecessary. As a consequence, we suggest to delete paragraph 

ED47.13.  

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

006 B Agreed in principle. 

However one should realize that this requirement will be an additional burden for entities to comply with 

IPSAS. We share the IPSASB’s view that “the benefits of providing Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis will outweigh the costs of preparing it”. 

Therefore, rather than introducing a new standard, we recommend to issue ED47 as a guideline, at least 

in an initial phase. 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

007 A Having an authoritative standard on financial statement discussion and analysis is beneficial as it would 

require all public sector entities applying IPSASs to provide additional information about the financial 

statements and hence contribute to users’ understanding of information contained in the financial 

statements.  This in turn would allow users to make more informed decisions and judgements.  An 

authoritative standard on this topic would also be of value as it would contribute to comparability and 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

consistency of information. 

Although an IPSAS on financial statement discussion and analysis is attractive from users’ perspective, 

it may encounter some resistance by preparers and in turn may have an impact on the adoption of 

IPSASs.  Therefore, it is important to allow for appropriate transitional provisions as discussed in the 

Specific Matter for Comment 5. 

008 A Yes we do agree that the preparation and presentation of financial statement discussion and analysis 

should be a standard, with the same level of authority as the accrual based IPSASs rather than as 

guidance. Developing a standard would be appropriate as it will address the needs of various users of 

financial statements rather than restricting to the specific users such as investors as the case with 

Management Commentary, an IFRS Practice Statement.  

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

009 B [From paragraph 3 of the response letter] 

a. In response to Comment 1 (Do you agree that the material presented in this Exposure Draft should 

be developed as an IPSAS, with the same level of authority as the accrual based IPSASs, which 

applies to all entities that prepare financial statements in accordance with IPSASs?), we agree that 

an IPSAS should be issued.  However, we have some reservations as to whether a FSD&A should 

be required or whether it should only be encouraged.  ED 47 is a very general statement and covers 

a wide range of objectives.  The key problem is with the objectives of financial statements.  We 

would suggest that financial statements for sovereign entities and sub-national public sector entities 

fulfill three primary objectives: 

1) Information on solvency - for existing and potential creditors, citizens and other 

persons/organizations with an interest in the entity. 

2) Information on the performance of management - accountability to the citizens and other 

stakeholders. 

3) Information that can be used to enhance forecasting and hence as the basis of decisions. 

Achievement of the above objectives will be enhanced by the narrative FSD&A statements and 

hence we support such statements but consider they should be encouraged rather than mandatory. 

Their content should achieve a balance between the above information requirements. 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

010 A At a time when public entities are receiving criticism for poor financial information and a lack of Respondent agrees the material should 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

transparency we believe that the introduction of the standard ‘financial statement discussion and 

analysis’ will help to stem these criticisms. At the moment we have no meaningful comparisons between 

different countries and across differing economic systems as there is no robust evidence base. 

Therefore, we agree that the ED should be developed into an IPSAS standard as it is more likely that it 

will be adopted by public entities and will help drive improvements in financial information. 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

011 B However, for the reasons outlined below, ACAG does not believe that the material contained in the ED 

should be issued as an IPSAS initially, but should be first released as guidance. 

… 

ACAG does not agree that the material in this Exposure Draft should be developed as an IPSAS at this 

stage. 

ACAG notes that the IASB has not issued a mandatory standard in regards to its ‘Management 

Commentary’ project, recognising that Governments and regulators in some jurisdictions already issue 

their own requirements or provide guidance.  

The Basis for Conclusions argues that in the private sector there may be strong influences from the 

securities exchanges and regulators to help ensure and reinforce the information needs of users, 

whereas in the public sector, there may not be a comparable regulator which participates in the process 

of standardizing financial statement discussion and analysis for a jurisdiction.   

Currently in Australia, the requirements for narrative reporting vary between jurisdictions and are at the 

discretion of each jurisdictional government.  ACAG agrees with the Basis for Conclusions and notes 

that some Australian jurisdictions have not issued effective requirements or guidance regarding 

commentary on public sector financial statements. 

ACAG believes that the information needs of users would be better met (in terms of consistency and 

comparability) if there was a single source of reporting requirements for financial statement discussion 

and analysis applying to all public sector entities.   

However, ACAG is of the view that issuing a standard at this point would be premature and believes 

guidance issued by the IPSASB would provide a sound basis for incorporating the material into a 

standard after some practical experience has been gained. In the interim, jurisdictions and/or reporting 

entities could adopt the guidance as they see fit but with an understanding of what is recommended 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

Staff position: Staff agrees that some 

of the respondent’s arguments 

supporting guidance should be 

incorporated into the Basis for 

Conclusions. 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

practice. This is consistent with the approach taken by the IASB with regards to ‘Management 

Commentary’ and the approach taken in ED 46 for reporting on the long-term sustainability of a public 

sector entity’s finances. 

Further, the topic is outside the scope of IPSASs as outlined in the Preface to International Public Sector 

Accounting Standards. The Preface outlines the scope of IPSASs as setting out recognition, 

measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements dealing with transactions and events in general 

purpose financial statements. The ED indicates that while financial statement discussion and analysis is 

necessary to meet the objectives of financial statements, it does not form part of the financial 

statements. This would require amending prior to any issuance of an IPSAS on this topic. 

012 A Yes, NAO Malta agrees with the above. 

Moreover, paragraph 4 of the Exposure Draft states that “this Standard applies to all public sector 

entities other than Government Business Enterprises.”   NAO Malta opines, however, that guidance is 

also to be provided on whether financial statement discussion and analysis preparation is also to include 

the results of government business enterprises in cases where consolidation with government business 

enterprises is carried out. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

013 A Yes.  We consider that in order for financial statements to be as useful as possible for users the financial 

statement discussion and analysis must be mandatory because it provides a great deal more information 

than just the financial statements.   

However, it is imperative that such an IPSAS must be a high quality, principle-based document. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

014 A As noted in our accompanying letter, we agree that the same level of authority should apply as the 

accrual based IPSAS, such that all entities that prepare financial statements in accordance with these 

IPSASs shall prepare a FSDA to accompany the financial statements. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

015 A We agree that the material presented in the Exposure Draft 47 should be developed and issued as an 

IPSAS.  

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

016 B Having considered arguments for and against mandatory financial statement discussion and analysis 

(FSDA), we do not support the IPSASB’s proposal to issue a standard on this topic (see also our 

response to Specific Matter for Comment 1). In our view the IPSASB should issue this guidance as a 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

Staff position: Staff agrees that some 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

Recommended Practice Guideline (RPG).   

… 

In responding to this question we have considered both arguments for and against having a standard 

which mandates the presentation of financial statement discussion and analysis (FSDA) in conjunction 

with general purpose financial statements.  

We agree that all entities preparing financial statements should also present FSDA to accompany those 

statements. However, we are not persuaded that it is appropriate for the IPSASB to issue an IPSAS 

based on ED 47. The following factors have influenced our views: 

(a) The proposals would require further development if they were to be mandatory (see also our 

cover letter and our response to Specific Matter for Comment 3). 

(b) We are unsure how the proposals would work in practice and consider that there is potential for 

the proposals to undermine the credibility of the “IPSAS” brand. In particular, we are concerned 

that a “standard” is issued that uses the same terminology as a “financial reporting standard” 

while not applying to the financial statements.  For example, we considered what would happen if 

an entity produced IPSAS-compliant financial statements but produced FSDA which was not in 

accordance with the proposed IPSAS on FSDA. The entity would be able to assert compliance 

with IPSASs in respect of its financial statements but would be unable to assert compliance in 

respect of the separate IPSAS on FSDA. In some jurisdictions, this could lead to an explicit audit 

qualification in respect of the FSDA. We consider that this would be confusing for users of the 

financial statements and could create a credibility problem for the management of the entity.  

(c) A number of public sector entities in New Zealand already provide discussion and analysis on 

their financial and service performance.  In some cases this information is subject to legislative 

requirements and in other cases it is provided voluntarily.  A mandatory standard on FSDA could 

overlap or conflict with existing requirements. It could lead to entities producing an additional 

report rather than trying to meet both sets of requirements in one report. We do not consider that 

this would be a desirable outcome. We would prefer the emphasis to be on producing high quality 

and accessible reporting, rather than on producing more reports. Non-mandatory guidance on 

FSDA is less likely to give rise to this concern.  

(d) Other jurisdictions are also likely to have existing legislative or administrative requirements for 

of the respondent’s arguments (b-d) 

supporting guidance should be 

incorporated into the Basis for 

Conclusions if the IPSASB decides not 

to issue ED 47 as an IPSAS. 

See also staff position in relation to 

compliance/assurance issue regarding 

c. 
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various types of public sector entities. A mandatory standard could also conflict with these 

requirements.  

016.1  We note that the IASB faced a similar decision when it was considering the status to accord its guidance 

on Management Commentary and subsequently decided to issue a non-mandatory Practice Statement. 

We have reviewed some of the comments made by respondents to the IASB Exposure Draft preceding 

the issue of the Practice Statement and note that avoiding inconsistency with existing national 

requirements was a common theme. 

On the other hand, the IPSASB, as an international standard setter could issue a standard on FSDA and 

regulators or legislators in each jurisdiction could choose whether or not to require application of that 

standard. Under this approach it would need to be clear that compliance with the FSDA standard is not 

required in order for an entity to be able to assert that its financial statements are in compliance with 

IPSASs, with the potential for confusion about the scope of IPSASs.  

Staff position: Staff agrees that the 

argument regarding inconsistency 

with existing national requirements 

should be incorporated into the Basis 

for Conclusions if the IPSASB decides 

not to issue ED 47 as an IPSAS. 

See also staff position in relation to 

compliance/assurance issue in AP 6.1. 

016.2  Having regard to the above comments, our preference would be for the IPSASB to issue a 

Recommended Practice Guideline (RPG) on this topic.  Providing guidance by way of an RPG could 

lead to improvements in existing reporting and provide a benchmark for jurisdictions that do not currently 

have any requirements or guidance. 

Further, we note that guidance on Reporting on the Long-Term Sustainability of a Public Sector Entity’s 

Finances will not be issued as a Standard.  As both documents address information that supplements 

the financial statements, we recommend that they be accorded the same status. 

We recommend that any forthcoming guidance acknowledge that similar information may already be 

required in a particular jurisdiction, and give entities guidance on whether information must be duplicated 

or whether cross referencing to that other information is adequate.   

Staff position: See Agenda Paper 6.1 

for staff’s recommendation. 

017 B Development of the proposals as an International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) rather 

than guidance 

The majority of HoTARAC jurisdiction would prefer the eventual pronouncement be recommended 

practice guidance rather than an IPSAS. As the IFRS Practice Statement is guidance rather than a 

mandatory standard, this is consistent with HoTARAC’s preference for IPSASB and IASB achieving 

convergence of their respective pronouncements. This would also achieve consistency with IPSASB’s 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance.  

Staff position: Staff notes the 

respondent’s comments on the 

relationship between no audit 

requirement and why the document 
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decision on its other projects dealing with the information outside the financial statements including 

service performance reporting and reporting on the long-term sustainability of public finances. In 

addition, as IPSASB identified in paragraph 14, preparation and presentation of FSDA is currently 

required in some jurisidcitions. Development of the proposals as guidance would avoid the potential 

conflicts arising from different mandatory requirements, i.e. the differences between existing FSDA 

requirements imposed over jurisdictions and the requirements arising from the proposals if issued as an 

IPSAS. Development of the FSDA without an audit requirement (as suggested at paragraph BC10) 

would also support a guidance document rather than a standard.  

HoTARAC’s further comments on this issue are outlined in our response to Specific Matter for Comment 

1 below. 

should be guidance rather than an 

ISPAS and agrees that this argument 

should be incorporated into the Basis 

for Conclusions. 

 

017.1  In the general comments above, HoTARAC has provided the rationale for supporting development of 

proposals as guidance.  

A minority HoTARAC jurisdiction agrees the proposal should be developed as an IPSAS, subject to the 

comments above on inclusion of forward-looking information. 

Staff position: Staff agrees that some 

of the respondent’s arguments 

supporting guidance should be 

incorporated into the Basis for 

Conclusions. 

018 B We do not agree that the material presented in the exposure draft should be developed as an IPSAS 

with the same level of authority as the accruals based IPSASs inside the scope of IPSAS 1. There are a 

number of reasons for this: 

a) We are concerned that application of the standard may not pass the cost/benefit test for some 

public sector entities.  

b) Data published by governments in one quarter of a year can be revised in a following quarter 

when better information about that data becomes available, which raises questions regarding 

the type of opinion an auditor could provide on such information. 

c) There is a qualitative aspect to certain government data, particularly in areas such as; 

measurements of GDP, dimensions of well-being and efficiency savings which again raises 

questions regarding the type of opinion an auditor could provide on such information. 

ISA 700 “Forming an opinion and reporting on financial statements” requires an auditor to undertake a 

rigorous evaluation of their work and the financial statements, which is a much more testing requirement 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

Staff position: Staff agrees that some 

of the respondent’s arguments 

supporting guidance should be 

incorporated into the Basis for 

Conclusions. In particular for item a, 

this relates to the ‘differential 

reporting’ issue, which may be 

resolved if FSDA is not mandatory. 

See staff analysis on 

compliance/assurance in the Other 

Comments section, for items b and c. 
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than is required by ISA 720 “Auditor’s responsibilities relating to other information in documents 

containing audited financial statements” which requires an auditor to only read the other information 

presented alongside the financial statements to identify any material inconsistencies. If ED 47 has the 

same level of authority as other IPSAS then it should also be subject to the same level of auditor 

scrutiny. 

We suggest that the ED is first issued as a Recommended Practice Guideline and that a review of its 

status be considered when there is greater experience of the preparation and audit/review of the 

discussion and analysis prepared.  

019 A Mandatory requirement 

Finance supports the ED’s proposal of developing a standard on this topic, rather than guidance. 

… 

Finance agrees the proposal should be developed as an IPSAS, subject to an appropriate focus 

between historical and forward-looking information as noted above in the general comments. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

020 B As we explained in our recent response to the Consultation Paper Reporting Service Performance 

Information we would only support mandatory standards on issues which are material and significant 

for all entities, or where a standard can be drafted to allow proportionate application or exemption 

where the cost of reporting exceeds the benefit. 

… 

No. In CIPFA’s view the scope and nature of the information which would be most helpful in providing a 

coherent and helpful reporting package is quite difficult to define, and identifying a ‘minimum subset’ for 

mandatory reporting may not produce the best result.  

The Basis for Conclusions explains the IPSASB view that financial statement discussion and analysis 

should be prepared by all entities that prepare their financial statements in accordance with IPSASs, 

and per BC8 The IPSASB considers that in all cases, the benefits of providing financial statement 

discussion and analysis would outweigh the costs of preparing it, as the information is used in the 

preparation of the financial statements, and tailored to the specific circumstances of the entity.  

… 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

The issue of ‘proportionate application’ 

(or ‘differential reporting’) is addressed in 

the Other Comments section, below. 
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Furthermore, we also have some concerns that the narrow emphasis of the ED might stifle reporting on 

wider matters, particularly inasmuch as they might not be deemed appropriate for inclusion in the 

FSD&A document.   

021 C As acknowledged in various parts of the exposure draft, the very purpose of the proposed “IPSAS” is to 

provide guidance on structure and content on the FSDA, with sufficient flexibility for the entity to adapt 

and complement it to its specific needs. It is not an accounting standard with related precise and 

accounting requirements. We therefore do not agree that this guidance be transformed into an 

accounting standard. It would not be consistent with the objective and content of a FSDA.  In addition, it 

is not feasible in our view to establish a standard in such an area.  

Respondent does not support issuance 

as an IPSAS. No clear alternative as to 

whether it should be issued as guidance. 

022 D The ED defines the Document as “an explanation of the significant items, transactions and events 

presented in an entity’s financial statements and the trends and factors that influenced them.”  

Moreover, IPSAS 1 states that financial statements are explained in detail and commented upon in the 

notes to the accounts
5
. IPSAS 1.7 defines the notes as follows: “Notes provide narrative descriptions or 

disaggregations of items disclosed in those statements and information about items that do not qualify 

for recognition in those statements”. These two definitions which are similar, apply in principle to 

documents with different contents and purposes but, in the final analysis, they make it impossible to 

distinguish between the Document and the notes.  

In our opinion, the definition in the Document, which has similar objectives to those of the Management 

Discussion & Analysis (MD&A) reports issued in the private sector, is inappropriate. 

In our view, the Document should aim to analyse and comment on changes in the public entity’s 

mandate and the way it carries it out, on the resources allocated to it, on the economic and social 

context and the financial and accounting consequences of these factors as seen by its management.  

This analysis is relevant only if: 

- it is carried out in accordance with the policies decided on by management; 

- it makes connections between accounting and non-accounting data. The Document should include 

Staff note: Parts of these comments are 

highlighted in other sections of this 

document, but the entire flow of the 

comments is presented here. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to revisit 

the definition (see respondents’ 

specific comments on how to improve 

the definition in the Other Comments 

section, below).  

Staff does not agree with the 

suggestions to include additional 

information on sustainable 

development (which is the subject of 

the IPSASB’s project on long-term 

fiscal sustainability), nor on human 

resource policy. The latter item may be 

part of the information management 

                                                 
5  

The notes to the financial statements also include information on significant post-balance sheet events that have no connection with the financial period just ended, when they could 

influence economic decisions made by financial statement users. 
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information on sustainable development and human resources policy, which we believe essential to 

a proper understanding of public policy choices and to the transparency of resource allocation in the 

present climate; 

- it adds a thematic dimension to the accounts. The Document should contain cross-cutting analyses 

and commentary based on accounting and non-accounting information showing, for example, the 

costs of public policy choices and implementation, changes in those costs and implementation 

performance. 

chooses to report, if it is significant in 

a given period. Staff disagrees that it 

should always be required. 

022.1  The Document’s scope exceeds the IPSASB’s prerogatives, for the following reasons: 

- it is based on non-accounting data as well as accounting information available from the financial 

statements; 

- it necessarily incorporates a subjective dimension, since it refers to the management’s judgements 

and outlook. 

Staff notes the respondent’s view that 

project is not within IPSASB’s remit. 

Staff position: The IPSASB has 

determined this project to be within its 

scope. 

  The French rapport de présentation (presentation report)  

The French government publishes a presentation report every year in conjunction with its financial 

statements. The report collates accounting and non-accounting information and highlights the main 

developments of the past year and their impact on central government finances. It also has a section on 

sustainable development initiatives and human resources. 

France’s national accounting standards setter, the Conseil de normalisation des comptes publics (Public 

Sector Accounting Standards Council), has no influence over the presentation report.  

With reference to France’s professional standard NEP 9510
6
, the Cour des comptes (Government Audit 

Office) checks that the annual financial statements are consistent with the information given in the 

documents accompanying the central government general account and states in the preface to its 

certification that it has not noted any anomalies in this respect. But the documents themselves – the 

presentation report, the internal control report and the four-page summary – lie outside the scope of 

certification. 

The structure of the presentation report and the checks carried out by the Government Audit Office have 

Staff position: Staff notes the 

respondent’s description of its 

jurisdiction. The aim of the project is 

to provide a principles-based 

framework that could be adapted to 

any jurisdiction or entity.  

Staff does not agree with the 

suggestions to include additional 

information on sustainable 

development (which is the subject of 

the IPSASB’s project on long-term 

fiscal sustainability), nor on human 

resource policy. The latter item may be 

part of the information management 

                                                 
6
  Relating to “the auditor’s work on the management report and other documents destined for the members of the entity called upon to approve the financial statements”. 
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much in common with the best practices observed for the management discussion and analysis in the 

private sector. Note also that the management discussion and analysis issued in France come within the 

purview not of the Private Sector Accounting Standards Council but of the national legislature. 

chooses to report, if it is significant in 

a given period. Staff disagrees that it 

would always be required. 

Accordingly, no changes are required 

to ED 47 to address this comment. 

023 A Yes I agree but I think involvement of stakeholders in the public sector at this stage would be helpful. Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

024 B If approved by IPSASB, the ED will be issued as an IPSAS and will require all public sector entities, 

except Government Business Enterprises, to issue financial statement discussion and analysis with their 

general purpose financial statements (financial statements).  The Province of Manitoba would have 

preferred that guidance on financial statement discussion and analysis be issued as non-authoritative 

standard, similar to PSAB’s Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP).  … 

The Province would have preferred if the guidance on financial statement discussion and analysis be 

issued as non-authoritative standard.  The issuance as an IPSAS creates concern that the financial 

statement discussion and analysis will be subject to the same assurance standards as the financial 

statements.  The Province does appreciate the amendment of IPSAS 1 to clarify that the financial 

statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements.  However, the ED 

requires all public sector entities to include a financial statement discussion and analysis with their 

financial statements.  The Province would prefer IPSASB to remove this requirement.  The issuance of a 

financial statement analysis and discussion should be left to the discretion of the public sector entity. 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

 

025 A We are in agreement that the proposed standard brings a new concept in financial reporting among 

public sector entities. It pertains to the qualitative aspects that are important for more understanding of 

financial statements. It also provides that FSDA be used only for annual financial statements. This is 

important since it factors the cost benefit analysis of FS preparation - ED47.7. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

026 B We do not support the material presented in this Exposure Draft being developed as an IPSAS. We do 

not consider the financial statement discussion and analysis (FSDA) to be part of the general purpose 

financial statements. Instead, we believe it is part of the additional information that together with the 

general purpose financial statements comprises the general purpose financial report. Although we 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

Staff position: Staff notes the 
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consider it premature to require such reporting, we encourage the IPSASB to proceed with the 

development of this material as guidance. 

respondent’s comments that FSDA is 

part of the GPFR, not the GPFS. Staff 

agrees with that position, but notes the 

intent was to distinguish FSDA from 

the financial statements while still 

requiring FSDA to accompany the 

financial statements in all cases, to 

satisfy users’ needs. 

027 B We note the IPSASB’s view in BC 11 that introducing a new type of pronouncement that has equivalent 

authoritative status to the IPSASs will be confusing to its constituents, and that an IPSAS is therefore the 

most appropriate type of pronouncement to apply to financial statement discussion and analysis. If the 

pronouncement is issued as an IPSAS, we have the following concerns: 

 Users may consider the financial statement discussion and analysis to be part of the financial 

statements while the Exposure Draft’s explicitly states otherwise, ie that it is not part of the financial 

statements but merely an explanation of the financial statements. What confuses the issue is the 

statement that financial statement discussion and analysis is not seen as stand-alone (see BC 3).   

 Uncertainty will also exist around whether the information presented in the financial statement 

discussion and analysis have been subjected to the same audit requirements compared to the 

information presented in the financial statements.  

 If an authoritative IPSAS is issued while specifically excluding it from the financial statements, it 

could create an unintended conflict in that, on the one hand, the financial statements would be 

expected to achieve fair presentation on their own, while on the other hand it would imply that 

management commentary outside the financial statements is necessary to achieve fair presentation. 

There are thus two issues of concern (a) achieving fair presentation; and (b) compliance with all 

IPSASs. It would be difficult to prove (b) when the opening paragraph of the pronouncement 

requires an entity to prepare financial statement discussion and analysis if you prepare financial 

statements in accordance with IPSASs.  

We therefore propose that the proposed Exposure Draft should be issued as part of a new suite of 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

Staff position: Staff agrees that some 

of the respondent’s arguments 

supporting guidance should be 

incorporated into the Basis for 

Conclusions. 

 



 IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) Agenda Item 6.2 

Agenda Item 6.2 

Page 31 of 144 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

pronouncements that are not part of the financial statement reporting framework. This will allow entities 

to make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IPSASs, which is limited to the 

financial statements only.  

Because the IPSASB may issue additional mandatory requirements for reports outside the General 

Purpose Financial Statements, the IPSASB can address this issue holistically rather than making ad-hoc 

changes to, for example, IPSAS 1.  

If the proposed Exposure Draft is issued as part of a new suite of pronouncements, entities not applying 

an accrual basis of accounting may also consider and/or adopt the pronouncement. The IPSASB may 

also consider not to limited the scope of the pronouncement to entities applying the accrual basis of 

accounting.  

As an alternative, the IPSASB could also consider expanding the disclosure requirements in existing 

IPSASs to cover the minimum required information as set out in paragraph .15 of this Exposure Draft. 

Amending the disclosure requirements in existing IPSASs to include issues identified during the financial 

statement discussion and analysis will provide users with useful and reliable information rather than to 

establish reliance on information that is presented outside the financial statements. If the IPSASB 

supports this alternative proposal, we propose that the disclosure requirements to be included in existing 

IPSASs should be more prescriptive compared to what is currently required and prescribed in the 

Exposure Draft.  

028 B The scope of ED 47 includes requirements for both financial and non-financial elements of financial 

statement discussion.  Position of the Task Force on reporting non-financial information remains 

unchanged as previously discussed in the Task Force’s submission on the Consultation Paper (CP) on 

Reporting Service Performance Information and CF-CP4 provided to the IPSASB recently as well as in 

the submission on CF-ED1 prepared in 2011 and in the submission on the Conceptual Framework for 

General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities prepared in 2009.  IPSAS Board should 

not prescribe the content or format of non-financial information to be reported.  Governing bodies set 

requirements and presentation parameters for non-financial information reported by public sector 

organizations. 

The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), a member of the Task Force, adds to the discussion that 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

Staff position: Staff agrees that some 

of the respondent’s arguments 

supporting guidance should be 

incorporated into the Basis for 

Conclusions. 
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IFRS and many national accounting frameworks encourage but do not require reporting entities to 

present financial statement discussion and analysis.       

The Task Force therefore strongly suggests that the material presented in ED 47 is developed as a non-

authoritative guidance rather than an IPSAS. 

The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) expressed a dissenting 

view and considers that ED 47 should be developed as a Standard.   

029 A 1. We agree with the view that the material presented in this Exposure Draft (ED) should be 

developed as an IPSAS, with the same level of authority as the accrual based IPSASs, for the 

reasons described in the following paragraphs 2 and 3. 

2. BC 2 of the ED points out that the IFRS Practice Statement on Management Commentary 

(hereinafter referred to as “IFRS Practice Statement”) identifies investors as the users of financial 

statements. On the other hand, public sector entities are expected to meet various information 

needs for financial statements, as specified in IPSAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (see 

IPSAS 1.3). 

3. For those entities in the public sector, amounts shown on their financial statements alone may not 

necessarily provide sufficient information to the users, as compared to those in the private sector. 

Preparers of financial statements in the public sector need to understand the amounts reported in 

their statements, and interpret them to the users. We believe that the work of explaining the 

amounts reported on financial statements would not be a burden to reporting entities that adopt 

accrual IPSASs, and in most cases, benefits of the clarification to users will exceed the costs 

incurred. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

030 A We have given some consideration as to whether IPSAS should include  authoritative guidance or 

recommended practice for an entity to prepare the Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

(FSD&A). The Canadian Public Sector Accounting Board’s guidance: Statement of Recommended 

Practice (SORP)-1 Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis recommends but does not require that 

an FSD&A is prepared. The Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 34 Basic 

Financial Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments 

requires the preparation of an MD&A based on the GASB’s criteria of “Required Supplementary 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 
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Information”.  

The implications of requiring entities to issue an FSD&A in conjunction with their financial statements 

include audit considerations for this report and whether there are specific jurisdictional requirements that 

stipulate different types of FSD&A information.  

We do believe that the FSD&A is important to the users of financial statements to enhance their 

understanding of the entity’s operations and financial position, and therefore we support this 

authoritative requirement when the FSD&A is based on information in the associated financial 

statements. However, we are concerned that the required minimum content of the report goes beyond 

explaining the information in the underlying financial statements (see responses to Specific Matters for 

Comment #4 and #6). 

031 A Yes, the material should be developed as an IPSAS that would be relevant to all preparers under 

IPSAS. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

032 B In addition, Ontario feels strongly that any guidance related to FSD&A should be non-authoritative as it 

is in Canada (i.e. Statement of Recommended Practice).   

For example, the Public Sector Accounting Board’s (PSAB’s) SORP-1 on FSD&A is not prescriptive and 

yet offers general guidance. Authoritative standards on such a subject may be contrary to the public 

interest as governments and public sector entities expect and need flexibility in determining how best to 

achieve accountability reporting to their stakeholders. 

No. We do not agree that it should be the same level of authority as accrual based IPSAS’s. We believe 

that while such guidance may be useful, it should be issued as non-authoritative guidance, similar to 

Canada’s Public Sector Accounting Board’s Statements of Recommended Practice ( e.g. PSAB SORP–

1).   In IPSASB the equivalent type of guidance for FSD&A would be a Reporting Practice Guideline.    

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

 

032.1  However, the scope should not be expanded to be an authoritative standard, but should follow non 

prescriptive general guidance. 

From comments on SMC 3 

033 D Although we believe that the FSD&A provides information that would facilitate sound and well-informed 

decision making that leads to an efficient resource allocation, and brings together the material 

information about a public sector entity’s performance in a way that reflects the social and environmental 

Respondent did not express clear views 

in the General Comments as to whether 

an IPSAS is appropriate. 
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context within which it operates, we currently have concerns as mentioned previously in the general 

comments section whether it should be developed as an IPSAS. 

034 B For example, the IPSASB’s proposal to make the requirements for FSDA mandatory for entities 

complying with IPSASs appears to be inconsistent with the IPSASB contemplating non-authoritative 

guidelines for service performance reporting and reporting on the long-term sustainability of an entity’s 

finances. 

The AASB is also concerned with potential inconsistencies between the proposed FSDA requirements 

and the requirements of IPSAS 24 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements, which 

applies only to entities that are required to or elect to make their approved budget publicly available. 

 

[Staff note: From general comments in 

the response letter.] 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

Staff position: See analysis in AP 6.1 

on SMC 4 and SMC 5 regarding IPSAS 

24. 

034.1  The AASB acknowledges the IPSASB’s reasoning for issuing a mandatory IPSAS for FSDA and its 

proposal that FSDA should not be part of the financial statements.  However, the AASB has a number of 

concerns with issuing the proposed requirements in a Standard. 

Types of IPSASs 

In paragraph BC11, the IPSASB notes that introducing a new type of pronouncement with authority 

equivalent to that of an IPSAS would be confusing to constituents.  Therefore the IPSASB decided that 

an IPSAS would be appropriate for FSDA.  However, the AASB considers that the potential for confusion 

would now arise in relation to IPSASs “applicable to financial statements” and “other” IPSASs, of which 

an IPSAS for FSDA would be the first.  This is because a consequential amendment proposed in the ED 

is to amend paragraph 28 of IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to require an entity’s 

financial statements to include a statement of compliance with “IPSASs applicable to the financial 

statements” instead of just “IPSASs”.  Paragraph 13 of the ED would require the entity’s FSDA to include 

a statement of compliance with only the IPSAS concerning FSDA. 

This means that an entity could report that its financial statements complied with IPSASs applicable to 

financial statements, even if it did not present FSDA information, since FSDA would not be required by 

those IPSASs.  This raises the question of whether issuing an “other” IPSAS would truly result in 

mandatory requirements – where would non-compliance with the FSDA IPSAS be reported, when FSDA 

could be presented (or not) in a document separate to the financial statements?  However, requiring the 

Staff position: If the IPSASB 

determines the material should be 

issued as an IPSAS, staff agrees with 

the concern that if FSDA is not 

prepared there is no way of enforcing 

compliance with the FSDA 

requirements.  

The proposed amendment to IPSAS 

1.27–.28 was intended to clarify that 

FSDA is not part of the financial 

statements and thus not subject to the 

audit for fair presentation of the 

financial statements. 

Staff considers that a cross-reference 

to whether FSDA has been prepared, 

and where it is reported, should be 

provided in the financial statements to 

allow readers to determine 
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R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

financial statements to include a cross-reference to any FSDA, or to state whether FSDA had been 

presented in other documents, would identify when the FSDA requirements had not been complied with, 

and would not result in non-compliant financial statements if FSDA had not been presented. 

Paragraph BC10 notes concerns over audits of FSDA if it were part of the financial statements and if any 

FSDA pronouncement were an IPSAS.  However, auditors would address compliance of financial 

statements with IPSASs that are relevant to the financial statements, which excludes IPSASs relevant to 

other things, such as FSDA (assuming that FSDA is clearly separate from the financial statements).  

This practicality removes the need for a separate category of IPSASs, and the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 28 of IPSAS 1 should not be made. 

Nevertheless, the AASB would support the issue of non-authoritative guidelines on FSDA, rather than an 

IPSAS.  The AASB notes that the IPSASB is progressing another project, reporting on the long-term 

sustainability of an entity’s finances, in which the proposed pronouncement would be a non-authoritative 

statement, titled a Recommended Practice Guideline (RPG).  The IPSASB’s Consultation Paper on 

reporting service performance information also raises the possibility of issuing non-authoritative 

guidance. 

compliance.  

If the IPSASB agrees to issue the 

material as an IPSAS, staff will consult 

with the IAASB staff to determine 

whether such a reference would 

incorporate the FSDA in the financial 

statement audit. 

If the material is not issued as an 

IPSAS, the statement in ED 47.13 

regarding compliance, is sufficient. 

034.2  Existing Jurisdictional Requirements 

The AASB considers another argument against making the FSDA requirements mandatory is that the 

requirements in a final IPSAS could be different to or inconsistent with existing requirements for such 

disclosure in a jurisdiction.  Paragraph 14 in the ED refers to the possibility of existing requirements and 

encourages entities to disclose information about compliance with those requirements. 

The AASB suggests that the IPSASB could issue a Recommended Practice Guideline and address 

whether it should become mandatory after a period of experience for public sector entities applying the 

Guideline alongside other FSDA requirements. 

Staff position: Staff will consider 

adding this comment to the BFC if the 

IPSASB decides the material should 

not be issued as an IPSAS. 

035 C It is the Province’s position that the requirements identified in the Exposure Draft with respect to content 

of financial statement discussion and analysis is beyond the framework and is over and above the 

Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP).  Therefore, the Province does not agree that it should be 

developed as an IPSAS, with the same level of authority as the accruals based IPSASs, which applies to 

all entities that prepare financial statements in accordance with IPSASs.   

Respondent does not support issuance 

as an IPSAS. No clear alternative as to 

whether it should be issued as guidance. 

Staff notes the respondent’s view that 

project is not within IPSASB’s remit. 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

Staff position: The IPSASB has 

determined this project to be within its 

scope. 

036 A Yes, I agree that the material presented in this Exposure Draft should be developed as an IPSAS, with 

the same level of authority as the accrual based IPSAS applied to all entities that prepare financial 

statements.   

I consider very important the application about risks and uncertainties for public sector, is complex, but is 

possible because the government has the structure with development in program and activity social. 

I observed that in relation this view point is very important the IPSASB observed the results of 

discussion of the European Commission
7
 about Public Sector

8
 and Corporate Governance

9
, The 

Financial Reporting Council
10

 about risk management and Evaluating and Improving Internal Control in 

Organizations elaborated for IFAC – PAIB Committee
11

, these discussions can be include more 

informations in this discussion paper. 

Respondent agrees the material should 

be issued as a mandatory IPSAS. 

037 B FSDA should be a Recommended Practice Guideline 

The basis of conclusions in paragraph BC10 notes that IPSASB considered whether FSD&A should be 

subject to the same audit requirements as the financial statements. The IPSASB concluded that 

imposing an audit requirement on such information exceeds its mandate. However, the requirements of 

IPSAS 1 that financial statement shall not be described as complying with IPSASs unless they comply 

with all the requirements of IPSASs makes it a certainty that the FSD&A will be audited otherwise the 

auditor would not be able to issue an audit report that states the financial statements comply with 

IPSASs. FSD&A are not part of an entity’s GPFS; therefore we suggest that the FSD&A guidance be 

included as a recommended practice guideline. 

… 

Respondent prefers the material to be 

issued as non-authoritative guidance. 

 

                                                 
7
  http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/consultations/2011/professional_qualifications_directive_en.htm 

8
  http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/public_consultations/consultations/ipsas 

9
  http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/consultations/2011/corporate-governance-framework_en.htm 

10
  http://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/5e4d12e4-a94f-4186-9d6f-19e17aeb5351/Turnbull-guidance-October-2005.aspx 

11
  http://www.ifac.org/publications-resources/evaluating-and-improving-internal-control-organizations-0 
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SMC 1: Mandatory IPSAS 

We disagree. While we agree there is a need for guidance about the preparation of FSD&A we do not 

support including the FSD&A guidance as an IPSAS. The FSD&A material should be prepared as a 

recommended practice guideline. 
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 2:  

Do you agree that IPSAS 1 should be amended to clearly indicate that financial statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the 

financial statements?  

 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19, 20, 23, 24, 25, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 

33, 35, 36 

26 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (If material issued as an IPSAS) 11, 34 2 

C – DISAGREE (Not needed if IPSAS issued as guidance) 3, 4, 5, 17,  21, 26, 27 7 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 22 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

001 A We agree with the suggested amendment of IPSAS 1 that the discussion and analysis is not a 

component of financial statements. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

002 A Yes. As pointed out in the standard, many jurisdictions require some sort of financial statement 

discussion and analysis.  

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

003 B The answer to this question is no longer meaningful, because the ED, as a binding standard, is rejected 

by SRS-CSPCP. 

But on the assumption that, and contrary to the opinion of the SRS-CSPCP, a binding standard were 

created, IPSAS 1 would have to be clarified to show that the Financial Statement Commentary is not part 

Respondent disagrees because they 

believe FSDA should be in guidance and 

not an IPSAS. 

Staff position: See analysis of whether 
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SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

of the Financial Statements.  to proceed with an IPSAS in AP 6.1, 

SMC 1. 

004 C If financial statement discussion and analysis is not the subject of a standard, then IPSAS 1 does not 

have to be amended for this reason because there is no risk of a conflict of standards.  

Respondent disagrees because they 

believe FSDA should be in guidance and 

not an IPSAS. 

Staff position: See analysis of whether 

to proceed with an IPSAS in AP 6.1, 

SMC 1. 

005 C As outlined above, EUMETSAT welcomes the inclusion of guidance for FSDA as an IPSAS. However, 

we disagree with setting- up the FSDA as a separate element. Instead, we strongly favour the FSDA 

being established as a component of the complete set of financial statements.  

The FSDA shall be mandatory for all entities preparing and presenting accrual based financial 

statements in accordance with IPSAS 1. In ED47.BC3, it is also stated that it is “important to link financial 

statement discussion and analysis to the financial statements because the financial statement discussion 

and analysis is intended to explain the financial statements, and not to stand alone.”  

Following this rationale, there is little reason to exclude the FSDA from the complete sets of financial 

statements. Moreover, we assume that, with FSDA being an integral part of the complete set of financial 

statements, a consistent and comprehensive presentation of financial information and additional 

explanations would be supported (see also our response to “Specific Matter for Comment 6” below).  

Respondent disagrees because they 

believe FSDA should be part of the 

financial statements. 

Staff position: See analysis of whether 

to proceed with an IPSAS in AP 6.1, 

SMC 1. 

006 A Agreed.  However, link with Financial Statement according to IPSAS 1 should be clearly indicated. 

Audit requirement of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis should be at least recommended. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

007 A Yes.  A clear identification that financial statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the 

financial statements is needed.  This may especially be important for users in distinguishing the 

information provided as part of the financial statements and that presented as part of the financial 

statement discussion and analysis.  Further, a clear identification that financial statement discussion and 

analysis is not a component of the financial statements will be helpful in providing a distinction between 

the audited financial statements and the additional information in the financial statement discussion and 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 
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SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

analysis which is not required to be audited.   

008 A We do agree that IPSAS 1 should be amended to clearly indicate that financial statement discussion and 

analysis is not a component of the financial statements. The proposed amendment to IPSAS 1 would 

minimize potential misunderstanding by the preparers of financial statements. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

009 A [From paragraph 3 of the response letter] 

b. In response to Comment 2 (Do you agree that IPSAS 1 should be amended to clearly indicate that 

financial statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements?), we 

agree. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

010 A Yes, we agree that IPSAS 1 should be amended as set out in the consultation. Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

011 B In the case that the material is developed as an IPSAS, ACAG agrees that it should be made clear that 

financial statement discussion and analysis  is not considered to be a component of the financial 

statements, and that the proposed standard does not form part of the financial reporting framework. 

The International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), such as ISA 700 refer to ‘financial statements’, being a 

‘complete set of general purpose financial statements, including the related notes’ and highlight that the 

requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework will determine the form and content of the 

financial statements, and what constitutes a complete set of financial statements. 

As such, ACAG believes that IPSAS 1 as amended in the ED is appropriate and will avoid any confusion 

that may arise. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

However, the agreement is if the material 

is developed as an IPSAS. 

012 A NAO Malta agrees with the above.  Otherwise, the financial statements of public entities would include 

an additional component that private sector entities and government business enterprises would not be 

required to prepare.  Moreover, the inclusion of financial statement discussion and analysis as a 

component of the financial statements would render the preparation of the latter a more complex 

exercise.   

However, NAO opines that the content of the financial statement discussion and analysis is to be 

reviewed by external auditors for any inconsistencies with the financial statements (as per paragraph 

BC10 on page 16).  

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 
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SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

013 A Yes.  We agree that IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements will need amending to indicate that 

the financial statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements.   

However, we further suggest that it should be made clear that this section may or may not be audited 

and further, that preparers be required to make a statement as to whether the financial statement 

discussion and analysis has been audited. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

014 A We agree that this differentiation needs to be clear.  

We further suggest that paragraph 11 refer not only to the need to distinguish the FSDA from the 

financial statements, but also from other information that may be published with the financial statements. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

015 A We agree that the IPSAS 1 should be amended to indicate that the financial statement discussion and 

analysis is not a component of the financial statements. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

016 A Yes, we consider that if the IPSASB were to issue an IPSAS on FSDA it would be appropriate to clarify 

that FSDA is not a component of the financial statements.  

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

017 C While HoTARAC agrees that the FSDA is not a component of financial statements, HoTARAC does not 

agree with the modification of existing IPSASs for the proposed ED, as the majority of HoTARAC 

supports the proposals as guidance as per HoTARAC comments above. HoTARAC has offered 

suggestions in the general comments above on the degree of assurance required. 

 

Respondent disagrees because they 

believe FSDA should be in guidance and 

not an IPSAS. 

Staff position: See analysis of whether 

to proceed with an IPSAS in AP 6.1, 

SMC 1. 

018 A We agree that preferably the ED 47 would be issued as a full standard and that it would be inside the 

scope of IPSAS1 however we consider this is not practicable given the concerns we raised under 

comment 1 and therefore we agree that IPSAS 1 should be amended to clearly indicate that financial 

statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

019 A Finance agrees.  

As noted in the response to Specific Matter for Comment 1, Finance favours development of the 

proposals as a standard. Therefore, other standards should be amended as required for consistency. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 
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SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

020 A CIPFA agrees with this amendment. Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

021 C Consistent with our reply to SMC 1, there is no need for amending IPSAS1.  Respondent disagrees because they 

believe FSDA should be in guidance and 

not an IPSAS. 

Staff position: See analysis of whether 

to proceed with an IPSAS in AP 6.1, 

SMC 1. 

022 D See question 1. The respondent’s comments on SMC 1 

pertain to the lack of clarity in the 

distinction between the FSDA and the 

notes to the financial statements.  

Staff position: Staff agrees to provide 

additional guidance in the scope 

and/or definition section to clarify the 

relationship of FSDA with the notes to 

the financial statements, long-term 

fiscal sustainability reports and 

service performance reports (see SMC 

1 and SMC 3 in AP 6.1). 

023 A Yes Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

024 A Since the guidance will be issued as an IPSAS, the Province views the amendment to IPSAS 1 as a 

necessary requirement in the standard.  Without the amendment the Province would be concerned that 

our financial statement discussion and analysis would be subject to the same assurance standards as 

our financial statements. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

025 A We agree with the proposal. The proposed standards requires that, public sector entities financial 

statements discussion and analysis explain and analyses significant items, transaction and events 

presented and the trends, conditions and factors that influenced them. This clearly defines the scope of 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 
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SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

discussion and analysis as complements and supplement information presented in financial statement by 

giving insights and the perspectives thereon.  

ED 47.10 clearly indicates that financial statement discussion and analysis to be issued in conjunction 

with Financial statement. IPSAS 1: The financial statement discussion and analysis shall be prepared for 

the same reporting entity that prepares and financial statement under the accrual basis of accounting. 

ED47.9 states that financial statement discussion and analysis shall contain information that posses 

qualitative characteristics of general purpose financial reports. ED47.13 stresses that the financial 

statement discussion and analysis must comply fully with IPSAS and explicit and unreserved declaration 

of compliance be made thereof. 

Just like the notes to the financial statements discussion & analysis should be consistent with financial 

statements, and based on currently known facts and supportable assumptions. ED 47.10.  

The above requirements; minimum content, compliance with IPSAS, qualitative characteristics, 

comparability, basis of preparation and duration/period to be covered. This implies that to the extent 

possible, financial statements discussion and analysis should be in line with financial statements.  

026 C As it is our view that this material should be guidance (see our response to Specific Matter for Comment 

1), an amendment to IPSAS 1 is not necessary. 

However, if the IPSASB decision is to issue the material as a standard, we support the addition of 

paragraph 21A to IPSAS 1 as it would make clear that the FSDA forms part of the general purpose 

financial statements. 

Respondent disagrees because they 

believe FSDA should be in guidance and 

not an IPSAS. 

Staff position: See analysis of whether 

to proceed with an IPSAS in AP 6.1, 

SMC 1. Staff notes the respondent’s 

incorrect assumption that FSDA would 

form part of the financial statements if 

an ISPAS is issued. 

027 C Based on our response to specific matter for comment 1 where we propose that the Exposure Draft 

should be issued as part of a new suite of pronouncement, IPSAS 1 would not need to be amended to 

indicate that financial statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements. 

If financial statement discussion and analysis forms part of General Purpose Financial Reporting (GPFR) 

entities should be required to include two distinct statements of compliance with IPSASs and other 

Respondent disagrees because they 

believe FSDA should be in guidance and 

not an IPSAS. 

Staff position: See analysis of whether 
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SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

pronouncements – one for the financial statements and one for other information presented outside the 

financial statements.  

If the IPSASB considers the alternative view expressed in specific matter for comment 1 where the 

disclosure requirements in existing IPSASs will be expanded to require the minimum required information 

as set out in paragraph .15 of this Exposure Draft, such a statement will also not be necessary as the 

required information will be included as presented as part of the financial statements.  

to proceed with an IPSAS. 

028 A The Task Force understands that distinction of the financial statement discussion and analysis from the 

components of the financial statements allows to classify it as Other Information for audit purposes, as 

defined by International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 720 “The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other 

Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements”.  ISA 720 defines Other Information 

as “Financial and non-financial information (other than the financial statements and auditor’s report 

thereon) which is included, either by law, regulation or custom, in a document containing audited 

financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon” (para.  5a).  In relation to auditor’s responsibility, 

ISA 720 states that “in the absence of any separate requirement in the particular circumstances of the 

engagement, the auditor’s opinion does not cover other information and the auditor has no specific 

responsibility for determining whether or not other information is properly stated.  However the auditor 

reads the other information because the credibility of the audited financial statements may be 

undermined by material inconsistencies between the audited financial statements and other information” 

(para. 1).   

The Task Force is aware that the IPSASB considered this interpretation of the impact of issuing a 

standard on financial statement discussion and analysis, as presented by the IPSASB staff at the March 

2012 meeting of the Board.  Staff conclusion that financial statement discussion and analysis would 

qualify as Other Information and therefore would not be subject to audit was based on input provided by 

the IFAC’s International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 

Based on the analysis in preceding paragraphs, the Task Force agrees that IPSAS 1 should be amended 

to clearly indicate that financial statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial 

statements.  

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement 

with the SMC and the IPSASB’s rationale. 

029 A 4. We agree to amend IPSAS 1 as proposed by the ED. Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 
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SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

5. The contents of financial statement discussion and analysis proposed in the ED include information 

such as, an overview of the entity, the entity’s objectives and strategies, and its risks and 

uncertainties. It would be difficult to conduct audits of the financial statement discussion and 

analysis in comparison with the financial statements, since the information contained therein is 

often subjective and influenced by management. 

6. Therefore, it is desirable to clarify that, for entities that adopt accrual IPSASs, the financial 

statement discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements, and auditors can 

express their opinions only on the financial statements. 

030 A We agree with the proposed amendment to IPSAS 1.  Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

031 A Yes. IPSAS 1 should be amended to make it clear that management’s discussion and analysis does not 

form part of the audited financial statements, other than assurance provided on the performance 

information usually reported on in the public sector. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

032 A Yes. Financial statement discussion and analysis should not be a component of financial statements. It 

should be acknowledged as providing complimentary information for the benefit of the user, and to be 

presented in conjunction with financial statements and related notes.     

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

033 A We agree that the FSD&A should not be a component of the financial statements and it should be stated 

clearly within IPSAS 1 that the FSD&A is not a component of the financial statements.  

In addition, IPSAS 1 should also highlight that separate compliance statements be made: 

1) for the compliance of recognition, measurement and disclosure of IPSAS standards; and 

2) for the compliance of information presented in accordance with other IPSAS guidance (such as 

FSD&A, long term fiscal sustainability and service performance information). 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

033.1  In the context of paragraph 15-21 of the ED, we do not agree that the FSD&A should disallow duplicate 

information to be presented. Preparers should be able to make judgment on which piece of relevant 

information to be replicated in the FSD&A with relevant cross-references made back to the financial 

statements when necessary. We believe that the FSD&A guidance should be principles-based, and allow 

preparers to select information that would be relevant to users. Also, this prohibition could potentially be 

misleading and confusing to preparers who would be forced to provide information that is essentially 

Staff position: See proposed changes 

to Status and Scope in SMC 1 (i.e., 

new paragraphs 7A-7C). 
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SMC 2: Amendment to IPSAS 1 

already disclosed in the financial statements but expressed in a different manner.  

We also recommend that a statement similar to a disclaimer should be disclosed in the FSD&A itself; that 

it should be read in conjunction with the full financial statements, and that FSDA itself is not able to 

provide a full picture of the financial situation of an entity.   

034 B If a mandatory IPSAS is to be issued, the AASB supports the addition of paragraph 21A to IPSAS 1, to 

make clear that FSDA is not considered to be part of the notes to the financial statements.  Otherwise, 

FSDA would appear to be part of the financial statements under paragraph 21(f) of IPSAS 1, which refers 

to explanatory notes, and non-compliance with the FSDA requirements would mean that the financial 

statements would not comply with IPSASs. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

However, the agreement is based on 

whether the material is developed as an 

IPSAS.  

035 A Yes, the Province agrees that IPSAS 1 should be amended to clearly indicate that financial statement 

discussion and analysis is not a component of the financial statements.  

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

036 A Yes, I agree that IPSAS 1 should be amended to clearly indicate that financial statement discussion and 

analysis is not a component of the financial statements.  I think that in this moment the definitions and 

some questions about for use corporate governance with include risk management for public sector need 

to be transparency, objective and efficacy. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement. 

037 C We disagree. As explained to our answer to question 1 making the FSD&A guidance an IPSAS would 

bring FSD&A guidance to the same level of audit requirements because of the requirement that financial 

statements shall not be described as complying with IPSASs unless they comply with all the 

requirements of IPSASs. FSD&A are not part of general purpose financial statements. They are a 

separate report that provides management commentary on the general purpose financial statements. 

Respondent disagrees because they 

believe FSDA should be in guidance and 

not an IPSAS. 

Staff position: See analysis of whether 

to proceed with an IPSAS in AP 6.1, 

SMC 1. 
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 3:  

Is the scope of financial statement discussion and analysis clearly defined so as to distinguish it from other reports being addressed by the 

IPSASB (e.g., service performance reporting, reporting on the long-term sustainability of public finances)?  

 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 23, 26, 27, 30, 31, 32, 35 21 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to greater clarity about relation 

to Notes, LTFS and SPR) 

3, 4, 13, 16, 17, 22, 24, 25, 28, 33, 34, 36, 37 13 

C – DISAGREE ― 0 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 10, 21, 29 3 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 3: Distinction from Other Reports 

001 A We agree that the discussion and analysis must be distinguished from other issues addressed by the 

IPSASB, even if there is an interaction with other documents. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

002 A Yes.  Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

003 C The SRS-CSPCP’s attitude towards this ED is critical. It believes that the difference between Financial 

Statement Discussion and Analysis and the actual Notes to the Financial Statements is not constant. The 

Notes are clearly part of the Financial Statements and therefore of the GPFS, while Financial Statement 

Discussion and Analysis is not part of the GPFS but is part of the GPFR. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

strengthen the distinction between 

the two by providing guidance 

following the definition and linking to 

the guidance in paragraphs A.IG7, 
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B.IG28, and the illustrative example if 

it is retained (see SMC 7). 

003.1  The SRS-CSPCP is of the opinion that it should be clearly understood from the ED that this paper does 

not belong to the GPFS but belong to the other GPFR. Therefore it would have to be mentioned that the 

Financial Statement Commentary is not a Financial Statement and that it is part of the same group as 

Service Performance Reporting or Reporting on the long term sustainability of public finances. 

Staff position: Staff will consider this 

comment in light of those in SMC 1. 

Staff does not consider FSDA to be 

the same as the other two types of 

reports as it is closely linked to the 

entity’s financial statements. 

However, staff agrees to provide 

additional guidance in the scope 

and/or definition section to clarify 

the relationship of FSDA with the 

notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 

004 B The CNOCP believes that the respective scopes of the different documents are not precise enough. As 

the exposure draft shows, some items provided for inclusion in financial statement discussion and analysis 

could also appear either in the notes or in sustainability reporting. 

To clarify the scope of and relationships between the various financial documents that may be published, 

the CNOCP suggests making reference to the two key components of public finance, namely: 

 Accounting, which includes: 

o the financial statements which are in the scope of accounting standard-setting; 

o and if necessary, according to national regulations, a Presentation Report on Financial 

Statements; 

 budget, to which the budget and its outturn could be attached, along with service performance and 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

strengthen the distinction between 

the two by providing guidance 

following the definition and linking to 

the guidance in paragraphs A.IG7, 

B.IG28, and the illustrative example if 

it is retained (see SMC 7). 
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sustainability reporting. 

The IPSAS Board intends to “supplement” the financial statements. However the statements should be 

self-sufficient. A Presentation Report on Financial Statements, as the CNOCP understands it (i.e. without 

forward-looking information or an assessment of public policy), should merely provide analyses and 

highlight key points to make the statements easier to read and understand. 

005 A The scope is clearly defined. However, as outlined in our response to “Specific Matter for Comment 2”, we 

favour the FSDA being established as integral part of the complete set of financial statements. The 

replication of definitions and explanations advised by single IPSAS standards should be removed as 

mandatory elements from ED47.  

In particular, we strongly disagree with the short explanation of the elements of the financial statements 

advised by ED47.21, as this would pad out the FSDA. As the related guidance will be released as an 

IPSAS, the embedding into the IPSAS framework and into the context of all other IPSASs will be inherent. 

IPSAS 1 defines the elements of financial statements and provides the basic definitions, technical terms 

and underlying principles. We are convinced that definitions, technical terms and underlying principles 

introduced by IPSAS 1 or another IPSAS should not be required to be repeatedly defined or explained in 

the annual FSDA. We are furthermore convinced that the financial statements, and with it the FSDA, are 

addressed to readers with a certain knowledge of financial reporting. The presentation of such generic 

information should thus be voluntary and should be left to the discretion of the preparer of the financial 

statements rather than being established as required guidance. For that reason, we propose the following 

wording of paragraph ED47.21 (changes to the original wording are stated in bold print): “(...) A brief 

discussion of the purpose of, and information provided by, each component of the financial statements set 

out in IPSAS1, and their interrelationships may also be provided.(...)”.  

Staff position: The IPSASB had 

agreed it was important to highlight 

what the financial statements do 

include, to avoid confusion as to 

whether FSDA is part of the financial 

statements. The inclusion of the 

elements of the financial statements 

is intended to highlight that 

distinction. 

006 A Yes, every scope serves its own objectives. In some cases (cross-) reference might be adequate. We 

consider the Implementation Guidance and the Illustrative Example as very useful. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

007 A Yes Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

008 A The scope of financial statement discussion and analysis has been clearly defined as highlighted by Staff notes the respondent’s 
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paragraph 15 of the proposed standard. agreement. 

009 A [From paragraph 3 of the response letter] 

c. In response to Comment 3 (Is the scope of financial statement discussion and analysis clearly defined 

so as to distinguish it from other issues being addressed by the IPSASB (e.g., financial statements, 

service performance reporting, reporting on the long-term sustainability of public finances)?, we agree. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

010 B In our view there is an overlap between the ED and other areas of reporting that IPSASB is seeking to 

address, such as service performance reporting. However, if these areas are published as supporting 

guidance and best practice the ED will serve to reinforce them. This will also require the proposed 

standard and guidance to be appropriately cross-referenced.   

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 

011 A ACAG believes the definition of financial statement discussion and analysis is appropriate and 

distinguishes it from other issues being addressed by the IPSASB. 

However, in ACAG’s view certain information included in the Implementation Guidance overlaps with 

information currently included and required in financial statements. Refer to comments included under 

Specific matter for comment 6. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

012 A Yes, agreed.   Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

013 B No.  We do not consider that the scope clearly articulates that the information to be provided in the 

financial statement discussion and analysis is different from that when reporting service performance 

information, or reporting on long-term fiscal sustainability. 

We suggest that the scope could be more clearly defined if paragraph 3 was amended to read (new text 

underlined): 

This Standard applies only to financial statement discussion and analysis.  It does 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 
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not apply to other information included in public documents issued in conjunction 

with the financial statements such as information on service performance. 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 

014 A Yes, the scope section distinguishes the FSDA reporting from other issues that are currently under 

consideration by the IPSASB. In our view, in order to be useful to readers, it is particularly important that 

FSDA reporting is not overly extensive. We therefore support the statement in BC13 that FSDA is required 

to “include significant items, transaction and events that are presented in an entity’s financial statements to 

the extent that it does not replicate information in the financial statements”.  

However, in regard to the proposed scope of the exposure draft we also refer to our main concerns 

addressed in the accompanying letter in respect of the IPSASB’s decision not to require the inclusion of 

any forward looking information.  

Paragraph 2 clarifies that the FSDA shall be prepared for the same reporting entity that prepares financial 

statements under the accrual basis of accounting. In our opinion, a similar clarification that the FSDA shall 

cover the same period as the financial statements whose issuance it shall accompany would also be 

helpful. Whilst paragraphs 6 and 7 do allude to this, firm clarification would be more appropriate. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

 

Comments on forward looking 

information are addressed in that 

section below. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to add 

guidance requiring the FSDA cover 

the same reporting period as the 

financial statements, for clarity (see 

SMC 1 in AP 6.1). 

015 A We agree.  Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

016 B As outlined in our cover letter we consider that the scope of FSDA, as outlined in ED 47, needs further 

clarification. We note there instances where we consider further development is required.   

In instances where an entity is already likely to have made disclosures in the financial statements that are 

relevant to FSDA, we consider that there needs to be more guidance on deciding what additional 

information should be reported in the FSDA.  

We consider that service performance reporting is an essential component of a general purpose financial 

report and that a service performance report should be accompanied by associated explanations (similar 

to the discussion and analysis of the financial statements). The two forms of commentary need to be well 

connected: for example, poorer financial performance can limit the levels of service performance, or higher 

levels of service performance may cause higher levels of expenditure which negatively affect financial 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 
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performance.  

The financial statements report on historical events and transactions. We consider that as the purpose of 

the FSDA is to provide users with a better understanding of those historical events and transactions, and 

any requirements to discuss future events and transactions or provide oriented information should be 

limited and appropriately justified. 

017 B While HoTARAC agrees that the financial statements and the FSDA are clearly differentiated, the 

distinction is not clear with regards to other types of reported information.  

HoTARAC considers the distinctions between FSDA, service performance reporting and long-term 

sustainability reporting are not clear as the types of information to be addressed in those projects would 

potentially overlap. For example, dimensions of service performance information such as information on 

the entity’s objectives and comparisons of actual performance to targeted results including information on 

factors that influence results, overlap with the minimum required content proposed in the ED. 

HoTARAC also recommends the IPSASB draw clear and consistent relationship with the IFRS Practice 

Statement. While IPSASB intends FSDA to address similar matters to the IFRS Practice Statement (as 

suggested in paragraph BC3), its intended demarcation from service performance and long-term fiscal 

sustainability reporting and the exclusion of forward-looking information proposed in the ED seem to 

suggest the content to be addressed in the FSDA is narrower. 

A minority of HoTARAC jurisdictions suggested combining the FSDA, service performance reporting and 

long-term sustainability reporting to one guidance to address information outside financial statements.  

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 

018 A We consider the financial statement discussion and analysis scope to be sufficiently well defined and we 

consider it complimentary to the other issues being addressed by IPSASB.  

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

019 A Finance agrees, subjects to our comments on the content of FSDA in Specific Matter for Comment 4.  

Finance suggests rewording paragraph 11 to clarify the FSDA is separate from both the financial 

statements and other information in the General Purpose Financial Reports not subject to IPSASs. This 

will clearly distinguish commentary prepared under the proposal with other management commentaries 

(for example the chairman/director’s report). 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

020 A There will generally be linkages between the various components of wider financial reporting, and a Staff notes the respondent’s 
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precise and objective separation may not be possible. However, the draft IPSAS provides a workable 

basis under which preparers should be able to develop sensible and useful reporting.    

agreement. 

021 D There seems to be confusion as well as regards budget information and financial statements. To this 

respect, it would be useful and crucial for the IPSASB to draw all the consequences from “the importance 

of the budget” which was identified as a key characteristic of the Public Sector in the IPSASB 2011 

Consultation on “Key characteristics of the Public Sector and their potential implications for financial 

reporting”.  

Staff position: The Key 

Characteristics document is 

currently slated for approval with 

Phase 1 of the Conceptual 

Framework (planned for December 

2012).  

Staff will consider whether it is 

necessary to reiterate text from that 

document in the FSDA 

pronouncement (e.g., as part of the 

basis for conclusions supporting 

why this information is important).  

(See also analysis of SMC 4 in AP 

6.1.) 

022 B See question 1.  

022.1  Comments from section 1: 

The ED creates confusion and raises a number of issues. Specifically, it makes no distinction between 

information drawn from financial statement notes and information taken from the Document. This 

confusion stems from both the way the Document is defined and the examples used for illustrative 

purposes in the ED.  

The confusion between financial statement notes and the Document is heightened by some of the 

examples used for illustration purposes in the ED that correspond to information already required in the 

notes. This is the case, for instance, with the change in the net value of tangible fixed assets, the 

breakdown of debt by currency, the depreciation of loans granted and information relating to post-balance 

sheet events. 

Staff notes the respondent’s confusion 

regarding material to be included in 

FSDA versus the notes to the financial 

statements.  

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

strengthen the distinction between 

the two by providing guidance 

following the definition and linking to 

the guidance in paragraphs A.IG7, 

B.IG28, and the illustrative example if 

it is retained (see SMC 7). 
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023 A Yes Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

024 B The standard states that the IPSAS will only apply to financial statement analysis and discussion and does 

not apply to other information issued with the financial statements.  The Province is of the view that the 

scope of the IPSAS should be amended to specifically exclude information on service performance and 

long term sustainability.  The Province recommends that these reports be specifically excluded given 

IPSASB’s recent Consultation Paper “Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting”. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 

025 B Financial statement discussion and analysis is not expected to replicate or rather reproduce information 

presented in the financial statement. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 

026 A Paragraph 11 of the exposure draft, clearly separates FSDA from the financial statement s and paragraph 

15 sets out the minimum required content. The statement in paragraph 24 that there is no requirement for 

the FSDA to include forward-looking information is a point of difference from the report on the long-term 

sustainability of public finances. Nevertheless, the exposure draft generally is not precise as to the 

boundary of the information that is FSDA and not part of service performance and/or long term 

sustainability of public finances reports – an outcome that is not helpful to preparers or users. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

027 A We agree that the scope of financial statement discussion and analysis is clearly defined to distinguish it 

from other issues being addressed by the IPSASB, but we propose that the paragraph should be 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 
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expanded to clarify that the financial statement discussion and analysis should be separately identified to 

ensure that it is distinguished from any other information.  

We are, however, of the view that certain areas relating to the scope isn’t clearly dealt with in the body of 

the text. For example, the scope relates to information about the annual financial statements, but the 

proposed pronouncement requires information about strategies and risks, which doesn’t really relate to the 

annual financial statements. 

We also believe that in future, the scope of this report should be expanded to deal with other issues, so 

that one report is prepared to cover all issues, i.e. performance information, sustainability and financial 

issues. 

The inclusion of an example in paragraph .03 (ie service performance information) will also be useful in 

understanding what “other information included in public documents issued in conjunction with the 

financial statements” entails. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 

028 B Distinction between scope of financial statement discussion and analysis and financial statements is 

generally clear with the following exception.  According to paragraph 24A proposed to be added to IPSAS 

1 and proposed modifications made to paragraph 19 of IPSAS 24 (Appendix A of the ED 47), a reporting 

entity may elect to explain material differences between the budgeted and actual amounts in financial 

statement discussion and analysis rather than in notes to the financial statements.  Based on the 

Implementation Guidance to ED 47, there are a number of other examples where a reporting entity may 

choose to present information in financial statement discussion and analysis rather than by way of note 

disclosure.   

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 4 in AP 

6.1). 

029 D 7. We suggest that the IPSASB should clarify how the requirements in this ED relate to other IPSASs 

that have similar requirements (e.g., contingencies and events occurring after reporting date in 

paragraph 21, and IPSAS 19.100, 19.105 and IPSAS 14.30).  

8. We suggest stating in the ED that, when contingencies and events occurring after reporting date are 

closely connected to the financial statements, they should be described primarily in the notes in 

accordance with IPSAS 19 and IPSAS 14. And for additional explanatory information, including 

background information and the analysis, or other contingencies and events occurring after reporting 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 
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date that are outside the scope of IPSAS 19 and IPSAS 14, it should be described in the financial 

statement discussion and analysis. 

9. We believe that paragraph 3 of the ED should exemplify other public documents as underlined 

below, in order to distinguish the material presented in this ED from other reporting requirements and 

guidelines. 

reports (see SMC 1 and SMC 3 in AP 

6.1). 

See also SMC 6 for specific 

proposals regarding item 7. 

 

029.1  Proposed revision to the ED (underlined) 

3. This Standard …analysis. It does not apply to other information included in public documents issued in 

conjunction with the financial statements such as: 

 (a) service performance information 

 (b) information on the long-term sustainability of a public sector entity’s finances 

Staff position: Staff agrees with the 

revision proposed by the 

respondent. See AP 6.1, SMC 1 for 

staff’s proposed wording change. 

030 A Yes. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

031 A Yes, the scope is clearly defined. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

032 A Yes, the scope is clearly defined. However, the scope should not be expanded to be an authoritative 

standard, but should follow non prescriptive general guidance. IPSASB should avoid including extensive, 

detailed examples in the guidance as the preparer and audit community may misinterpret the examples as 

suggesting the actual level of detail that should be included.  For example, the sample Financial 

Statement Discussion and Analysis included in the exposure draft included information on the debt as a 

percent of GDP between different countries.  This level of detail in an authoritative standard may influence 

auditors to expect this specific disclosure in all FSD&As. Certain governments such as municipal 

governments may have little or no debt, making this type of disclosure of little value to the users of the 

financial statements. Inclusion of this sample in an authoritative standard may set an expectation that this 

information must be included even if other measures are of more value to users. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

Respondent’s comments on issue as an 

IPSAS (SMC 1) and Examples (SMC 7) 

are reproduced in those sections. 

033 B The scope paragraph in the ED currently does not distinguish FSD&A explicitly from other reporting 

requirements being addressed by the IPSASB including service performance reporting and long-term 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 
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sustainability of public finances.  

We recommend that the scoping paragraphs discuss how the requirements for FSD&A interact with 

service performance reporting and long-term sustainability reporting (and vice versa). Besides clarifying 

the scope, it would be useful to define the objective of this guidance in consideration of the other reporting 

issues, and with reference to phase 4 of the conceptual framework project, and how the objectives of 

presentation and disclosures are achieved through the requirements of this ED.  

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see AP 6.1, SMC 1 and SMC 

3). 

033.1  We also find the scope and linkage of the proposed guidance to the rest of the financial report to be 

unclear. Firstly, we are unsure whether it is limited to financial information or also covers non-financial 

information such as service performance reporting. Secondly, the relationship of FSD&A with financial 

statements needs to be clarified. The ED states that the FSD&A is not part of the financial statements (and 

amends IPSAS 1 to distinguish it), but creating a physical separation does not help explain the 

relationship between the two sets of information, given that there is overlap between the information that 

would be required in FSD&A and information (e.g. notes to the financial statements) that is already 

required under other IPSASs. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see AP 6.1, SMC 1 and SMC 

3). 

034 B However, the AASB has significant concerns with how the proposals for a Financial Statement Discussion 

and Analysis (FSDA) would fit within the IPSASB’s overarching view of general purpose financial reporting 

relative to other “broad scope” components being considered in other IPSASB projects, such as service 

performance reporting and reporting on the long-term sustainability of an entity’s finances.  [Staff note: 

From General Comments in the response.] 

The AASB has significant concerns with how the proposals for FSDA would fit within the IPSASB’s 

overarching view of general purpose financial reporting.  Aspects of the IPSASB’s projects on service 

performance reporting and reporting on the long-term sustainability of an entity’s finances can be seen to 

be covered by FSDA requirements. 

For example, the AASB believes that service performance information could be encompassed by the 

definition of FSDA, e.g. performance efforts would be reflected in the transactions and events recognised 

in the financial statements and thus subject to FSDA explanation.  More specifically, paragraph 18(e) of 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see AP 6.1, SMC 1 and SMC 

3). 
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the ED refers to information about service delivery methods and changes therein, which could well be a 

feature of service performance information.  In addition, discussions about the entity’s performance/ 

objectives/strategy could give indicators of the long-term sustainability of the entity. 

The AASB believes that more work is required by the IPSASB to properly distinguish the expected 

reporting outcomes of its various projects that address the broader scope of general purpose financial 

reporting. 

035 A Yes, the scope is adequately distinguished from other issues being addressed by IPSASB. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

036 B I think that in relation scope for financial statement discussion and analysis for public sector is very 

complex principally related sustainability of public finances.  In this case I understand that IPSASB need to 

have informations of jurisdictions about the structure of financial statements.  

In relation the financial statements, service performance reporting, reporting on the long-term sustainability 

of public finances are integrated with accountant system information, but I have difficult of understand if 

the public sector in this moment the system has this structure. 

The public sector structure for accountant informations is very complex the GASB make studies about 

Government Combinations and Disposals of Government Operations
12

 and Economic Condition 

Reporting: Financial Projections
13

 that I think can be increase more informations in details about Financial 

Reporting structure. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports (see AP 6.1, SMC 1 and SMC 

3). 

037 B We disagree with FSD&A being included as an IPSAS. FSD&A guidance should be issued as a 

recommended practice guideline. 

We also believe that IPSASs should be limited to the guidance that supports financial statements. Having 

IPSASs also support performance reporting and the reporting on the long-term sustainability of public 

finances would mean that an entity would not be able to comply with the IPSAS 1 requirement that 

financial statements shall not be described as complying with IPSASs unless they comply with all the 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

                                                 
12

  http://www.gasb.org/jsp/GASB/CommentLetter_C/GASBCommentLetterPage&cid=1176157116776&project_id=3-17E 

13
  http://www.gasb.org/jsp/GASB/CommentLetter_C/GASBCommentLetterPage&cid=1176157116776&project_id=13-3PV 
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requirements of IPSASs. Entities would not be able to meet this requirement unless they concurrently 

issue all the general purpose financial reports that IPSASB might include in IPSASs. 

reports and service performance 

reports (see AP 6.1, SMC 1 and SMC 

3). 
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 4:  

Is the required content for financial statement discussion and analysis appropriate?  

 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 21, 24, 28, 31, 36 15 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to specific suggestions for 

improvement) 

1, 4, 5, 9, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 26, 27, 29, 30, 33, 34 18 

C – DISAGREE 33, 35, 37 3 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 25 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 4: Required Content of FSDA 

001 B As indicated in our overall opinion we believe that the scope of the discussion and analysis need to be 

broadened. 

Comments from overall opinion of the response follow: 

In our opinion the scope of the suggested document is too restricted. We agree, as described in the 

Basis for Conclusions, that it is not possible to build a “management discussion and analysis” in the same 

way as in the private sector. On the other hand the scope is too when it deals with just the financial 

statements. These are seldom good enough to measure the real targets of a public entity. However we 

find parts of such discussion and analyses material in the illustrative example. 

For a sovereign government financial targets are often linked to the system of national accounts, which 

means other measurements as well as other demarcations of the entity as such, for example the whole 

Staff position: Staff does not 

consider the scope of the project 

should be broadened at this stage. 

The Project Brief, approved in March 

2008, was reaffirmed by the IPSASB 

in March 2011, and the project has 

proceeded on this basis. 

The IPSASB’s rationale for the need 

for FSDA which relates to the 

financial statements is set out in 

paragraphs BC1-BC11, and more 
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public sector of the nation or state. The financial statements are therefore just a starting point of an 

analysis, not in itself the scope of a meaningful analysis. Some targets may of course be possible to 

discuss and analyze entirely based on the statements, but not all of the most relevant ones. Financial 

targets may also be of a multi-year type. 

On the other hand for a government ministry or agency a meaningful discussion and analysis need to 

take into account what is achieved. That is seldom evident from the financial statements. For the 

discussion and analysis to be meaningful you therefore need to include output and outcome data (that 

might be accounted for in reports that are yet not included in IPSASs, for example service performance 

reporting). 

specifically BC5.  

Accordingly, staff does not 

recommend broadening the scope of 

this project. 

As noted regarding SMC 3 

responses, staff agrees to provide 

additional guidance in the scope 

and/or definition section to clarify 

the relationship of FSDA with the 

notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports. 

002 A Yes.  Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

003 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees in principle with the content required (Sections 15 to 32, pages 8-11) for the 

Financial Statement Commentary. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

004 B The CNOCP supports the idea of a separate document that supplements the financial statements of an 

entity, enabling an analysis of the statements. The CNOCP notes that this type of document exists in 

many situations, following a wide range of more or less specific requirements. Moreover, this kind of 

document is especially important since there is often a fundamental separation between the person or 

entity that commits the spending and the accountant. Accordingly, the Presentation Report on Financial 

Statements is a valuable document in which decision-makers can provide essential explanations
14

 to 

ensure the clarity of financial statements produced chiefly by accountants. 

The CNOCP stresses that the aim is to promote a better understanding of a given financial situation and 

Staff position: As noted regarding 

SMC 3 responses, staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

                                                 
14

  e.g. highlight a specific investment to explain the levels of and changes in certain balance sheet items. 
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the main contributing factors, not to assess the appropriateness or performance of public policy. As 

mentioned in the response to question 3, questions of whether to put information in the notes or in the 

report need to be clarified, and the Presentation Report on Financial Statements should not include 

forward-looking elements.  

1
 e.g. highlight a specific investment to explain the levels of and changes in certain balance sheet items. 

reports. 

005 B We believe that the current draft invites to duplicating information rather than focussing on providing 

additional explanations, e.g. the required information about the entity’s risks and uncertainties (ED47.15 

(d)) is overlapping the risk report required by IPSAS 30.  

To avoid duplications, the standard should support cross-references between the single elements of the 

financial statements including the FSDA. We deem it appropriate to cover all aspects of e.g. risk 

management at one place rather than spreading the related information over the FSDA and the 

explanatory notes. 

As a prerequisite, all elements should be published in one physical document. A respective guidance on 

the latter point should be included in ED47.7. Therefore, we propose the following wording (changes to 

the original wording are stated in bold print): “IPSAS 1 requires financial statements to be prepared at 

least annually. Some (...) in conjunction with the entity’s annual financial statements. The financial 

statement discussion and analysis shall be published in the same document as the financial 

statements.” 

Staff position: As noted regarding 

SMC 3 responses, staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports. 

006 A Yes. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

007 A Yes Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

008 A The content of the proposed standard seems to be appropriate; we have got no divergent views. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

009 B [From paragraph 3 of the response letter] 

c. In response to Comment 4 (Is the required content for financial statement discussion and analysis 

appropriate?), we agree but would like to have seen the following included: an overview of the 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

consider adding the items in ‘c’ to 

paragraph 18 as further examples in 
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entity’s structure,  the organizational scope of the Accounting Officer’s responsibilities, the 

geographic location of significant offices and service delivery points, and staffing levels in significant 

branches.  

the overview section of FSDA.  

 

009.1  In addition, we would like the following to be considered: 

1) A FSD&A should describe the significant events and activities that have affected the implementation 

of the entity’s budget.  An analysis should be provided of at least the last five financial years 

indicating the key changes to the entity’s budget, actual financial results and any significant trends.  

In contrast, ED 47 only states (paragraph C.IG6, page 30): “Trend analysis may cover several prior 

years if the information is available and can be presented in a consistent manner.” 

 

Staff position: Staff does not 

consider this pronouncement is the 

place for detailed guidance on 

actual-to-budget comparisons; such 

guidance, if required, would be 

provided in IPSAS 24 Presentation of 

Budget Information in Financial 

Statements. 

009.2  2) More information should be provided to explain and account for all significant variances between 

the actual and the budgeted revenue and expenditure.  Guidance should be provided on the level of 

detail to be provided which is necessary to ensure the Accounting Officer is actually held 

accountable to the governing body and the public for their management of the entity’s budget.  The 

only guidance contained in the current ED is: “26.  To the extent such information is not included in 

the financial statements, financial statement discussion and analysis should include information 

about significant positive and negative variances between: (a) Actual results and the budget; and 

(b) The prior year and current year financial statements, by explaining significant changes and 

highlighting trends.”  In contrast, far more detail is provided in ED 47 on the information which is to 

be provided on the risks and uncertainties the entity faces.  There should be a balance between 

accounting for past actions and results, and providing indications of the future financial performance 

of the entity. 

3) Full details and explanations are required where any budgeted amounts or appropriations have 

been exceeded or expenses incurred without appropriate authority from the governing body.  This 

should include details of what expenditure was found to be necessary, what steps were taken to 

obtain appropriate authority for the expenditure and how information about this expenditure was 

reported to senior officials and governing body at the earliest possible date. Details and 

explanations are also required to account for significant under-spending of budgeted amounts. 

Staff position: It is not the objective 

of this project to ensure 

accountability, but to provide the 

means for entities to be accountable 

based on the financial reporting and 

legislative framework in their own 

jurisdictions. 
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009.2  4) An explanation should be provided of the following sentence from paragraph 14 of IPSAS 24 (and 

also paragraph 1.9.8 of the Cash Basis IPSAS): “The comparison of budget and actual amounts 

shall present separately for each level of legislative oversight. 

Staff position: Staff does not 

consider this pronouncement is the 

place for detailed guidance on 

actual-to-budget comparisons; such 

guidance, if required, would be 

provided in IPSAS 24 Presentation of 

Budget Information in Financial 

Statements. 

009.3  There should be encouragement that narrative reports are concise and avoid either platitudes or 

becoming condescending to users. However, we recognize that it is difficult to be prescriptive in relation 

to such matters 

Staff position: Staff considers A.IG4 

to address the respondent’s 

comment and does not propose any 

further guidance in this regard. 

010 A Yes, we agree that the required content is appropriate and consistent with reporting in similar sectors i.e. 

the charitable sector.  We also agree that reporting on risk and uncertainties should go beyond a public 

entity making a statement confirming that the major risks to which the organisation has been exposed 

have been reviewed and systems or procedures have been established to manage those risks.  

However, in our view the current ED underestimates the difficulties that could be encountered by public 

entities reporting on significant risks which are the result of a government led policy initiative gone wrong 

or where reporting risks are not deemed to be in the public interest. It would be helpful if the proposed 

standard could provide further guidance for public entities on addressing these types of issue. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

011 A Overall, ACAG believes that the required content as outlined in paragraph 15-32 of the ED is appropriate, 

and generally reflects the types of information currently required in Australian public sector annual 

reports. However, we provide the following comments with regards to these paragraphs. 

Paragraph 21 requires a brief discussion of the purpose of, and information provided by, each component 

of the financial statements set out in IPSAS 1, and their interrelationships. The Illustrative Example then 

includes several paragraphs to demonstrate how this requirement might be met. In ACAG’s view, this is 

not necessary given the Conceptual Framework provides that users of GPFRs are assumed to have 

reasonable knowledge and be able to read GPFRs. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 
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012 A Yes, it is appropriate.  Moreover, the part on information about the entity’s objectives and strategies is to 

include whether such objectives and strategies are being achieved, and what progress has been made in 

this regard during the year under review and in the previous year.   

NAO Malta also opines that the discussion and analysis would be expanded to include how the reporting 

of service performance information and of the long-term sustainability of public finances relate to financial 

statement results.   

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

013 A Yes.  We agree that the required content for financial statement discussion and analysis is appropriate. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

014 B In regard to the proposed content of the exposure draft we also refer to our main concerns addressed in 

the accompanying letter in respect of the IPSASB’s decision not to require the inclusion of any forward 

looking information.  

We appreciate the IPSASB’s desire to avoid a checklist approach in determining the content and format 

of presentation of FSDA (BC14). At the same time, we also consider it desirable for a higher degree of 

comparability to be sought both in an entity’s reporting over time and between entities. 

We have a number of comments in regard to the content in this context:  

Level of authority attaching to significant material 

The exposure draft is extremely short, given the scope of the report it is to relate to. In our view, the 

standard needs to be more detailed in certain areas, and non-authoritative implementation guidance 

should not be used to compensate for material that would be more appropriately placed in the final 

standard. We discuss certain such areas below.  

Staff position: Staff notes that the 

IPSASB’s objective in the project 

was to develop principles for FSDA 

without being prescriptive. The 

principles are in the body of ED 47 

and the guidance is intended to 

show ways in which the principles 

would be satisfied. This was 

premised on the fact that the 

IPSASB also proposed that FSDA be 

mandatory, and the material would 

be released as an IPSAS. 

014.1  Use of Subheadings 

Including and in addition to the matters identified in paragraph 15, we would like to suggest that the 

IPSASB mandate the use of subheadings to order the narrative content. This would make the report 

easier to understand and enhance transparency for readers. It would also encourage comparability in 

such reports from year to year as well as between entities. 

 

Staff position: Staff does not 

consider it necessary to mandate 

use of headings in light of the fact 

that the IPSASB’s objective in the 

project was to develop principles for 

FSDA without being prescriptive. 

The use of headings is a matter for 
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the preparer’s judgment. 

014.2  In addition to the matters identified in (a) – (d) of paragraph 15, we suggest that matters such as post 

balance sheet events (mentioned in paragraph 30 as “additional information”) and any significant so-

called “one off factors” that may have occurred should also be considered for inclusion under their own 

headings to the extent that a public sector entity is affected. Where there are no such matters to be 

reported, no subheadings would be needed. 

Staff position: Staff disagrees. Staff 

agrees with respondent #17 below, 

who suggests these items can be 

deleted. 

Staff does not consider it necessary 

for the pronouncement to outline the 

level of detailed presentation 

suggested by the respondent. 

014.3  Application of qualitative characteristics 

In our opinion, the section dealing with qualitative characteristics (comprising only paragraph 9) is not 

sufficiently detailed. We appreciate that the implementation guidance contains a more detailed discussion 

of the qualitative characteristics, but believe that this section would benefit from expansion within the 

body of the standard. For example, whilst IPSAS 1.27 stipulates that financial statements shall achieve 

fair presentation, we note that there is no equivalent requirement for FSDA to achieve fair presentation. 

In our view, as a minimum, such requirements need to be specified.  

We also appreciate that further changes to this section in particular may be necessary once the 

IPSASB’s Conceptual Framework Project has been finalized.  

Staff position: Staff considers the 

QCs to be more in the nature of an 

underpinning of this 

pronouncement, and not the subject 

matter. Accordingly, staff considers 

the level of detail in the body vs. the 

guidance to be appropriate and does 

not propose changes.  

Staff notes the material will need to 

be updated when Phase 1 of the CF 

is issued. 

014.4  Financial performance measures 

The first sentence of paragraph 22 refers to the possible inclusion of performance measures that are not 

required or defined by IPSASs, but which may nevertheless be included in the FSDA. In addition to 

requiring such measures to be defined and explained, we would like to suggest including a requirement 

for them to be reconciled to items presented in the financial statements (without exception), since the 

information needs to be consistent with the financial statements. 

Staff position: Staff notes that in 

cases where the FSDA measures go 

beyond those in the financial 

statements it may not be possible 

for them to be reconciled to the 

financial statements. Staff disagrees 

and notes that paragraph 40 of the 

IFRS guidance contains the wording 
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on which paragraph 22 was based. 

015 B We agree, however see our comments in paragraphs three and four on some matters. Staff notes the respondent’s overall 

agreement with the content of FSDA.  

The specific comments relate to the 

Implementation Guidance (see SMC 6). 

016 B Subject to our preference that the guidance be voluntary, and our comments about the need to clarify the 

links between FSDA and other types of information presented by an entity, we consider that the proposed 

content is generally appropriate. 

See specific comments immediately 

below. 

016.1  We note that the proposed content is broadly similar to that required by the U.S. Securities and 

Exchange Commission’s (SEC) Form 10-Q. Form 10-Q, together with Item 303 of Regulation S-K 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is 

one of the most commonly requested mandatory financial filings requested by investors. We are not 

suggesting that the disclosures should be identical to those required in the private sector but, given the 

focus on user needs in the IPSASB’s developing conceptual framework, the IPSASB might want to 

consider why these disclosures are useful. 

Staff position: Staff will consider the 

relevance of the requirements of 

Regulation S-K for public companies 

to FSDA.  

in finalizing the proposed standard 

to the extent they are not in conflict 

with the required content in ED 47. It 

is not the intent to completely 

replace the material presented in ED 

47, but if there is helpful guidance to 

explain material in ED 47, staff will 

consider it. 

Staff notes that some of the items 

required are consistent with those in 

ED 47.  

016.2  The ED does not address the issue of entities presenting information on a basis different to that in the 

financial statements (commonly referred to as non-GAAP information). We note that a number of 

regulators have issued or are considering issuing guidance on non-GAAP information. One of the matters 

they are addressing is whether additional disclosures should be made so that the non-GAAP information 

is not misleading. Although the IPSASB is not a regulator, a discussion of non-GAAP information could 

Staff position: Staff considers that 

para. 22 addresses the issue of non-

GAAP information, and does not 

propose changes. 
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be appropriate in the context of discussing the requirement in paragraph 10 that “financial statement 

discussion and analysis shall be consistent with the financial statements”. 

017 B Subject to the General Comments above, in particular on the omission of forward-looking information, 

HoTARAC agrees that overall the required content is generally appropriate as guidance and HoTARAC 

suggests the wording be changed from “required” to “recommended”.  

Staff position: If the IPSASB agrees 

to issue guidance rather than an 

IPSAS on FSDA, staff agrees to 

make the proposed change. 

017.1  HoTARAC believes the FSDA should be capable of being read as a standalone document, with users 

being able to refer to the financial statements and other publicly available information to gain further 

insight into a particular point. To this end HoTARAC agrees that the FSDA should avoid unnecessary 

duplication of information in the financial statements. However HoTARAC would recommend the 

language in paragraph 15 be refined to include similar words to paragraph A.IG7 and the IFRS Practice 

Statement that relevant information should be included where necessary for the analysis, avoiding 

replication of financial statement information where practicable. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to add 

this guidance (see  AP 6.1, SMC 4). 

017.2  Paragraph 21 requires a discussion of significant commitments, contingencies and events occurring after 

balance date. These are already disclosed under IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, IPSAS 

19 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and IPSAS 14 Events After the Reporting 

Date. As the FSDA is a discussion of significant items, transactions and events presented in the financial 

statements, HoTARAC is of the view that this type of information does not need to be distinguished from 

other types of financial statement information in its application of the FSDA requirement and, accordingly, 

the last sentence of paragraph 21 should be deleted. 

Staff position: Staff agrees this 

sentence could be deleted. 

017.3  A minority of HoTARAC jurisdictions would prefer the Content Elements proposed in the IIRC discussion 

paper. 

In the response to Specific Matter for Comment 6, HoTARAC has also provided comments on the 

examples of information in Section B of the Implementation Guidance. 

Staff position: Staff will consider the 

content elements in the IIRC 

discussion paper in finalizing the 

proposed standard to the extent they 

are not in conflict with the required 

content in ED 47. It is not the intent 

to completely replace the material 

presented in ED 47, but if there is 
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helpful guidance to explain material 

in ED 47, staff will consider it. 

018 B We agree that it is appropriate for the required content to include; information on the market the entity 

operates in, highlights of the year, key performance indicators, financing review and going concern, risk 

management and “corporate” responsibility.  

Staff position: Staff notes these 

items are addressed in ED 47, 

except for KPIs (which are the 

subject of the SPR project, and 

‘corporate responsibility’ which is 

not a term that is widely used in the 

public sector, and which may be 

addressed by the SPR project to 

some extent. It may also relate to 

private sector sustainability reports 

(other than LTFS). It has been 

suggested by other respondents that 

there is no need to reference 

specific financial statement 

disclosures such as going concern. 

019 B Subject to the comments above on the scope of the proposals, Finance agrees that overall the required 

content is appropriate. Finance supports HoTARAC’s comment that the FSDA should be capable of 

being read as a standalone document. Finance is of the view that the FSDA should enable report users 

to refer to the financial statements and other publicly available information to gain further insight into a 

particular point. To this end Finance recommends that the FSDA should avoid unnecessary duplication of 

information already in the financial statements and that the FSDA include cross references to other 

publicly available information where appropriate.  

In the response to Specific Matter for Comment 6, Finance has also provided comments on the examples 

of information in Section B of the Implementation Guidance.  

Staff considers para. 22 (as revised 

– see AP 6.1, SMC 4) to address the 

respondent’s concerns.  

See also SMC 6. 

020 B Subject to our response to SMfC 1, CIPFA agrees that the required content is appropriate? Staff position: No additional 

changes proposed. 
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021 A As stated above, we agree with the “minimum required content” developed from paragraph 15 up to 

paragraph 23.  

Staff notes the respondent’s overall 

agreement with the content of FSDA.  

022 B See question 1. 

In our view, the Document should aim to analyse and comment on changes in the public entity’s mandate 

and the way it carries it out, on the resources allocated to it, on the economic and social context and the 

financial and accounting consequences of these factors as seen by its management.  

This analysis is relevant only if: 

- it is carried out in accordance with the policies decided on by management; 

- it makes connections between accounting and non-accounting data. The Document should include 

information on sustainable development and human resources policy, which we believe essential to 

a proper understanding of public policy choices and to the transparency of resource allocation in the 

present climate; 

- it adds a thematic dimension to the accounts. The Document should contain cross-cutting analyses 

and commentary based on accounting and non-accounting information showing, for example, the 

costs of public policy choices and implementation, changes in those costs and implementation 

performance. 

Staff position: Staff does not agree 

with the suggestions to include 

additional information on 

sustainable development (which is 

the subject of the IPSASB’s project 

on long-term fiscal sustainability), 

nor on human resource policy. The 

latter item may be part of the 

information management chooses to 

report, if it is significant in a given 

period. Staff disagrees that it would 

always be required. 

Accordingly, no changes are 

required to ED 47 to address this 

comment. 

023 B Yes it is but it can be enhanced :  … b) Consideration of other  things captured in the integrated reporting 

framework like stakeholder engagement or public participation, level of public private partnerships, 

governance structure and how it supports the strategic objectives 

Economic Action Strategy – a commentary on MDGs and the country’s level of achievement could be 

considered as we give a global perspective and the country’s performance. Also consider mentioning the 

level of private public sector engagement in the economic strategy. 

Staff position: The governance 

structure is addressed in ED 47.18. 

Staff agrees to amend para. 18 (b) by 

adding “and how it supports the 

strategic objectives” after the 

bracketed material, at the end of the 

sentence. 

024 A The Province agrees with the requirement to disclose that the financial statement discussion and analysis 

is not part of the financial statements, but that they should be read together.  

The Province of Manitoba agrees that the financial statement discussion and analysis should possess the 

qualitative characteristics of general purpose financial reports identified in Appendix A in IPSAS 1.  The 

Staff notes the respondent’s overall 

agreement with the content of FSDA.  
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Province also agrees with the minimum required content.  The financial statement discussion and 

analysis should include an overview of the entity, information about its objectives and strategies, analysis 

of variances and trends in the financial statements and a discussion of the risks and uncertainties. 

025 D The minimum required content identified cut across crucial areas of reporting by most entities, however 

the standard doesn’t wish to have the minimum requirement to serve as a reporting template. Once the 

standard is effective, the practice will over the time give direction and perhaps a standardized template 

agreeable across the entire sector could be developed. 

Staff agrees with the respondent’s 

comment about not providing a 

template and letting practice develop.  

Staff position: No action required. 

026 B The required minimum content of the FSDA will include an overview of the entity, information about the 

entity’s objectives and strategies, and analysis of the entity’s financial statements, including variances 

and trends, and information about the entity’s risks and uncertainties, including its risk management 

strategy. We support the minimum requirements as they appear to be consistent with the purpose of the 

FSDA, being to assist users’ understanding of the financial statements for accountability and decision-

making purposes. 

Paragraph 26 of the exposure draft states that to the extent such information is not included in the 

financial statements, FSDA will include information about significant variances between actual results 

and the budget; and prior and current year financial statements. The requirements of paragraph 26 do 

not appear to be consistent with the option under IPSAS 24 Presentation of Budget Information in 

Financial Statements for the explanation of variances in the financial statements, or FSDA, or some other 

public document. 

That said, we consider the FSDA as currently presented is over focused on explaining the financial 

statements. We consider the FSDA would be improved if its purpose was broadened to include the 

provision of management’s perspective of the entity performance, position and direction so as to assist 

users to understand all material factors that have influenced the information presented in the financial 

statements.  

Staff position: The objective of FSDA 

is to explain and analyze the 

financial statements. It is not 

intended to address performance 

(that is the subject of the SPR 

project). 

 

027 B Yes, the content appears to be appropriate and provides sufficient guidance.  

We do however propose that specific additional criteria should be included for each of the disclosure 

sections, particularly if the intention is for this Exposure Draft to become an authoritative Standard. The 

lack of specific disclosure criteria would make it difficult for preparers and auditors to verify compliance 

Staff notes the respondent’s overall 

agreement with the content of FSDA.  

See Other Comments section for 

presentation of the specific comments 
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with the standard in practice.  which are not analyzed. 

027.1  Paragraph .26 requires an entity to disclose the variance between actual and budget as part of the 

financial statement discussion and analysis to the extent that the information is not included in the 

financial statements. This requirement will, however, contradict the exemption provided in IPSAS 24 as 

paragraph .26 does not seem to consider the impact on entities whose budgets are not made publically 

available. If the requirement in paragraph .25 is retained, it would mean that entities would now have to 

disclose a comparison between actual and budget information to ensure compliance with the 

requirements of this paragraph, irrespective of the exemption allowed in IPSAS 24.  

It is therefore proposed that the requirement in paragraph .26(a) be amended to require the disclosure of 

such information in financial statement discussion and analysis to the extent that the exemption in IPSAS 

24 is not applicable. 

Staff position: Staff notes that, with 

the proposed change in ED 47 to 

issue guidance rather than an IPSAS 

will make following the RPG 

voluntary. Staff does not consider 

there to be an issue if there is no 

requirement. See AP 6.1, SMC 4 

analysis. 

027.1  We further propose that the term “may” should be amended to “should” in paragraphs .16 to .32 (where 

appropriate), as the information required in these sections should prescribe the minimum requirements 

for the content and presentation of financial statement discussion and analysis, as required in paragraph 

.15.  

Staff position: Even if the IPSASB 

concludes the material should be 

further developed as a mandatory 

IPSAS (see SMC 1) staff notes that 

paras. 16 – 32 are intended to be 

guidance for para. 15, which is the 

minimum required content. No 

change is proposed. 

027.2  We also have some suggestions on specific content paragraphs. These proposals are set out in Part II of 

our comment letter (see general comment 4 to 14). 

Minimum required content 

3. Paragraph .15 and paragraphs .18 to .32, list the minimum requirements for the content and 

presentation of financial statement discussion and analysis. We propose that a statement should 

be made that even though the information required in paragraph .15 and .18 to .32 are the 

minimum requirements to be included in financial statement discussion and analysis, entities are 

encouraged to provide additional information if it will provide useful information to users for 

accountability and decision-making purposes.  

Staff position: The minimum 

required content is set out in 

paragraph 15 at a “principles” level. 

The paragraphs that follow are 

intended as guidance for para.15. 

Staff will consider the wording in 

paragraph 16 is intended to limit any 

repetition between what is reported 

in FSDA and any information already 
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SMC 4: Required Content of FSDA 

4. The disclosure guidance included in paragraph .16 appears to imply that the requirements of the 

proposed IPSAS are not satisfactory, and that additional information is required to ensure fair 

presentation. The requirements in paragraph .16 could be seen as contradicting the requirements 

in existing IPSASs as the information required in other IPSASs should already be sufficient to 

ensure fair presentation. 

required as disclosure in the 

financial statements under other 

IPSASs. Staff will consider wording 

to clarify the intent of para. 16. See 

proposal in AP 6.1, SMC 4. 

028 A The Task Force is of the view that minimum required content proposed by the ED 47 is reasonable. 

Content of many IPSAS compliant financial statements of the UN system organizations is similar to that 

outlined by the ED 47.  Such content is usually included in ‘Director’s comments’ or ‘Introduction’ part of 

the annual financial statements report. 

The Implementation Guidance and the Illustrative Example are not part of the draft standard and include 

helpful suggestions (not requirements) on preparing and presenting financial statement discussion and 

analysis.  

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement 

with the content of FSDA. 

029 B Information about the Entity’s Objectives and Strategies (paragraphs 19 and 26) 

10. Paragraph 19 of the ED states that financial statement discussion and analysis should also explain 

how the achievement of the entity’s financial objectives will be measured. In addition to the 

requirement relating to the information on variances between actual results and the budget stated in 

paragraph 26, we suggest that entities should also explain the actual results of their fiscal 

management, by first clarifying how both goal and results of their fiscal management and their 

financial statements relate to each other.  

11. Information on the goal and the results of fiscal management would help users to assess entities’ 

fiscal management performance, in relation to the amounts shown on the financial statements. 

Staff position: Staff considers that 

goals and results of fiscal 

management are not within the 

scope of FSDA, but may be part of 

SPR and/or LTFS.  

As noted regarding SMC 3 

responses, staff agrees to provide 

additional guidance in the scope 

and/or definition section to clarify 

the relationship of FSDA with the 

notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports. 

029.1  Amendments to Other IPSASs (Appendix A) 

12. Paragraph 24 of IPSAS 1 encourages those entities to include, in their financial statements, a 

Staff position: Respondent #27 also 

raised this concern, with which staff 
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SMC 4: Required Content of FSDA 

comparison between the amounts shown on the financial statements and the budgeted amounts for 

the reporting period (IPSAS 1 does not require these entities to include this comparison). This 

provision is applied to the entities that do not make their approved budgets publicly available, and 

their financial statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting. 

13. However, paragraph 26 of the ED states that “financial statement discussion and analysis should 

include information about significant positive and negative variances between: (a) Actual results and 

the budget.” The ED requires the explanation of the significant variances regardless of whether the 

entities disclose their approved budgets. 

14. Therefore, we suggest that the following underlined sentences be added in paragraph 26 of the ED: 

Proposed revision to the ED (underlined) 

26. To the extent such information is not included in the financial statements, financial statement 

discussion and analysis should include information about significant positive and negative variances 

between: 

 (a) … 

 (b) … 

This provision does not apply to entities that do not make their approved budget publicly available. 

However, they are encouraged to include this information in their financial statement discussion and 

analysis. 

agreed. 

Staff agrees with the wording 

proposed by this respondent. The 

wording would be appropriate 

whether the IPSASB decides to 

issue the material as an IPSAS. 

See also respondents #33 and #34 

(and #13, #20, and #24 under SMC 5). 

029.3  15. Revised paragraph 14(c) of IPSAS 24 “Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements” 

states that when the entities do not explain the significant variances between actual results and the 

budgets in their notes to financial statements, they can explain them in either the financial statement 

discussion and analysis or other public documents issued in conjunction with the financial 

statements.  

16. Since it is important for the users of financial statements to be informed of the significant variances 

between actual results and the budgets, we suggest that the contents of those significant variances 

should be explained in the financial statement discussion and analysis, when they are not explained 

in the notes to financial statements. We believe that entities should not be permitted to explain 

Staff position: Staff agrees with the 

respondent’s proposal to limit 

disclosure of significant variances to 

either the financial statements or 

FSDA.  

Staff proposes to amend the revision 

to IPSAS 24.14(c) to limit this 

disclosure to the FSDA, and to add 

guidance in Section C of the 

Implementation Guidance on this 
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SMC 4: Required Content of FSDA 

those significant variances in other public documents. issue. In addition, the Basis for 

Conclusions will be amended to 

explain the IPSASB’s rationale, 

which will be based on the 

comments of respondents #27 and 

#29. 

030 B As noted above, we have concerns with the required minimum content of the report. In our opinion, the 

content should be limited to the analysis of the entity’s financial statements and a discussion of the 

entity’s risks and uncertainties along with the strategies employed to mitigate these risks and 

uncertainties. This information is sufficient to support and explain the financial statements.  

With respect to the inclusion of an overview of the entity, we believe this should be optional rather than 

required content. This type of information would be available in other reports of the entity and may detract 

from the more specific analysis of the financial statements. 

We disagree with the requirement to include the objectives and strategies of the entity. This information 

would be available to users in reports on the Budget or similar reports on plans and strategies issued by 

the entity. In our opinion, it would be difficult to ensure that this type of information retains the required 

qualitative characteristics described in the ED. We believe the FSD&A should be focussed on explaining 

the financial statements.  

Staff position: Staff disagrees that 

an Overview is not required. FSDA is 

intended to stand on its own. It 

should need to be read only with the 

financial statements and not all 

other possible reports, unless they 

are specifically referenced from the 

FSDA. 

Staff also disagrees with the 

requirement that information on 

objectives and strategies should not 

be included, on the same basis.  

031 A Yes. The content is appropriate. Staff notes the respondent’s agreement 

with the content of FSDA. 

032 C No. Even though the exposure draft provides for some flexibility individual governments and/or public 

sector entities will undoubtedly wish to highlight different and other important objectives and initiatives 

that they want to emphasize, and as such, greater flexibility is desirable.  While the exposure draft covers 

relevant content that may aid in a user’s understanding of public sector financial statements it should be 

up to the preparers, in consultation with their auditors, to decide what specific information is appropriate. 

Staff position: Staff agrees with the 

respondent’s comment that entities 

will want to highlight items they wish 

to emphasize; however, staff 

considers an appropriate balance 

has been struck between the high-

level required content and the 

guidance provided. However, staff 
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SMC 4: Required Content of FSDA 

notes that sufficient flexibility is 

provided in what each entity may 

report within the required content. 

See changes proposed in AP 6.1 to 

address the issue of flexibility in 

presenting FSDA. 

033 B The following are our suggestions and comments on how the content for FSD&A should be improved: 

 

 

033.1  Paragraph 15 should be expanded (possibly in the implementation guidance section) to include more 

specific guidance on what is required for each criterion. 

Staff position: Each category of the 

required content of FSDA in 

paragraph 15 is expanded on in 

paras. 18 – 32. In addition, more 

detailed guidance is provided on the 

financial statement analysis noted in 

para. 15(c) in sections B and C of the 

Implementation Guidance, as well as 

in the Illustrative Example. 

033.2  Also, paragraph 26 does not take into consideration the impact on entities that do not publish their budget 

publicly and are exempted from IPSAS 24 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements. A 

reference to IPSAS 24 should also be provided in paragraph 26a. 

 

Staff position: See the staff position 

for respondents #27, #29, and #34 

(and #13, #20, and #24 under SMC 5) 

regarding the actual-to-budget 

comparison for entities that do not 

publish their budgets. 

033.10  We believe that extensive work needs to be completed to refine the FSD&A guidance before the 

proposals are operational. 

Staff notes the respondent’s views. The 

IPSASB will consider the extent of 

changes required in light of all 

respondents’ comments and also 

taking into account its decision on 
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whether to issue the material as an 

ISPAS. 

034 B As discussed above, the AASB has a number of concerns regarding the proposed content for FSDA and 

its interaction with the content of other projects. 

Paragraph 15 of the ED sets out the minimum required content, broadly covering an overview of the 

entity, its objectives and strategies, analysis of the financial statements, including variances and trends, 

and risks and uncertainties.  Whilst the AASB considers there to be reasonable flexibility in providing 

suitable information under these headings, we do not believe that they can be considered in isolation as 

there will likely be significant overlap between these requirements and the content of the other IPSASB 

projects.   

Staff position: As noted regarding 

SMC 3 responses, staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports. 

034.1  The AASB is also concerned with the interaction of the proposed requirements and IPSAS 24 

Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements.  Paragraph 26 of the ED would require that 

FSDA address budget variances to the extent that such information is not included in the financial 

statements, which, in effect, broadens the scope of IPSAS 24 to entities that would not otherwise publish 

budget information.  In addition, this requirement would effectively remove the option under IPSAS 24 

(paragraphs 14(c) and 19, as proposed in ED 47 to be amended) for the explanation of variances to be 

presented in the financial statements, or FSDA, or some other public documents issued in conjunction 

with the financial statements.  The AASB believes that such information should not be a requirement, 

being disclosed at the discretion of the entity if it is considers that such information provides additional 

information about the current year’s financial performance and/or position. 

Staff position: See the staff position 

for respondents #27, #29, and #33 

(and #13, #20, and #24 under SMC 5) 

regarding the actual-to-budget 

comparison for entities that do not 

publish their budgets. 

034.2  In addition, the intended meaning of paragraph 21 of the ED, which proposes a discussion of the purpose 

of each component of the financial statements, is unclear.  The FSDA should not be an accounting 

primer. 

Staff position: The information on 

the purpose of the component is 

intended to be brief and assist those 

users with very limited 

understanding of the financial 

statements. Staff considers the 

guidance in Section B of the 
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Implementation Guidance illustrates 

the type of information intended by 

paragraph 21.  No change is 

proposed. 

035 C It is the Province’s position that the required content for financial statement discussion and analysis is not 

appropriate.  The required content should not go over and above the information presented in the 

financial statements as this will take away the focus from the core financial statements.  The required 

content may be relevant for a private entity or publically traded company; however, public sector entities 

are different from these entities.  The government controls several sub-entities in different environments, 

with different strategies, objectives, risks, and uncertainties. Thus, by providing the required content at a 

consolidated level, it will not enhance the usefulness of information already presented in the financial 

statements.     

Staff position: Staff notes the 

respondent’s concern, and has 

proposed, based on other 

respondents’ specific comments for 

improvement, on certain changes to 

the guidance regarding content.  

Staff also notes that FSDA is 

intended to apply to other public 

sector entities besides 

governments, and thus may be at a 

more disaggregated level.  

No other changes are proposed. 

036 A Yes, I think that for financial statement discussion and analysis is appropriate, I suggest if the board 

agree the considerations the numbers 1 and 3 of this discussion.  

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement 

with the content of FSDA. 

037 C The required content for FSD&A is not appropriate. IPSAS 1 states that financial statements provide 

users with information about an entity’s resources and obligations at the reporting date and the flow of 

resources between reporting dates. This does not include information about the entity’s objectives and 

strategies, its vision and mandate or its risk management strategy. We suggest that FSD&A not include 

information about an entity’s objectives and strategies, its vision and mandate or its risk management 

strategy. This type of information is already included in the entity’s strategic planning documents and 

annual budget documents. Including objectives and strategies and information on the entity’s vision and 

mandate and risk management strategy in FSD&A represents an unnecessary duplication and also 

represents information that does not discuss and analyse and entity’s resources and obligations at the 

reporting date and the flow of resources between reporting dates. 

Staff position: As noted previously, 

FSDA along with the financial 

statements, are intended to work in 

unison to provide the information 

necessary for users to understand 

the financial statements. Although 

the primary focus is the financial 

statement information, other 

information may be required for that 

understanding.  
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As noted regarding SMC 3 

responses, staff agrees to provide 

additional guidance in the scope 

and/or definition section to clarify 

the relationship of FSDA with the 

notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports. 
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 5:  

Do you agree with the transitional provisions?  

 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 18, 19, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 

33, 36 

25 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to IPSASB decision on SMC 1) 16, 17, 20, 21, 22, 35, 37 7 

C – DISAGREE 3, 4, 13, 32, 34 5 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED ― 0 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 5: Transitional Provisions 

001 A The transitional provisions might be suitable in many cases. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

002 A Yes.  Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

003 C Transitional provisions are not necessary, because the ED as a binding standard is rejected by the SRS-

CSPCP. 

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 

decision regarding SMC 1. 

004 C Since the CNOCP does not favour a standard, the question of transitional provisions is not relevant. Staff position: The need for 
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SMC 5: Transitional Provisions 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 

decision regarding SMC 1. 

005 A EUMETSAT agrees with the proposed transitional provisions. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

006 A Agreed. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

007 A Overall, we agree with the transitional provisions.  However, as this is proposed to be a mandatory 

standard, IPSASB may want to consider including transitional provisions which would lessen the burden of 

adoption of this IPSAS by entities in the process of adopting IPSASs or which are considering such 

transition.   

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

008 A We agree with the transitional provisions and proposed effective date. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

009 A [From paragraph 3 of the response letter] 

e. In response to Comment 5 (Do you agree with the transitional provisions?), we agree. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

010 A Yes, we agree with the transitional provisions. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

011 A ACAG agrees with the transitional provisions. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

012 A Yes, agreed. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

013 C No.  We do not agree with the effective date paragraph 35 and are puzzled by its requirements.  We do 

however agree with the transitional provisions. 

  

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions and an 

effective date will be considered 

based on the IPSASB’s decision 
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SMC 5: Transitional Provisions 

regarding SMC 1. 

013.1  Re effective date  

Firstly, we do not agree that entities should have to apply IPSAS 24 Presentation of Budget Information in 

Financial Statements at the same time.  Our reasoning is that it is not mandatory to provide budgetary 

information and IPSAS 24 is only mandatory if such information is presented...   

We note that there is an inconsistency between paragraphs 2 and 3 of IPSAS 24.  Paragraph 2 states: “An 

entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall apply 

this Standard” – therefore implying the Standard is mandatory.  However, paragraph 3 states: “This 

Standard applies to public sector entities, other than Government Business Enterprises, which are 

required or elect to make their approved budget(s) publically available” – implying the Standard is not 

mandatory unless required by the relevant jurisdiction requirements.  We suggest that this might be 

amended through an annual improvement. 

Secondly, the effective date paragraph seems to imply that unless budgetary information is 

included, the financial statement discussion and analysis may not be complete – is this the 

intention of the IPSASB? 

And thirdly, if it is the intention that IPSAS 24 is mandatory, then with the current wording a preparer would 

only have to wait until the application date to avoid providing budget information. 

Staff position: See the staff position 

for respondents #27, #29, #33, and 

#34 in SMC 4 (and # 20 and 24 in 

SMC 5) regarding the actual-to-

budget comparison for entities that 

do not publish their budgets. 

 

014 A The IPSASB is currently considering first time adoption of IPSASs as an issue in its own right. We note 

that the Board has not yet finalized these deliberations. 

We appreciate the fact that the Board does not wish to make it overly onerous for first time adopters to 

comply with IPSASs. In this context, and subject to completion of the Board’s project on first time adoption 

of IPSASs, we agree with the proposed transitional provisions.  

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

015 A We agree. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

016 B In the event that the IPSASB decides to proceed and issue a standard, we consider that the proposed 

transitional provisions would be appropriate. Any transitional provisions would need to be reviewed on 

completion of the project on first-time adoption (as the location of some transitional provisions may 

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 
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SMC 5: Transitional Provisions 

change). decision regarding SMC 1. 

017 B HoTARAC considers that if the proposed ED proceeds as guidance rather than an IPSAS, transitional 

provision would not be required.  

However, if the proposals are issued as a standard, HoTARAC agrees with the IPSASB’s point that where 

an entity has applied the transitional provision in IPSAS 1, it is unlikely to have comparative information 

and thus it would not be possible or paracticable to provide comparative FSDA information. HoTARAC 

believes paragraph 35 should clarify that if the ED is issued as a standard and an entity elects to early 

adopt, then the proposed amendments to IPSAS 1 and IPSAS 24 at Appendix A would also need to be 

early adopted. 

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 

decision regarding SMC 1. 

018 A We agree with the transitional provisions. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

019 A Finance agrees to IPSASB’s proposal that where an entity has applied the transitional provision in 

IPSAS 1, it is unlikely to have comparative information and thus it would not be possible to provide 

comparative information. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

020 B Subject to our response to SMfC 1, CIPFA agrees with the timing of the transitional provisions. However, 

we believe that the transitional provisions have been misdrafted to imply that IPSAS 24 must always be 

followed. Paragraph 35 should be redrafted to apply only when the entity is required to or has chosen to 

follow IPSAS 24. 

Staff position: See the staff position 

for respondents #27, #29, #33, and 

#34 in SMC 4 (and # 13 and 24 in 

SMC 5) regarding the actual-to-

budget comparison for entities that 

do not publish their budgets. 

021 B Consistent with our reply to SMC 1, there is no need for setting up transitional provisions and effective 

date. 

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 

decision regarding SMC 1. 

022 B See question1. Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 
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SMC 5: Transitional Provisions 

decision regarding SMC 1. 

023 A Yes Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

024 A The Province agrees with the transitional provisions.  The effective date for application of the standard 

should allow for an appropriate amount of lead time for public sector entities to modify their financial 

statement discussion and analysis in compliance with the new IPSAS. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

025 A Agree. Once the standard becomes effective, all provisions should be applicable. Para 34 is to ensure that 

the entity is in compliance with IPSAS 1 upon first adoption hence appropriate. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

026 A We agree with the transitional provisions. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

027 A Yes, the transitional provisions appear to be appropriate. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

028 A Yes.  The Task Force agrees that an entity which chose to present only current period information in 

accordance with transitional provision in IPSAS 1 should be permitted to omit comparative information 

required by ED 47.  However, this would only be applicable if ED 47 were to become an IPSAS. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

029 A 20. We agree with the transitional provisions proposed in the ED. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

030 A Yes. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

031 A Yes, the transitional provisions seem appropriate. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

032 C No. Ontario suggests that such guidance be issued as non-authoritative guidance, for which a transition 

period would not be required.  

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 

decision regarding SMC 1. 
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SMC 5: Transitional Provisions 

033 A The transitional provisions appear to be appropriate. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

034 C The scope of IPSAS 24 excludes public sector entities that are not required to, and that do not elect to, 

present budget information.  However, the current wording proposed in paragraph 35 would appear to 

require all entities to adopt IPSAS 24 if adopting the FSDA Standard early.  This would contradict the 

scope paragraphs of IPSAS 24.  Paragraph 35 does not need to refer to either IPSAS 1 or IPSAS 24, as 

applying the FSDA IPSAS would result in the amendments to IPSAS 1 and IPSAS 24 also being “applied” 

– which does not change the scope of IPSAS 24. 

Paragraph 33 should be deleted.  The paragraph, which specifies that all the provisions of the Standard 

should be applied from the date of first adoption, is not included in other IPSASs and has not been 

necessary in the past.  It would be appropriate to address such a transition provision only when a staged 

implementation is permitted. 

If the IPSASB issues non-mandatory guidelines instead of an IPSAS, the AASB notes that an effective 

date would not be required.  As soon as they have been published by the IPSASB, it is up to each entity to 

decide whether to disclose the degree of compliance with Recommended Practice Guidelines.  An entity 

that considered it needed more time and experience with the subject matter before reporting its 

compliance with or departure from the Guidelines could simply choose not to report any comparison until it 

was ready to do so.  An effective date therefore would not be useful. 

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 

decision regarding SMC 1. 

035 B It is the Province’s position that the matter of this Exposure Draft should not be required as a Standard 

and that the entity should have discretion to add or present information as desired. Should the Standard 

become optional, the Province’s agrees with the transitional provisions that it should be applied 

prospectively from the date of first adoption and that the comparative information for the year of adoption 

can be omitted. 

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 

decision regarding SMC 1. 

036 A Yes, I agree with the transitional provisions.  

037 B We do not agree with issuing FSD&A guidance as an IPSAS; however we would support the transition 

provisions should the FSD&A guidance be issued as a recommended practice guideline. 

Staff position: The need for 

transitional provisions will be 

considered based on the IPSASB’s 
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SMC 5: Transitional Provisions 

decision regarding SMC 1. 
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 6:  

Is the Implementation Guidance useful to understanding the requirements of the proposed IPSAS?  

 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 2, 4, 6, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 16, 18, 20, 23, 24, 31, 32, 33, 34, 36 18 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to specific suggestions for 

improvement) 

1, 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 15, 17, 19, 22, 25, 27, 28, 29, 30, 35, 37 17 

C – DISAGREE 21 1 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 26 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 6: Implementation Guidance 

001 B With regards to the broader content that we suggest in our overall opinion the Implementation Guidance 

need to be completed. 

No specific comment provided. 

002 A Yes.  Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

003 B Without doubt, the Implementation Guidance is important. 

 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. See ‘Other Comments’ for 

respondent’s detailed suggestions for 

improvement. 

004 A Since it is fairly descriptive, the proposed Implementation Guidance often presents information that should Staff notes the respondent’s 
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SMC 6: Implementation Guidance 

be in the financial statements, which could create confusion. 

The elements presented in section A regarding qualitative characteristics of General Purpose Financial 

Reports make good sense. 

agreement. 

005 B The implementation guidance is useful.  

However, we propose to adjust section B as follows in order to increase the understandability and to 

highlight underlying concepts:  

a. The introductory remark on page 23 should be amended by additional generic guidance. We 

propose the following wording (changes to the original wording are stated in bold print): 

“This Implementation Guidance advises on how an entity may prepare and present financial 

statement discussion and analysis that includes information about all significant items, 

transactions, and events presented in the financial statements. The financial statement 

discussion and analysis forms a unity with the financial statements (statements of 

position, performance, cash flow and net assets) and the explanatory notes and aims at 

enhancing users’ understanding of the financial statements.  

The financial statement discussion and analysis should include cross-references to other 

elements of the financial statements providing detailed information on actual balances. By 

that, background information and additional analyses may be directly linked to the entity’s 

actual data without duplicating information. Although disclosures are required to be 

provided in the notes to the financial statements in accordance with various IPSASs, 

further elaboration of such transactions and events may assist in providing greater insight 

as to how such events may affect the entity’s future operations. 

The financial statement discussion and analysis should reflect the individual situation of 

the reporting entity. Therefore, all information advised in this Implementation Guidance is 

to be understood as recommendation rather than as mandatory instruction.”  

Staff position: Staff proposes to 

amend the introduction to the 

Implementation Guidance to 

highlight that (1) information is not 

required if it is already presented in 

the financial statements, and (2) it is 

up to the preparer of FSDA to tailor 

the guidance to the needs of users of 

the entity’s financial statements. 

The additional paragraphs 

suggested by the respondent have 

broader application, and staff 

proposes they be included in the 

Minimum Required Content section 

of the document (see SMC 3).  

  

006 A Yes. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

007 B We believe that the Implementation Guidance is useful to understanding the requirements of the proposed Staff position: Staff agrees with the 
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IPSAS and would be especially helpful for entities that have not prepared such information in the past nor 

have little experience in preparation of such information.   

We would like to provide a suggestion to improve the Implementation Guidance.  Specifically, paragraph 

A.IG11 states the following: 

It is important that information presented in the financial statement discussion and analysis is 

supported by information in the financial statements, and does not go beyond or contradict the 

information presented in the financial statements.  

It appears that the purpose of the underlined wording is to ensure that the financial statement discussion 

and analysis does not provide information that does not pertain to the financial statements and hence the 

wording “does not go beyond” was used.  However, IPSASB staff may need to consider changing this 

wording or clarifying what is meant by it as for users to gain a better understanding of an entity’s financial 

position and changes in financial position, other information, beyond that contained in the current financial 

statements, may be required.  IPSASB staff appears to agree with this in paragraph A.IG13: 

While the information provided in financial statement discussion and analysis may reflect 

information outside of the financial statements (e.g., economic indicators such as changes in the 

tax base or the employment base), that information should be related to the reporting period and 

should be from a reliable source. 

respondent’s comments and 

proposes to change the wording in 

para. A.IG11 to be consistent with 

that in para. A.IG13. 

008 A Yes we do agree that, the Implementation Guidance is useful to understanding of the requirements of the 

proposed IPSAS. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

009 A [From paragraph 3 of the response letter] 

e. In response to Comment 6 (Is the Implementation Guidance useful to understanding the requirements 

of the proposed IPSAS?), we agree. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

010 A Yes, the examples are useful as practical guidance.  Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

011 B In ACAG’s view, Implementation Guidance is a useful tool when adopting standards for the first time, 

however we have concerns regarding some of the guidance included in the ED. 

We note that it is for the management of an entity to decide how best to apply the standard for the 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 
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preparation and presentation of financial statements discussion and analysis in the particular 

circumstances of the entity and it is not possible to provide guidance suitable for all entities.   

Section B of the Implementation Guidance includes guidance on how an entity may prepare and present 

the analysis of the entity’s financial statements, as required in the financial statement discussion and 

analysis. 

011.1  In ACAG’s view, much of the information included in this section is already available in the financial 

statements. This section also includes some examples of information which ACAG believes is outside the 

scope of the standard and excessive. This could lead to annual reports which are significantly longer and 

more costly to prepare. 

For example: 

 Property, Plant and Equipment 

 An analysis of required maintenance, including future expenditure requirements for 

maintenance and replacement.  

 The average age and average useful life for each category of property, plant and equipment 

and an assessment of the assets physical condition to allow users to assess the timing of 

rehabilitation and replacement expenditure. 

 A description and quantity of the major components of each class of property, plant and 

equipment giving users an understanding of the nature and extent of the stock of property, 

plant and equipment. 

Information included in the financial statements should already demonstrate the useful life, value, 

acquisitions and disposals, depreciation, and any profit or loss on sale. Depreciation should reflect the 

usage of the asset and the value reflects the physical condition of the asset. While information to the 

extent suggested in the Implementation Guidance is important to making management decisions, it is 

unnecessary to users of financial statements and may lead to an overload of information. ACAG is of the 

view that the Implementation Guidance does not accord with the principle of paragraph 15, whereby, the 

discussion and analysis should not replicate information already included in the financial statement. 

Staff position: See proposal for 

respondent #5. 

012 A Yes, NAO Malta considers the guidance to be useful especially in analysing the public sector entity’s Staff notes the respondent’s 
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financial results, financial position, changes in net equity and cash flows and in establishing variances and 

trends.   

agreement. 

013 A We agree that the Implementation Guidance is useful and aids in understanding the requirements of the 

ED. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

014 B In view of the fact that the implementation guidance is non-authoritative, as discussed in our response to 

SMC # 4 above, the section on qualitative characteristics would benefit from additional material being 

included within the final standard. 

Staff position: Staff does not 

consider additional information on 

QCs to be required 

015 B Yes, we have found the implementation guidance useful, however see our comments in paragraphs 3 and 

4. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

015.1  In reviewing ED 47, the FMSB felt that several improvements could be made to the guidance offered by 

the examples in the ED and the specificity of the guidance offered by the IPSASB.   Section C, paragraphs 

C.IG4 through C.IG9 offers guidance on the types of trend and variances that should be provided in the 

financial statement discussion and analysis.  However, the paragraphs do not provide guidance as to the 

minimum time periods that should be covered by this trend and variance information.  Given the 

importance of this information and the insight it can provide, we would suggest that a minimum time period 

be specified, say 5 to 7 years.  

Staff position: Staff disagrees that 

guidance should be provided 

specifying a time period for trend 

analyses. It is up to the preparer to 

determine the appropriate period. 

Para C.IG6 notes that, “Trend 

analysis may cover several prior 

years if the information is available 

and can be presented in a consistent 

manner.” Staff considers this to be 

the appropriate level of guidance 

without being overly prescriptive. 

015.2  In a similar manner, paragraphs B.IG20 and B.IG21 which discuss cash flows for the entity might also 

benefit by the addition of a subsection that requires the reporting entity to provide an analysis of any cash 

flows that have arisen due the assistance an entity receives beyond normal taxes and borrowings, such as 

assistance from another country or entity beyond which an entity normally obtains financing.  Similarly 

B.IG22  might also benefit by specifying that information on any commitments made beyond normal 

borrowings are required.   

Staff position: Staff agrees that 

information about assistance from 

other bodies is useful, but does not 

believe “normal taxes and 

borrowings” is easily defined. Staff 

proposes to highlight non-recurring 
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type transfers in para. B.IG20(a) and 

commitments and contingencies 

attached thereto in para. B.IG22.  

016 A We do not consider that implementation guidance is essential, but acknowledge that it could be useful, 

particularly for those countries which do not have existing guidance on this topic. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

017 B HoTARAC agrees that providing examples of information to be included in the FSDA is useful to 

understanding the requirements of the proposals. 

A majority of HoTARAC jurisdictions considers some of the examples provided in Section B of the 

Implementation Guidance too detailed to support the level of requirements of the proposed ED. For 

example, an analysis of required maintenance for the entity’s property, plant and equipment and an 

assessment of the assets’ physical condition carried out by a technical expert (B.IG3) appears onerous 

compared to the potential benefits of presenting this information. Although HoTARAC notes that this 

information may be useful for particular entities, HoTARAC believes the FSDA should be primarily a 

concise narrative explanation with supporting figures as required. HoTARAC recommends IPSASB 

reinforces the examples provided in the Implementation Guidance to be best practice examples.  

Staff position: See staff proposal in 

response to comments by 

respondent #3 that would amend the 

introduction to the Implementation 

Guidance to highlight that (1) 

information is nor required if it is 

already presented in the financial 

statements, and (2) it is up to the 

preparer of FSDA to tailor the 

guidance to the needs of users of the 

entity’s financial statements. 

017.1  HoTARAC recommends paragraphs B.IG20 and B.IG21 on cash flows include some mention of liquidity 

ratios and cash flow trend analysis to be presented in a separate section on event, trends and factors. 

Staff position: Staff considers this 

information is already included in 

C.IG4(a) and does not propose a 

change. 

018 A We agree the Implementation Guidance is useful. We would prefer not to see the use of language in the 

Guidance such; as strong, weak, significant and rebound as these are relative terms and are subject to 

personal judgment. We would prefer to see only factual language used in the Guidance. 

Staff position: Staff will review the 

Implementation Guidance for use of 

such terms. 

019 B Finance agrees with HoTARAC that providing examples of information to be included in the FSDA is 

useful to understanding the requirements of the proposals. 

Consistent with HoTARAC’s comment, Finance believes that the benefits of providing FSDA should 

outweigh the costs of preparing it. Additionally, as noted in the response to Specific Matter for Comment 4, 

See comments of respondent #17. 
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Finance’s preference is for the FSDA to be capable of being read as a standalone document and 

recommends it not be overburdened with unnecessary detail. Accordingly, Finance supports the 

HoTARAC view that some of the examples provided in Section B of the Implementation Guidance are too 

detailed for the level of requirement included in the proposals. 

020 A Yes Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

020.1  We would note that much of the material in the Implementation Guidance example does not appear to be 

information which is used in the preparation of financial statements per BC8. For example, the analysis of 

GDP by production group provides very appropriate contextual information which is relevant both to entity 

objectives and to the capacity of the entity to generate taxation revenue, but is information from GFS and 

other economic/statistical reporting, rather than arising as part of the government financial reporting 

process. We would agree that in general it would be useful to produce this information in order to plan 

government activity. However, both in this particular example and more generally, especially for reporting 

by entities below whole of government level, the information required to provide effective explanation and 

commentary may require a greater Public Financial Management capacity than anticipated by the Board. 

CIPFA strongly supports the desire for such increased capacity and is working with other stakeholders in 

the international development community to promote and support improved PFM, but we see it as a 

different issue to the baseline capacity for the production of worthwhile accruals based financial 

statements.  

Staff position: Staff proposes to 

consider deletion of items that are 

specific to a national government, 

such as GDP; however, this 

information has been used in the 

example as the basis for certain of 

the commentary about expectations. 

021 C No. The Implementation Guidance (IG) is not useful insofar as it seems not suitable for public sector 

reporting. For most of entities, this IG would appear unrealistic, not relevant and not in accordance with 

the FSDA objective (e.g., in the proposed ED the guidance relating to Property, Plant and Equipment). 

Accordingly, we support a deletion of the IG. 

Staff proposal: Staff does not agree 

that the Implementation Guidance 

should be deleted.  

See staff proposal in response to 

comments by respondents #3 and 

#17 that would amend the 

introduction to the Implementation 

Guidance to highlight that (1) 

information is nor required if it is 
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already presented in the financial 

statements, and (2) it is up to the 

preparer of FSDA to tailor the 

guidance to the needs of users of the 

entity’s financial statements. 

022 B See question 1. [see comments from SMC 1 below]: 

The confusion between financial statement notes and the Document is heightened by some of the 

examples used for illustration purposes in the ED that correspond to information already required in the 

notes. This is the case, for instance, with the change in the net value of tangible fixed assets, the 

breakdown of debt by currency, the depreciation of loans granted and information relating to post-balance 

sheet events. 

Staff proposal: See staff proposal in 

response to comments by 

respondents #3 and #17 that would 

amend the introduction to the 

Implementation Guidance to 

highlight that (1) information is nor 

required if it is already presented in 

the financial statements, and (2) it is 

up to the preparer of FSDA to tailor 

the guidance to the needs of users of 

the entity’s financial statements. 

023 A Yes but input of public sector players is useful before the guidance is issued for adoption Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

024 A The Province found the Implementation Guidance to be very helpful in understanding the proposed 

requirements of the proposed IPSAS. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

025 B We agree that the implementation guideline is useful in the understanding the requirements of the 

proposed standard. 

 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

026 D The inclusion of extensive implementation guidance can be useful; especially its contribution to assisting 

the development of reporting that is comparable. It is felt that an example with a boarder application, such 

as a government department, would be more useful. However, information of this type in an IPSAS can 

also have an unintended consequence in that entities simply use this information as a checklist to 

Staff position: Staff notes the 

respondent’s description of the 

tension between providing guidance 

and being overly prescriptive. No 
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replicate in their own reports and thereby dilute the quality of the FSDA report. Therefore, striking the right 

balance will be important. 

specific suggestions for change 

were provided, thus no change is 

proposed. 

027 B Yes, we found the implementation guidance to be useful to understanding the requirements of the 

proposed IPSAS.  

We do have some suggestions on certain paragraphs included in the implementation guidance. These 

proposals are set out in Part II of our comment letter (see general comment 16 to 18). … 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

027.1  Section A 

16. Some stakeholders were of the view that paragraph .09 of the Exposure Draft could be expanded 

with the information included in section A. We therefore propose that information that is relevant in 

understanding how the qualitative characteristics apply to financial statement discussion and 

analysis be included in the text of the Exposure Draft, rather than in an annexure.  

17. The explanations included in paragraph A.IG 5 and A.IG 6 seems to be contradictory. IPSAS 

applies only to material items, and it is therefore viewed that ‘relevant’ information will always be 

‘material’ due to the possible impact on decisions. The need to only include material information in 

financial statement discussion and analysis is dealt with in A. IG 6, but in contrast, A. IG 5 states 

that “financial statement discussion and analysis may not include some matters that are material to 

the components of the financial statements set out in IPSAS 1, or it may include some matters that 

are not material to the financial statements”.   

A.IG 5 should be reconsidered to avoid any contradiction. 

Staff position: 

 The IPSASB had made a decision 

to include detailed information 

on QCs in guidance as it is not 

meant to be the focus of FSDA, 

only the underpinning for the 

FSDA objective and principles. 

 The intent of the last sentence in 

para. A.IG5 is to address the 

matter referred to in para. C.IG5. 

Staff proposes to delete it as it is 

explained in C.IG5. The proposed 

addition of guidance highlighting 

the preparer’s judgment in 

preparing FSDA will allow for the 

case when an item is material to 

the financial statements but not 

included in the FSDA. 

027.2  Section B 

18. We are of the view that information about the economic, efficient and effective use of resources are 

beyond the proposed scope of this Exposure Draft. We propose that consideration be given to the 

Staff position: Para. B.IG14 does not 

require an assessment of these 

matters in FSDA, it merely notes that 
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information required about an entity’s financial performance as illustrated in B.IG14.  

The requirement to provide information about whether the entity has acquired resources 

economically and used them efficiently and effectively to achieve its service delivery objectives, in 

our view, contradicts the requirement in paragraph .03 of the Exposure Draft which states that the 

Standard applies only to financial statement discussion and analysis and not to other information 

included in public documents that are issued in conjunction with the financial statements, ie service 

performance information. The information required in B IG14 will not necessarily be available in the 

statement of financial performance.  

the information specified is useful 

for all users to make their own 

assessments. Staff acknowledges 

that this links to SPR, but the 

proposed guidance explaining this 

link (see SMC 1 and SMC 3) is 

expected to alleviate this 

respondent’s concern. 

028 B The Implementation Guidance is generally useful (especially Section B), although it is notably geared 

towards reporting needs of governments.   

It is not clear why only some of the qualitative characteristics of financial reporting are discussed in 

Section A of the Implementation Guidance.  In addition, discussion of constraints is limited to a general 

reference to the balance between qualitative characteristics.  The Task Force is of the view that since the 

ED 47 proposes a requirement that financial statement discussion and analysis “include information that 

possesses the qualitative characteristics of general purpose financial reports identified in Appendix A of 

IPSAS 1” (para. 9), the Implementation Guidance should include discussion of all qualitative 

characteristics and constraints listed in IPSAS 1.  

The Task Force observed that ED 47 refers to qualitative characteristics of general purpose financial 

reports listed in Appendix A to IPSAS 1, whereas Appendix A of the said IPSAS lists qualitative 

characteristics of financial reporting.  This seemingly minor difference in definitions (if remains 

uncorrected) might cause confusion since the Exposure Draft 1 issued under the Conceptual Framework 

Project includes another set of qualitative characteristics and constrains of general purpose financial 

reports, which is different from set of qualitative characteristics presented in IPSAS 1.      

It is understood that Section B of the Implementation Guidance outlines many options for preparing and 

presenting financial statement discussion and analysis but a reporting entity is not expected to include all 

items discussed in the Implementation Guidance - these are suggestions and not a checklist.     

Staff position: Appendix A discusses 

each of the four QCs identified in 

IPSAS 1, which are noted in para. 

A.IG1. These are the four identified in 

the introduction to Appendix A of 

IPSAS 1 which states: “The four 

principal qualitative characteristics 

are understandability, relevance, 

reliability, and comparability.” 

No change is proposed. 

Staff agrees to change ‘financial 

reports’ to ‘financial reporting’. 

029 B 21. We suggest that the timeliness for the users of financial statements discussion and analysis should 

also be considered with regard to the qualitative characteristics stated in section A.IG1. of 

Staff position: Appendix A discusses 

each of the four QCs identified in 
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Implementation Guidance. IPSAS 1, which are noted in para. 

A.IG1. These are the four identified in 

the introduction to Appendix A of 

IPSAS 1 which states: “The four 

principal qualitative characteristics 

are understandability, relevance, 

reliability, and comparability.” 

Timeliness is a constraint listed in 

IPSAS 1, and would be addressed by 

the fact that FSDA is intended to be 

issued with the entity’s financial 

statements. 

No change is proposed. 

030 B We agree that the Implementation Guidance is useful except as noted in the following paragraphs: 

A.IG5. We disagree with the final sentence of this paragraph which states that some material items may 

be omitted from the FSD&A and some immaterial items may be included depending on the specific 

matters relevant to the entity. This sentence should be removed, as it could lead to manipulation of 

the items discussed in the report. 

A.IG8. We suggest removing the reference to forward-looking information since the FSD&A is not 

intended to include this type of information. 

Staff position:  

 See staff proposal at respondent 

#27.1 regarding para. A.IG5. 

 See ‘Forward-looking Information’ 

section below. 

031 A Yes, the implementation guidance is useful and provides sufficient detail. Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

032 A Yes. It provides understanding of the proposed requirements and can support preparers that wish to 

implement recommendations. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

033 A The implementation guidance is useful for setting best practice guidelines that should be followed when 

making such narrative disclosures.  

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 
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034 A Yes.  The AASB considers that the Guidance can be useful, particularly to entities that have not provided 

FSDA information previously.  However, there is some risk that sections B and C (examples of information 

about the entity’s financial statements and about variances and trends, respectively) could become 

checklists for such information.  Nevertheless, the AASB supports retaining the Guidance as 

accompanying a final pronouncement. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

035 B The Implementation Guidance is unbalanced and is only useful to understanding the analysis of the 

entity’s financial statements requirement of the proposed IPSAS.  There is no discussion on the other 

minimum required content, such as an overview of the entity, information about the entity’s objectives and 

strategies, and information about the entity’s risks and uncertainties. Since the entity is responsible for 

determining the matter and level of detail to present, there is no basis to determine whether or not these 

requirements have been met, and thus, undermines consistent and comparable preparation and 

presentation of financial statement discussion and analysis, the purpose of this Exposure Draft.  

Staff position: See staff position at 

003.1  and AP 6.1, SMC 6. 

 

036 A Yes, I think that the Implementation Guidance is useful to understanding the requirements of the proposed 

IPSASB, I suggest the board observed the considerations about jurisdictions in relation the structure. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

037 B We agree that the implementation guidance should not be issued as authoritative guidance. However, the 

implementation guidance is overly detailed and could be viewed as being prescriptive with the result that 

FSD&A issued under the proposed guidance could follow the descriptions contained in the implementation 

guidance rather than meeting the requirement to adequately discuss and analyse the entity’s resources 

and obligations at the reporting date and the flow of resources between reporting dates. 

 

Staff proposal: See staff proposal in 

response to comments by 

respondents #3 and #17 that would 

amend the introduction to the 

Implementation Guidance to 

highlight that (1) information is not 

required if it is already presented in 

the financial statements, and (2) it is 

up to the preparer of FSDA to tailor 

the guidance to the needs of users of 

the entity’s financial statements. 
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STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 14, 18, 20, 24, 25, 26, 27, 30, 36 16 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE (Subject to specific suggestions for 

improvement/need for another example dealing with a 

smaller entity) 

1, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 19, 22, 23, 28, 32, 33, 34, 35 14 

C – DISAGREE 3, 21, 31, 37 4 

D – NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 4, 11, 29 3 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  37 

E – DID NOT COMMENT ― 0 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS TOTAL 37 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 7: Illustrative Example 

001 B The illustrative example includes some of what we suggest in our overall opinion. We however suggest I 

clearer inclusion of such material. 

 

002 A Yes.  Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

003 C The SRS-CSPCP finds that the example chosen is not very relevant. It concentrates too strongly on 

macroeconomic, strategic and objectives aspects. It does not allow the construction of a relationship 

between the various elements that are expected to be part of the Financial Statement Commentary. 

Consequently the reader cannot obtain the information that is important for an understanding of the public 

entity’s financial situation. 

Staff position: Staff notes the time 

required to develop another example 

for smaller entities that are not 

governments may exceed the 

benefits of doing so, especially if the 
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 IPSASB decides to not issue the 

material as an IPSAS. Staff does not 

propose to develop another 

example. 

004 D We have no comments as regards the part of the example that deals with explanations of the financial 

statements. However, other elements in the example, while intrinsically interesting, are the subject for a 

budget analysis report. 

Staff position: Staff notes that the 

actual-to-budget comparison may 

not always be publicly available. See 

staff position on the issue of actual-

to-budget comparisons at SMC 4 and 

SMC 5. 

005 A The illustrative example is useful in principle; however, the information would be more comprehensive and 

valuable if at least the core set of financial statements (i.e. the statement of position, the statement of 

performance, the cash flow statement and the statement of net assets) would have been included as well. 

By that, the interaction of information stated in the individual elements of the financial statements including 

the FSDA would be more evident. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

006 A Yes. 

We share the IPSASB’s view that “the content and format of presentation of Financial Statement 

Discussion and Analysis should be determined by the Entity, in a way that best reflects its circumstances, 

noting that the specific information contained in an Entity’s Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

will vary depending on the facts and circumstances specific to the Entity.” The example should therefore 

remain illustrative. 

We recommend to prepare more examples in view of illustrating other types of public entities. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

007 A Yes, we believe that the Illustrative Example is a useful way of illustrating the requirements of the 

proposed IPSAS for the same reasons mentioned in the response to Specific Matter for Comment 6. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

008 A Yes, the illustrative example is a useful way of illustrating the requirements of the proposed IPSAS. The 

illustrative example would help the users of financial statements to comprehend the information which 

would be contained in financial statement discussion and analysis 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 
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009 A [From paragraph 3 of the response letter] 

g. In response to Comment 7 (Is the Illustrative Example a useful way of illustrating the requirements of 

the proposed IPSAS?), we agree but would like to have seen a trend line for tax rates.  In addition, the 

illustrative example included with ED 47 includes more information about the country’s economy rather 

than the government’s financial transactions and results.  It also provides some information on trends 

in the level of revenue and expenditure over time, but not examples of explanations to account for 

significant differences between the budget and actual results. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

011 D ACAG believes the Illustrative Example may be useful in illustrating what the IPSASB envisages as 

meeting the requirements set out in the ED. There is, however, a risk that inclusion of an illustrative 

example may promote the provision of information that does not relate to the specific operations, practices 

and circumstances of the entity.  

ACAG notes however that the Illustrative Example does not contain the level of detail which is contained in 

Section B of the Implementation Guidance. This may lead to confusion. Further, given the broad range of 

entities to which the proposed standard may be applied, it is not possible to provide an example relative to 

all entities.  

Staff notes the respondent’s views 

about the risks of including an 

illustrative example and about the 

usefulness of the example to entities 

other than national governments. 

012 B Yes, agreed.  However, a separate example could be included to illustrate the analysis of an individual 

entity and not the whole of government only. 

Staff position: Staff notes the time 

required to develop another example 

for smaller entities that are not 

governments may exceed the 

benefits of doing so, especially if the 

IPSASB decides to not issue the 

material as an IPSAS. Staff does not 

propose to develop another 

example. 

013 B Yes.  We agree that an Illustrative Example is useful.   

We question, however, whether all the material in the Illustrative Example is relevant. In our view, the 

financial statement discussion and analysis should address the financial affairs and management of the 

government: it is not the place for a review of how the government has managed the country or the 

Staff position: Staff notes the time 

required to develop another example 

for smaller entities that are not 

governments may exceed the 
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economy (except to the limited extent that the performance of the national economy impacts on the 

finances of the government). 

An example that deals with a lower level of government might be more helpful: in particular, it would 

provide a more comprehensive illustration of the requirements of the standard as the limitations referred to 

in the footnote on page 33 would not apply.   

benefits of doing so, especially if the 

IPSASB decides to not issue the 

material as an IPSAS. Staff does not 

propose to develop another 

example. 

014 A We accept that an illustrative example is generally useful, as long as it is perceived as an example and not 

as best practice to which preparers feel the need to slavishly adhere. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

015 B We agree that the Illustrative Example is a useful way of illustrating the requirements proposed in the 

IPSAS, however we might suggest that the example be made to illustrate more real world scenarios.  We 

suggest that a second example be developed for a public sector entity that is less than a sovereign nation.  

This might help financial statement preparers for these entities better understand what is needed for the 

financial statement discussion and analysis.   

… Lastly, the example of a financial statement discussion and analysis provided in ED 47 appears to be 

that of a sovereign entity.  We suggest that a second example, other than for a sovereign entity, be 

developed and included in the IPSASB’s guidance.   

Staff position: Staff notes the time 

required to develop another example 

for smaller entities that are not 

governments may exceed the 

benefits of doing so, especially if the 

IPSASB decides to not issue the 

material as an IPSAS. Staff does not 

propose to develop another 

example. 

016 B We are concerned that some of the material covered in the Illustrative Examples is very broad and could 

be used as an opportunity to make political statements, rather than explaining the background to the 

financial statements.  For example, the discussion about the “Economic Action Strategy” goes beyond 

material that is usually contained in a general purpose financial report.  If the Illustrative Example is 

retained, we recommend that it (i) be limited to issues of direct relevance to general purpose financial 

reporting; (ii) include an explanation of how the information in the FSDA links to the financial statements 

themselves and other general purpose information presented by the entity, including service performance 

information and information on long term sustainability and (iii) a note that there may be other aspects of 

the entity’s strategy that are not included in the general purpose financial report.  

Another suggestion for the Illustrative Examples is the use of a section on “frequently asked questions” as 

a way of making information more accessible to readers. We are aware of an entity that has used this 

approach and has had positive feedback (see Sky Television Limited Annual Report 2011, pages 9 and 

Staff position: Staff considers the 

items presented in the Illustrative 

Example, including the EAS, were 

linked to the financial statements in 

the commentary.  

Staff has proposed guidance in the 

body of the document linking FSDA 

to SPR, LTFS, and the notes to the 

financial statements – it is not 

proposed this would also be 

included in the IE. 

Staff is conscious the time required 
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10, http://www.skytv.co.nz/company-profile.aspx).   to redesign the IE in ED 47 and will 

consider the need to retain the IE in 

light of the IPSASB’s decision 

whether to issue the material as an 

IPSAS. It is noted that the IASB 

guidance does not include an 

illustrative example.  

017 B HoTARAC agrees. However, it is not clear how the information provided in Exhibit 1 would meet the key 

qualitative characteristic of relevance to the users of General Purpose Financial Reports as presentation 

of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) figures may not relate to the detailed analysis or explanation on the 

information presented in the financial statements nor on the entity itself.  

In general, HoTARAC believes further work might be required in developing the illustrative example. In 

particular HoTARAC considers the use of Country A as an example might not be the best example to 

demonstrate the requirements of the proposals. As noted in footnote 1 of the example, since the 

Government of Country A is a government and not a sub-entity of a government, some details such as 

mission and vision and description of the governance and management structure are not addressed in the 

example. Accordingly, HoTARAC would recommend the illustrative examples include a budget funded 

government department or and another public sector entity as this is a more common scenario for public 

sector financial statements preparers.  

The early parts of the proposed illustrative example also have a strong focus on the country’s economy, 

rather than the performance of the Government itself as per the “About the Government” section, the intial 

part of the “Objective and Strategy” section and some of the intial content in the “Risk and Uncertainties” 

section. In addition, detailed information on GDP is only tangentially relevant to the government and 

focuses on the economy, rather than the government’s activities. HoTARAC recommends this content be 

removed or the relationship with the financial statements should be explained. Relevant information may 

include percentage of GDP collected as taxes, compositions of government expenditures and revenues, 

for which there is a clear nexus with the entity and its financial statement items. 

The illustrated examples of risks and strategies are limited to funding risks while in practice an entity faces 

various types of risks, such as reputational risks, policy implementation risks and performance risks (for 

Staff position: Staff is conscious the 

time required to redesign the IE in 

ED 47 and will consider the need to 

retain the IE in light of the IPSASB’s 

decision whether to issue the 

material as an IPSAS. It is noted that 

the IASB guidance does not include 

an illustrative example. 

http://www.skytv.co.nz/
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example, not delivering service to the targeted recipients). Paragraph 27 suggests the FSDA addresses a 

broad range of risks. HoTARAC believes the Illustrative Example would benefit by providing examples of 

various types of risks. 

018 A We note that the local laws and regulations in many jurisdictions already require the provision of such a 

discussion and analysis for public sector and non-public sector entities. Our experience of the quality of 

such discussion and analysis where it is provided is that it is quite mixed. Some analysis is very good and 

some not so good with some entities adopting a ‘boiler plate and check the box’ approach to compliance 

which, is clearly contrary to the objectives of ED 47. We therefore agree that the inclusion of a discussion 

and analysis to accompany the financial statements is a positive step and we agree that the form and 

content of the examples included in section B provides a good indicator of what the discussion and 

analysis should contain. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

019 B In addition, a budget funded government entity would be a more appropriate illustrative example. … 

Finance agrees with the HoTARAC response that the illustrative examples, while potentially useful, could 

be improved. In particular, a more appropriate example would be a budget funded government deparment 

and/or other public sector entity as this is a more common scenario for public sector financial statements 

preparers. 

Staff position: Staff notes the time 

required to develop another example 

for smaller entities that are not 

governments may exceed the 

benefits of doing so, especially if the 

IPSASB decides to not issue the 

material as an IPSAS. Staff does not 

propose to develop another 

example. 

020 A Yes Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

021 C No. We consider that the illustrative example does not provide a useful way of illustrating the requirements 

of the proposed IPSAS. It is rather the exact opposite to the extent it contains information not in 

accordance with the principles set up in the proposed IPSAS: the data and comments are sometimes 

irrelevant (e.g. exhibit 1 on Gross Domestic Product by Production Group on page 34), not to mention 

errors such as several assertions made under the heading “overview of the financial statements” on page 

32 (e.g. the statement of financial position does not provide information on the amounts and timing of 

Staff position: Staff will consider the 

need to delete the IE in light of the 

IPSASB’s decision whether to issue 

the material as an IPSAS. 

It is noted that the IASB guidance 

does not include an illustrative 
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future cash flows necessary to service and repay existing claims to the Government resources). Therefore 

we recommend the deletion of the example.  

example, nor does the proposed 

RPG on LTFS. 

See analysis in AP 6.1, SMC 7. 

022 B See question 1. 

The confusion between financial statement notes and the Document is heightened by some of the 

examples used for illustration purposes in the ED that correspond to information already required in the 

notes. This is the case, for instance, with the change in the net value of tangible fixed assets, the 

breakdown of debt by currency, the depreciation of loans granted and information relating to post-balance 

sheet events. 

Staff position: As noted regarding 

SMC 3 responses, staff agrees to 

provide additional guidance in the 

scope and/or definition section to 

clarify the relationship of FSDA with 

the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability 

reports and service performance 

reports. 

023 B Yes but can be enhanced Staff position: No specific 

suggestions provided, thus no 

change is proposed. 

024 A The Province found the Illustrative Example to be very helpful in illustrating the requirements of the 

proposed IPSAS. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

025 A In reviewing the ED, we found the illustrative guideline useful and believe that it enhances 

understandability and implementation of the proposed standard once it becomes effective. We are also in 

support of the view that the example is not a template. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

026 A Should the IPSASB proceed with including illustrative examples, it is important that the examples used are 

helpful. Government departments and authorities are not likely to find the current example, a government 

of a country, particularly relevant. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

027 A Yes, the illustrative example is useful in illustrating the requirements of the proposed IPSAS. However, as 

financial statement discussion and analysis should be prepared for the same reporting entity that prepares 

and presents financial statements, it may be more useful to include examples of different levels of 

reporting entities as it will be more representative of reporting entities. The current illustrative example 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 
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seems to be aimed at a central government or at a whole-of-government reporting entity.  

028 B The Illustrative Example is somewhat helpful; however it is fully dedicated to illustrating information 

relevant to governments and does not include examples designed around other public sector entities.   

Staff position: Staff notes the time 

required to develop another example 

for smaller entities that are not 

governments may exceed the 

benefits of doing so, especially if the 

IPSASB decides to not issue the 

material as an IPSAS. Staff does not 

propose to develop another 

example. 

029 D 22. We do not have further comments on the illustrative example. Staff position: No specific 

suggestions provided, thus no 

change is proposed. 

030 A We agree with the inclusion of an illustrative example to assist entities that have not previously prepared 

this type of report. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

031 C No, even though the illustrative example provides a comprehensive example of the application of the 

requirements, it is not representative of the general public entity. 

We suggest that the example be simplified to provide an example of the typical discussion and analysis 

expected of a municipal entity or public entity with a narrower service mandate. A simplified example 

would provide clearer guidance to the level of disclosure expected from a typical size public entity with a 

limited service delivery mandate. 

Staff position: Staff notes the time 

required to develop another example 

for smaller entities that are not 

governments may exceed the 

benefits of doing so, especially if the 

IPSASB decides to not issue the 

material as an IPSAS. Staff does not 

propose to develop another 

example. 

032 B  IPSASB should avoid including extensive, detailed examples in the guidance as the preparer and audit 

community may misinterpret the examples as suggesting the actual level of detail that should be included.  

For example, the sample Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis included in the exposure draft 

Staff position: Staff will consider the 

need to delete the IE in light of the 

IPSASB’s decision whether to issue 



 IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) Agenda Item 6.2 

Agenda Item 6.2 

Page 107 of 144 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

SMC 7: Illustrative Example 

included information on the debt as a percent of GDP between different countries.  This level of detail in 

an authoritative standard may influence auditors to expect this specific disclosure in all FSD&As. Certain 

governments such as municipal governments may have little or no debt, making this type of disclosure of 

little value to the users of the financial statements. Inclusion of this sample in an authoritative standard 

may set an expectation that this information must be included even if other measures are of more value to 

users. [from respondent’s SMC 3 comments] 

the material as an IPSAS. 

It is noted that the IASB guidance 

does not include an illustrative 

example. 

032.1  Yes, the illustrative example is useful. However as previously stated in Specific Matter for Comment 3, 

governments and public sector entities may prefer to emphasize other important objectives and initiatives, 

and as such, may not follow the illustrative example or comment on issues or areas that the exposure draft 

proposes as content. The preparer and audit community may interpret the content in the examples very 

literally rather than as an alternative way to present content.  

Staff position: Should the IPSASB 

decide to retain the Illustrative 

Example, staff proposes adding 

guidance similar to that proposed for 

the Implementation Guidance (SMC 

6) to indicate that the guidance is not 

mandatory, nor does the example 

illustrate all of the required content. 

033 B The illustrative example provided is that of a country. It would be more useful if the set of illustrative 

examples could include example disclosures other public sector entities such as municipalities and 

ministries as there would presumably be more preparers in these categories.  

Staff position: Staff notes the time 

required to develop another example 

for smaller entities that are not 

governments may exceed the 

benefits of doing so, especially if the 

IPSASB decides to not issue the 

material as an IPSAS. Staff does not 

propose to develop another 

example. 

033.1  We question the appropriateness of some of the content in the illustrative example. Firstly, the section on 

‘about the government’, it largely contains information about the economy of the country that the 

government governs, rather than the government itself, which we would have thought should be the main 

focus of that section. 

Secondly, the discussion of ‘objectives and strategy’ seems more in the nature of a political party’s 

Staff position: Staff considers the 

items presented in the Illustrative 

Example were linked to the financial 

statements in the commentary.  
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election campaign document. For example, the ‘Highlights of the EAS’ shows that this government’s 

strategy has resulted in only good news all round, and no bad news, which would be unusual. It would be 

useful for preparers for more realistic/practical examples to be included. 

034 B Whilst the AASB thinks that the Example is potentially useful, particularly to governments that have not 

provided FSDA information previously, it is a long and detailed illustration of the FSDA for a national 

government, and therefore irrelevant to other public sector entities, such as government departments and 

authorities.  Given that real examples will be available from governments and other entities that provide 

FSDA under either an IPSAS or other requirements, the AASB suggests that the Example should not be 

retained in a final pronouncement. 

Staff position: Staff will consider the 

need to delete the IE in light of the 

IPSASB’s decision whether to issue 

the material as an IPSAS. 

It is noted that the IASB guidance 

does not include an illustrative 

example. 

035 B Yes, the Illustrative Example is a useful way of illustrating the requirements of the proposed IPSAS.  

Where a specific item was not addressed, the reason for omitting that item was disclosed in the footnotes; 

however, it would be more practical to include an illustrative example with no omitted items, to accurately 

portray what would be discussed if the omitted items were applicable to the entity.  

Staff position: Staff is conscious the 

time required to redesign the IE in 

ED 47 and notes that the example is 

not intended to illustrate all of the 

required content of FSDA. 

Staff will consider the need to retain 

the IE in light of the IPSASB’s 

decision whether to issue the 

material as an IPSAS. It is noted that 

the IASB guidance does not include 

an illustrative example. 

036 A Yes, I think that example useful way of illustrating the requirements of the proposed IPSAS, principally for 

jurisdictions understand this process is very important. 

Staff notes the respondent’s 

agreement. 

037 C We support that the illustrative example has not been issued as authoritative guidance. However, the 

illustrative example is overly detailed and could be viewed as being prescriptive with the result that FSD&A 

issued under the proposed guidance could follow the descriptions contained in the illustrative example 

rather than meeting the requirement to adequately discuss and analyse the entity’s resources and 

Staff will consider the need to retain 

the IE in light of the IPSASB’s 

decision whether to issue the 

material as an IPSAS. It is noted that 

the IASB guidance does not include 
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obligations at the reporting date and the flow of resources between reporting dates. an illustrative example. 
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COMMENTS ON OTHER KEY ISSUES – FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENT (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE prospective information s/be provided 006, 011, 014, 017, 018, 019, 022, 023, 033 9 

B – DISAGREE prospective information should be provided 004, 010, 021 3 

C – NO CLEAR VIEW provided in comments 013, 016, 026, 031 4 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  16 

D – DID NOT COMMENT ― 21 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS  37 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

Forward-Looking Information 

004 B Accordingly, the CNOCP believes that a Presentation Report on Financial Statements: 

 must be confined to the analysis of the financial statements, without forward-looking information 

or duplication of the disclosures; ... 

Staff position:  

Clarity is required regarding the 

extent to which prospective 

information should be provided in 

FSDA. 

Staff will reconsider the extent to 

which the inclusion of prospective 

information is appropriate in light of 

the IPSASB’s decision on whether 

the material should be issued as an 

IPSAS. Staff considers there would 

be more flexibility on this issue if the 

material is issued as guidance rather 

than an IPSAS as proposed in ED 47. 

It is noted that the IASB guidance on 
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Management Commentary includes 

forward-looking information. 

This comment will be considered in 

the detailed analysis of this issue in 

Agenda Item 6.2. 

006 A We agree with the alternative view of Mr. Thomas Müller-Marqués Berger, that disclosing forward-looking 

information, such as forecasts or projections, should be required. This information is useful and necessary 

for accountability purposes and for decision-making purposes. The current paragraphs 24 and 25 are not 

clear cut and leave doubts on what is mandatory. 

See staff position at respondent #4. 

010 B We would also agree that forward looking information statements should not be mandatory in the 

discussion and analysis section of the financial statements. There are other avenues for this information to 

be reported outside of the financial reporting process and these should be encouraged 

See staff position at respondent #4. 

011 A ACAG supports the inclusion of forward-looking information, including information such as forecasts or 

projections.  The provision of such information would allow entities to provide users of financial statements 

with information relevant to assisting them in their decision making. We are aware that user surveys 

consistently identify forward-looking information as an essential part of modern financial reporting.  Please 

refer to ACAG submissions on the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by 

Public Sector Entities where we argued for the inclusion of such information.  However, our support is 

predicated on the understanding that the Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis would not form part 

of the financial statements or otherwise require audit assurance. 

See staff position at respondent #4. 

013 C 2. Whilst we have some sympathy with the alternative view expressed in this ED we acknowledge that it 

may not be possible to introduce prospective information at this time.  However, we hope that the 

area is kept under review so that it may be standardised as practice in the future. 

See staff position at respondent #4. 

014 A The IDW has a serious concern regarding the IPSASB’s decision not to require the disclosure of forward-

looking information such as forecasts or projections (BC17). For the reasons explained below, we support 

Mr Thomas Müller-Marqués Berger’s alternative view depicted on page 19 of the exposure draft. 

We note that the IPSASB recognises that “information in the financial statements has predictive ability … 

Staff position: Clarity is required 

regarding the extent to which 

prospective information should be 

provided in FSDA. 
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and that FSDA could enhance that ability” (second sentence of BC17). We are concerned that information 

as to risk management policies and trend analyses (but excluding forward-looking analyses) – which the 

IPSASB is proposing – will, on its own, not go far enough to providing a satisfactory basis to satisfy user 

needs. In our view, arguing that users in the public sector have different information needs related to the 

financial statements (BC2) does not constitute adequate justification for denying them access to further 

forward-looking information; information that is available to the entity itself. 

For decision-making purposes and, to a lesser extent, for accountability reasons financial statement users 

need to consider the potential an entity has to undertake future operations and fulfil its service obligations, 

irrespective of whether the entity is in the public or private sector. In the absence of additional reporting 

being made available to them, users are left to study solely an entity’s financial statements and to use the 

information therein as a basis for making their own assumptions and predictions as to the entity’s likely 

future operations and service potential, etc. Clearly, the more reliable such assumptions or predictions can 

be, the more useful they will be to those users. In our opinion, reducing the gap between the information 

available to users of the financial statements and that available to management (ref: GAS 15.3) as far as 

is reasonable ought therefore to be part of the objective. 

Consequently, we would like to suggest that, in addition to information as to risk management policies and 

trend analyses as proposed, the entity should be required to provide additional information as to potential 

future developments (forward-looking information
15

). We appreciate that by its very nature such 

information cannot be based on fact. However, it can be based on assumptions that in turn can be 

assessed as to their plausibility. 

In regard to an entity’s reporting in this area, we suggest a requirement not only for the entity to report on 

projected plans and expectations but also for it to discuss the future development in such a way that 

readers can relate this information to the reporting period. For example, FSDA could include a discussion 

or table of expected trends, explanation of principal influencing factors etc., such that it is clear that any 

Staff notes that if the material is not 

issued as an IPSAS, but as an RPG, 

it may be possible to go as far as the 

IASB guidance. If so, this 

respondent’s detailed comments 

could be incorporated in the 

guidance. 

                                                 
15

  Paragraphs 34 and 35 of GAS 15 specify: “The provision of forward-looking information also includes reporting on existing projections and management’s expectations for the 

following two financial years. At a minimum, this shall consist of qualitative information, which shall be explained in the context of the material operating environment.” and “The 

short-term and long-term views highlighted in the group management report shall be linked. The development of the business and the economic position of the group shall be 

explained in the context of expected developments, together with the material opportunities and risks associated with such developments”.  

 GAS 15 is currently subject to revision. Among other things, it is proposed that rather than including forward looking information for a period spanning two years, such 

information should only cover one year from the balance sheet date.  [Staff Note: this is footnote 1 of the response letter.] 



 IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) Agenda Item 6.2 

Agenda Item 6.2 

Page 113 of 144 

 

R# C # RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

Forward-Looking Information 

figures provided do not purport to be exact predictions. We also refer to our response to SMC#4 in this 

context. 

016 C We consider that the proposals in ED 47 would require further development if the IPSASB wished to 

issue a standard. In particular, we have identified a number of issues relating to scope, being: 

… 

(c ) whether the focus of the FSDA is limited to past events, as reported in the historical financial 

statements, or is required to look to the future. 

Staff position: Clarity is required 

regarding the extent to which 

prospective information should be 

provided in FSDA. 

This comment will be considered in 

the detailed analysis of this issue in 

Agenda Item 6.2. 

017 A HoTARAC observes there is a tension between the threshold for inclusion of information in the FSDA and 

the required content. HoTARAC believes the IPSASB needs to be clear in regards to the user information 

needs that the proposals are aiming to meet in relation to the extent forward-looking information should be 

included in the FSDA. Paragraph 10 states the FSDA will be ‘based on currently known facts and 

supportable assumptions’. Additionally, paragraph 24 states while financial statements can have a 

predictive or prospective role, the ED does not require the entity to disclose forward-looking information, 

such as forecasts or projections. As the ED also proposes the FSDA provide information on risks, 

strategies and other forward-looking information, this creates an obvious tension between the required 

content and the restrictions on sources of information. 

HoTARAC recommends the IPSASB develop a clear and consistent package. This should clearly 

delineate the user needs the ED is meeting, what forward-looking information should be included to meet 

these needs (if any) and the basis for this information (i.e. appropriate fact-based and supportable 

assumptions need to be clarified). However, HoTARAC’s preference is that the FSDA include forward-

looking information through narrative explanations or qualified data, but exclude projections and forecasts. 

This would be consistent with the IFRS Practice Statement and would align with HoTARAC’s view that 

IPSASB and IASB work together to achieve convergence. 

Alternative View 

As mentioned above, HoTARAC agrees with the Alternative View with respect to the requirement to 

include forward-looking information, albeit excluding forecasts and projections. 

Staff position: Staff agrees that the 

suggested delineation is required to 

avoid the confusion in ED 47.  

Staff agrees with the proposed 

approach if the material is issued as 

an IPSAS. However, if the material is 

not issued as an IPSAS, but as an 

RPG, it may be possible to go as far 

as the IASB guidance on 

Management Commentary.  
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018 A We note the alternative view that ED 47 should require forward looking information and we are 

sympathetic to this view. Currently financial statements are mainly backwards looking, although the 

progression towards the use of fair value in accounting standards has resulted in financial statements 

containing much more forward looking information than they did previously.  However, we consider it 

would be worthwhile revisiting the consideration of including forward looking information particularly in the 

context of when a public sector entity has an agreed budget for the next financial period and when 

government has set targets for spending and borrowing. 

See staff position at respondent #4. 

019 A Scope of the Proposals 

Finance agrees with HoTARAC’s comments and consider this matter significant enough to raise it in its 

own submission. Finance’s recommends that IPSASB clearly delineates the user needs the ED is 

meeting, what forward-looking information should be included to meet these needs (if any) and the basis 

for this information (i.e. appropriate fact-based and supportable assumptions need to be clarified). If the 

FSDA is an explanation of the financial statements without consideration of future prospects, strategies 

and risks will only be included to the extent they have been implemented in the past or exist as at 

reporting date and the restriction of information to currently known facts and supportable assumptions is 

appropriate. However, if the proposals are intended to include assessment of the entities future prospects 

in respect to strategic directions and risks and opportunities, as suggested in the ED, discussion around 

the topics will usually require inclusion of the forecasts, projections and predictions that underpin 

management decisions in these areas. There is a need to clarify the Board’s intention on this matter. 

Staff position: Staff notes that the 

intent in ED 47 was to  

021 B We agree with the “minimum required content” developed on paragraphs 15 up to paragraph 23. However, 

from paragraph 24, we note that the ED appears somewhat confusing with a blurred borderline between 

forward-looking information and financial statements information. We recall that prospective information is 

dealt with by a reporting on sustainability of public finances, not in a FSDA which is an analysis of 

accounting information as at the reporting date. 

Staff position: Clarity is required 

regarding the extent to which 

prospective information should be 

provided in FSDA. 

Staff notes that if the material is not 

issued as an IPSAS, but as an RPG, 

it may be possible to go as far as the 

IASB guidance. If so, this 

respondent’s detailed comments 
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could be incorporated in the 

guidance. 

022 A I agree with Thomas view regarding the forward looking information to meet the users needs and enhance 

accountability and transparency and fulfill public interest requirement.  

1. BC2 - I agree the private sector approach on management commentary may not be suitable for 

public sector entities but there is a lot that can be borrowed from this. To enhance efficiency and 

economy of public sector entities it is good to look at them like a business entity in terms of 

resource utilization and performance, hence some similarities with this private sector approach.  

2. Also in majority of cases the key decision makers like permanent secretaries may not necessary 

be professional accountants thus with adoption of IPSAS standardization of the standard setting 

process and reporting can be achieved by adopting a similar approach. Given the relationship 

between IFRS and IPSAS the input of private sector standard setters would be helpful in public 

sector standard setting process as well.  

See staff position at respondent #4. 

026 C The proposals also specifically exclude prospective information which is inconsistent with the IASB 

proposals. 

Staff position: Clarity is required 

regarding the extent to which 

prospective information should be 

provided in FSDA. 

Staff notes that if the material is not 

issued as an IPSAS, but as an RPG, 

it may be possible to go as far as the 

IASB guidance. If so, this 

respondent’s detailed comments 

could be incorporated in the 

guidance. 

023 A Yes it is but it can be enhanced: a) inclusion of forward looking information is crucial - government plans 

cover a longer period like 5 years hence the discussion and analysis should cover same period as the 

future outlook is captured in this analysis. … 

See staff position at respondent #4. 
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031 C The ED states that the information should be based on “currently known facts and supportable 

assumptions”, but other information in the ED seems to be forward looking. 

Staff position: Clarity is required 

regarding the extent to which 

prospective information should be 

provided in FSDA. 

Staff notes that if the material is not 

issued as an IPSAS, but as an RPG, 

it may be possible to go as far as the 

IASB guidance. If so, this 

respondent’s detailed comments 

could be incorporated in the 

guidance. 

033 A We also agree with the alternative view that forward-looking information be disclosed to provide users with 

better and more complete information for decision-making purposes. Furthermore, we believe it is also 

difficult not to discuss forward-looking information in order to fulfill the disclosure objectives of paragraphs 

18, 24-25 and 27-32. 

See staff position at respondent #4. 

033.1  It is unclear what type of information is required, whether the information disclosed under paragraph 18 

should relate only to historical information or should also incorporate future information. In particular, 

paragraph 18(d) refers to trends, events and developments which ‘have or could have’ a material impact 

on the entity’s financial position and financial performance. Given that the FSD&A is supposed to relate to 

historical financial statements, the requirements described in this paragraph seems to indicate that future 

trends be analyzed and discussed. If the IPSASB had intended it to relate only to past information, we 

believe the paragraph should be in the past tense, i.e. using ‘had’ instead of ‘have or could have’. 

 

Staff position: Staff does not agree 

with the grammatical change 

suggested in para. 18. Staff 

considers that the guidance in 

Section C of the Implementation 

Guidance clearly indicates that the 

trends developed in the past. What 

may occur, as shown in the 

Illustrative Example, is that the entity 

may comment on the possible 

impacts if the trend continues. This 

comment will need to be considered 

in light of the IPSASB’s decision on 
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prospective information. 

033.2  Paragraphs 24 and 25 are unclear as to what is or is not required in future-oriented information. On one 

hand, paragraph 24 states that it is not required, on the other hand, paragraph 25 seems to suggest that it 

is. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to 

expand para. 25 as suggested by the 

respondent to clarify the intent of 

FSDA which is not to provide 

prospective information, but to allow 

users to develop their own 

prospective judgments. (see 

respondent #27) 
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014 We agree with the IPSASB that whilst the audit of FSDA is desirable, imposing an audit 

requirement on such information exceeds the Board’s mandate (BC10).  

In the private sector in Germany management reports are, by law, subject to independent 

assurance. Similar requirements also apply in much of the public sector. 

Considerations about whether FSDA should be subject to any form of assurance engagement 

should take into account the level of assurance users would desire. 

Staff position: This comment is dependent 

on the IPSASB’s decision regarding SMC 1.  

Staff notes that the IPSASB’s goal is not to 

adopt the reporting regime in any particular 

jurisdiction, but rather, to provide a set of 

principles for the preparation of FSDA 

when it is prepared in conjunction with 

accrual-based financial statements 

prepared in accordance with IPSASs.  

Staff considers that if the material is not 

issued as an IPSAS, the issue of 

audit/assurance is minimized. Although 

FSDA is issued with the financial 

statements, there is less concern that it 

would be considered part of the financial 

statements and thus subject to the same 

audit requirements. 

017 HoTARAC agrees FSDA should not be audited, but a certain level of assurance may be able to 

be provided by the auditor of the financial statements regarding whether the information is 

consistent with the audited financial statements information. Current International Standard on 

Auditing ISA 720 The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents 

containing Audited Financial Statements requires auditors to check the information provided in 

the annual report for consistency with financial statements and for any material misstatement of 

facts. IPSASB may wish to liaise with the International Auditing and Assurance Standards 

Staff position: Staff notes that the ISAs 

apply only to the financial statements. As 

noted in ED 47, FSDA is not part of the 

financial statements. Neither audit nor any 

other form of assurance is required under 

ED 47, regardless of whether it is ultimately 

issued as an IPSAS, because FSDA is not 
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Board to determine whether ISA 720 is adequate for the FSDA or if is not, what level of 

assurance can be provided on the FSDA. 

 

part of the financial statements. The 

auditor’s report indicates the scope of the 

audit, if prepared in accordance with ISA 

720. 

It is up to each entity/jurisdiction to 

determine the level of assurance required 

for FSDA.  

Under the current suite of IAASB 

pronouncements, assurance could be 

provided under the International Standards 

on Assurance Engagements (ISAEs). It is 

not the objective of the proposed standard 

to determine assurance matters. 

017.1 HoTARAC supports the IPSASB’s proposal of a standalone document. IPSASB may wish to 

consider a proposal that if an entity adopts this ED in full, it could include a comment in its 

FSDA to this regard. HoTARAC suggests the scope section of the proposals refers to the 

entities that prepare General Purpose Financial Reports, removing the reference to IPSAS, in 

particular IPSAS 1.This may entice non-IPSAS compliant entities to adopt the ED requirements 

for their FSDA.  

Staff position: Staff notes that ED47.13 

contains such a requirement. Staff does not 

consider it necessary to refer to GPFRs as 

FSDA is intended to relate closely to the 

financial statements. 

Staff does not propose removing the 

reference to IPSASs. The IFRS Practice 

Statement is applicable to management 

commentary on financial statements 

prepared in accordance with IFRSs. 

See AP 6.1, SMC 1 for proposed wording 

changes. 

017.2 If the proposed ED proceeds as a standard, referring to an IPSAS, rather than a guidance 

document, HoTARAC seeks the clarification of IPSASB’s intent on the inclusion of non-IPSAS 

Staff position: As noted for respondent #14 

under SMC 4, in cases where the FSDA 
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compliant information. Based on the wording of paragraphs 9 and A.IG1, HoTARAC infers the 

IPSASB’s intent is that information included in the FSDA is in accordance with relevant IPSAS. 

However, the first sentence of paragraph 22 explains the situation where “financial measures 

that are not required or defined by IPSASs” are included in the FSDA, which HoTARAC also 

infers as allowing inclusion of non-IPSAS compliant information. HoTARAC recommends that 

the IPSASB clarify the principles or parameters governing the inclusion of non-IPSAS compliant 

information. At the very least, HoTARAC suggests IPSASB requiring an entity to identify any 

non-IPSAS compliant information that is included in the FSDA. Additionally, if IPSASB intends 

allowing non-IPSAS compliant information to be included in the FSDA (as inferred from 

paragraph 22), there would be a compliance issue if the IPSASB was to proceed with an 

IPSAS. 

measures go beyond those in the financial 

statements it may not be possible for them 

to be reconciled to the financial statements. 

See AP 6.1, SMC 4 for analysis of this 

issue. 

024 Since the guidance will be issued as an IPSAS, the Province is concerned that its financial 

statement discussion and analysis will be come under the same assurance standards as the 

financial statements.  IPSASB considered this issue and has taken measures by amending 

IPSAS 1.  The amendment states that, while financial statement discussion and analysis is 

required to be issued with all financial statements, the financial statement discussion and 

analysis is not a component of the financial statements.  The Province hopes this measure will 

be sufficient to clarify to the audit community that the contents of the financial statement 

discussion and analysis are not subject to audit requirements. However, the audit community 

will at times interpret differently and/or audit to a higher standard, thus potentially imposing audit 

requirements on the FSD&A. 

Staff position: The issue of whether the 

material will be issued as an IPSAS is to be 

determined by the IPSASB in SMC 1. As 

noted above for respondent #14, the issue 

of audit/assurance is minimized if the 

material is not issued as an IPSAS. 

027 3. Paragraph .13 requires an entity whose financial statement discussion and analysis 

complies with the proposed IPSAS to make an explicit and unreserved statement of such 

compliance. A similar requirement is included in IPSAS 1.28 where an entity, whose 

financial statements comply with IPSAS, is required to make an explicit and unreserved 

statement of such compliance in the notes.  

 Because the financial statement discussion and analysis will not form part of the financial 

statements, entities will be required to include two compliance statements – one for the 

Staff position: Staff considers it necessary 

to include a separate compliance statement 

for FSDA because FSDA is not part of the 

financial statements.  

As noted above, the auditor’s report on the 

financial statements, if prepared in 

accordance with ISA 720, indicates the 
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financial statements that comply with IPSASs, and another for the financial statement 

discussion and analysis as required by paragraph .13. This requirement could be explained 

in the Exposure Draft. However, with reference to our response to specific matter for 

comment 1, such statements may be confusing to users in understanding what is included 

and what is excluded from the financial statements, and in understanding what information 

have been subjected to the audit requirements.  

scope of the audit. 

027.1 15. We are of the view that the conclusion reached in BC 10 could lead to the situation where 

financial statement discussion and analysis will not carry any significance because it is not 

subjected to audit. If financial statement discussion and analysis is to be issued as an 

IPSAS, information presented should be subjected to an audit. As the information to be used 

in preparing financial statement discussion and analysis must be based on currently known 

facts and verifiable assumptions, the reason not to subject it to an audit out of concern for a 

qualified opinion, is confusing.  

Staff position: Ideally, FSDA would be 

subject to audit or some other form of 

assurance as to its reliability. However, it is 

not the IPSASB’s role to mandate this. 

Staff will review the Basis for Conclusions 

reasoning in light of the IPSASB’s 

decisions on SMC 1 and its impact on this 

issue. 

028 However, it should be noted that ISA 720 further states that “if, on reading the other information, 

the auditor identifies a material inconsistency, the auditor shall determine whether the audited 

financial statements or the other information needs to be revised.  If revision of the audited 

financial statements is necessary and management refuses to make the revision, the auditor 

shall modify the opinion in the auditor’s report in accordance with ISA 705” (paras. 8 and 9). 

In addition, it should be acknowledged that auditors of the IPSAS compliant financial statements 

prepared by public sector entities may not necessarily follow pronouncements of the IFAC’s 

International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and may be conducting audits in 

accordance with other frameworks. 

Staff position: Staff will review the Basis for 

Conclusions reasoning in light of the 

IPSASB’s decisions on SMC 1 and its 

impact on this issue. In particular, the BFC 

should acknowledge the possibility that 

jurisdictions preparing FSDA in accordance 

with ED 47 may not follow the IAASB suite 

of standards for audit/ assurance. 

028.1 As discussed in the response to the Specific matter for Comment 2 above, financial statement 

discussion and analysis would not be subject to audit whereas the notes to financial statements 

are audited.  Therefore relocation of any information (including but not limited to scope of 

IPSAS 24) between these parts of the annual report would have direct impact on the audit 

Staff position: See staff comments at SMC 

2 on the issue of the actual-to-budget 

comparison. 
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scope.  It would be helpful to know the Board’s position on this issue.      

028.2 The Task Force members are also concerned that should ED 47 become a standard, audit 

procedures would be applied to the financial statement discussion and analysis, which in turn 

would result in higher audit costs for a reporting entity (fees and other resources). In addition, 

auditors may take the view that in order to identify material inconsistencies between the audited 

financial statements and other information, an audit of the other information prepared in 

accordance with IPSAS would be required.  This would be especially applicable in cases when 

audits were conducted in accordance with frameworks other than IFAC’s International Auditing 

and Assurance Standards Board, which is often true for auditors of public sector entities. 

Staff position: As pointed out previously, 

there is no requirement in ED 47 for audit or 

assurance on the FSDA. If the auditor 

makes a decision to conduct an audit, that 

is a matter for agreement between the 

auditor and the entity. 

Staff considers the benefits of preparing 

FSDA outweigh the costs of its preparation, 

as noted in paras. BC5 – BC8. 

031 We believe that ISA 720 is applicable and the auditor would read the information to determine 

whether it is consistent with the financial statements. Even though some of the information 

seems forward looking, the auditor is not required to provide an opinion on the other information 

and we do not foresee any audit implications. 

… 

It will not be possible for the auditor to express an opinion on the required management 

discussion and analysis presented by management in totality, for example: 

 The information that is required to be disclosed will contain financial and non-financial 

measures and data. Some of these measures are open to interpretation and not 

defined in terms of a framework. The auditor would have to consider the type of 

measure to be reported on to determine whether it could be included in an assurance 

engagement by the auditors. In general, the auditor cannot express an opinion on non-

financial measures. 

 Some of the disclosures will be forward-looking and therefore not capable of being 

audited within the usual scope of an audit of historical information prepared in 

accordance with a recognized financial reporting framework. 

 Some of the information will require the analysis of certain service objective income 

Staff position: As pointed out previously, 

there is no requirement in ED 47 for audit or 

assurance on the FSDA. If the auditor 

makes a decision to conduct an audit, that 

is a matter for agreement between the 

auditor and the entity. 
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and expenditure in more detail, to calculate a service result) net income/cost per 

service objective) and may be beyond the capacity and competencies of smaller 

municipalities. The auditor’s scope would be significantly increased from financial 

statement audit requirements. 

 The extent of qualitative disclosures, for example, risks and uncertainties, would bring 

about an increased audit scope, as these disclosures are not clearly defined, could be 

entity specific and be influenced by various factors. It is also envisioned that the 

disclosures could reside in a separate section of the financial report. The expression of 

an opinion by the auditor on these disclosures would require careful consideration to 

determine if at all possible. 

 It is proposed that the management discussion and analysis should be read by the 

auditor in accordance with ISA 720 to identify any material inconsistencies with the 

audited financial statements. Thus, “when the auditor reads the other information, the 

auditor does so in the light of the knowledge the auditor has acquired during the audit 

and accordingly does not express any opinion on the management discussion and 

analysis”. 

031.1 The cost of the additional reporting and auditing should be evaluated against the benefit the 

additional disclosures are expected to provide to users of the financial statements. 

Staff position: As pointed out previously, 

staff considers the benefits of preparing 

FSDA outweigh the costs of its preparation, 

as noted in paras. BC5 – BC8. 

032 Issuing guidance on FSD&A as an authoritative standard may present unintended consequence 

for the audit community and will blur the lines of responsibility between management and the 

auditor.  As a reporting standard, the extent and nature of audit procedures that would be 

required under IAS may impede the efficiency and timeliness of their audit work and cause 

unforeseen delays in finalizing the financial reports for release. 

… 

Furthermore, by issuing an authoritative standard it may open the door to have the Auditor 

Staff position: As pointed out previously, 

there is no requirement in ED 47 for audit or 

assurance on the FSDA. If the auditor 

makes a decision to conduct an audit, that 

is a matter for agreement between the 

auditor and the entity (or those charged 

with governance of the entity, which may 
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General influence the content of the FSD&A, which would potentially blur the lines of 

responsibility between management and the external auditor. We feel that the current level of 

audit involvement with information contained within the FSD&A is appropriate and best serves 

the public interest.   

include a legislature that provides a 

legislative auditor with its audit mandate). 

 

033 More considerations should also be given to the implication of issuing this as an IPSAS from an 

audit perspective. We are concerned that issuing this ED as an authoritative standard while 

specifically excluding it from the financial statements may create an unintended conflict as the 

financial statements would be expected to achieve fair presentation on their own, but it would 

also imply that the FSD&A disclosed outside of the financial statements is necessary to achieve 

fair presentation. In our view, the disclosures in the FSD&A should be a standalone document 

that complements the financial statements. If the IPSASB believes that there are deficiencies 

within the disclosure requirements in existing standards, the existing standards need to be 

amended rather than establishing reliance on information presented outside of the financial 

statements. 

Staff position: As pointed out previously, 

there is no requirement in ED 47 for audit or 

assurance on the FSDA. 

FSDA is not intended to signal deficiencies 

in financial statement disclosures, but to 

provide additional perspectives on the 

financial statements for users. 

 

033.1 Amendments to IPSAS 1.27: Based on the amendments one could conclude that the principle 

of fair presentation does not apply to FSD&A. We assume that this is not intended by the 

IPSASB. Therefore, we would think that it should also apply to FSD&A. We suggest that the 

IPSASB clarify the relationship between fairly presented financial statements and fairly 

presented FSD&A. 

Staff position: ED 47 requires FSDA to 

follow certain principles, consistent with 

the QCs in IPSAS 1, that are intended to 

result in ‘fair presentation’ of the FSDA (not 

the financial statements). ED 47 provides 

flexibility to allow various presentations of 

the required FSDA content without being 

prescriptive. Because there is no audit/ 

assurance requirement, the concept of fair 

presentation is not necessary for FSDA. 
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Definition of FSDA 

017 HoTARAC considers the definition of FSDA as ‘an explanation of the significant items, 

transactions and events presented in an entity’s financial statements and the trends and factors 

that influenced them’ to be too restrictive and inconsistent with the matters intended to be 

addressed in the statement, i.e. an overview of the entity, information about the entity’s 

objectives and strategies, and risks and uncertainties. For example, the entity’s objectives are 

broader than the proposed definition. HoTARAC would suggest the eventual definition includes 

the following words, “It aims to provide an overview of the entity’s operations, its objectives, 

strategies and risks. In addition, it provides an explanation of...” 

Staff position: See AP 6.1, Definition of 

FSDA analysis. 

022 The ED defines the Document as “an explanation of the significant items, transactions and 

events presented in an entity’s financial statements and the trends and factors that influenced 

them.”  

Moreover, IPSAS 1 states that financial statements are explained in detail and commented upon 

in the notes to the accounts
16

. IPSAS 1.7 defines the notes as follows: “Notes provide narrative 

descriptions or disaggregations of items disclosed in those statements and information about 

items that do not qualify for recognition in those statements”. These two definitions which are 

similar, apply in principle to documents with different contents and purposes but, in the final 

analysis, they make it impossible to distinguish between the Document and the notes.  

In our opinion, the definition in the Document, which has similar objectives to those of the 

Management Discussion & Analysis (MD&A) reports issued in the private sector, is 

inappropriate. 

[Staff note: From comments on SMC 1 section of response] 

Staff position: See AP 6.1, Definition of 

FSDA analysis. 

                                                 
16 

The notes to the financial statements also include information on significant post-balance sheet events that have no connection with the financial period just ended, when they could 

influence economic decisions made by financial statement users. 
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027 Definition of financial statement discussion and analysis 

We are of the view that the term “significant” in the definition of financial statement discussion 

and analysis should be deleted in the proposed definition since IPSASs apply to items, 

transactions and events that are significant. It is therefore not necessary to include a specific 

reference to “significant” in the definition.  

Staff position: See AP 6.1, Definition of 

FSDA analysis. 

027.1 We also propose that the definition should require management’s view on significant risks and 

uncertainties. 

(Refer to the amendment proposed in comment 6 below) 

We therefore propose that the definition for financial statement discussion and analysis be 

amended as follows (taking into account the comment in 1 and 2 above): 

Financial statement discussion and analysis is an explanation of the significant items, 

transactions, and events presented in an entity’s financial statements, the environment in which 

it operates and significant risks, uncertainties, trends and factors that influenced them.  

[Staff note: Amendment from comment 6 included here.] 

Staff position: See AP 6.1, Definition of 

FSDA analysis. 

033 Other comments 

 The definition of FSD&A in paragraph 8 is very broad and it is not clear how the FSD&A 

links with the notes to the financial statements. We suggest that the definition be refined to 

include the aim/objective of FSD&A. 

Staff position: See AP 6.1, Definition of 

FSDA analysis and SMC 4 (Placement of 

Disclosures within Financial Reports). 
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Convergence with IFRS Practice Statement 

017 Modification of IFRS document  

As per previous comments submitted to the IPSASB and other standard-setters, HoTARAC’s 

preference is that the IPSASB and IASB work closely to achieve convergence of their respective 

frameworks and other pronouncements. HoTARAC is not convinced that there exist public sector 

issues that warrant a divergence from the IFRS Practice Statement. If IPSASB is of a different 

view, then HoTARAC recommends it applies the usual process outlined in the IPSASB 

document Process for Reviewing and Modifying IASB Documents to support its decision. 

HoTARAC notes the justification of paragraph BC2 for not converging with the IFRS Practice 

Statement on the grounds of the users being different and the greater regulatory oversight of the 

private sector; however HoTARAC is not satisfied that these would require substantially different 

information than would be provided by private sector entities. 

Staff position: The process referred to by 

the respondent was followed in 

developing and approving the March 2008 

Project Brief on Narrative Reporting (the 

IPSASB changed the title to Financial 

Statement Discussion and Analysis to 

clarify the scope of the report). 

The IPSASB based its development of the 

required content of FSDA on the QCs in 

IPSAS 1 and on certain of the other 

IPSASs (e.g., IPSAS 24). 

In addition, the IASB document was 

considered in developing the content and 

guidance of ED 47, to the extent it was 

considered relevant. 

Staff does not consider it necessary to 

revisit the decision to converge, but will 

consider revising the Basis for 

Conclusions to strengthen its rationale for 

non-convergence. This will be linked to 

other changes that may be necessary in 

light of the IPSASB’s decision on SMC 1. 

In addition, staff has proposed a number 

of changes to ED 47 which are based on 
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Convergence with IFRS Practice Statement 

the IFRS Practice Statement. 

019 Finance recommends the IPSASB provide further justification for not amending the International 

Accounting Standards Board’s International Financial Reporting Standard Practice Statement 

Management Commentary. As per IPSASB previous practice this should be based on a clear 

analysis of public sector issues consistent with the IPSASB document Process for Reviewing 

and Modifying IASB Documents. 

Modification of International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) document  

Finance notes the justification of BC2 for not converging with the IFRS Practice Statement 

Management Commentary (the IFRS Practice Statement) on the grounds of the users being 

different and the greater regulatory oversight of the private sector. As the required content of the 

FSDA appears similar to the IFRS Practice Statement and the proposals reinforce oversight by 

being an International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) with mandatory application, 

Finance recommends the IPSASB more clearly enunciate the reason for not modifying the IFRS 

Practice Statement by reference to the IPSASB document Process for Reviewing and Modifying 

IASB Documents. As per previous HoTARAC comments submitted to the IPSASB and other 

standard-setters, Finance’s preference is also that the IPSASB and International Accounting 

Standards Board work closely to achieve convergence of their respective frameworks and other 

pronouncements, unless divergence is justified for situations and circumstances unique to the 

public sector issues. 

See staff position for respondent #17 above. 

021 We concur with the IPSASB conclusion that this FSDA project is not a convergence project with 

the IFRS Management Commentary, the rationale being well explained in Basis for Conclusions 

BC2. We therefore welcome the IPSASB consultation on this matter. 

Staff notes the respondent’s agreement with 

non-convergence and the reasons therefor. 

026 We do not believe the IPSASB has made the case for non-convergence with the IASB 

Management Commentary practice statement. 

See staff position for respondent #17 above. 

029 Risks and Uncertainties (paragraphs from 27 to 32) 

17. In paragraphs 27 to 32 of the ED, disclosure of the risks and uncertainties is required. On 

Staff position: The FSDA definition 

contains a reference to ‘significant 

items’...  Staff will consider how to best 
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Convergence with IFRS Practice Statement 

the other hand, in the IFRS Practice Statement, disclosure of entity’s principal risk 

exposures and changes is required.  

18. With respect to this, we suggest that the entities should only be required to disclose their 

principal risks, rather than requiring them to list all possible risks. 

We believe that IPSASB should also follow the requirement in paragraph 29 of the IFRS 

Practice Statement, which also requires entities to disclose their most important resources. 

By requiring entities to disclose not only the negative information such as risks, but also the 

positive information, we believe that the neutrality in information, that is an essential 

component of faithful representation, would be achieved. 

clarify the significance of financial 

statement items to FSDA and the fact that 

some items not significant to the financial 

statements may in management’s view, be 

significant to disclose in FSDA.  

In doing so, staff will consider if the IFRS 

wording could be used. 

029 Although paragraph BC 6 of the ED states that, “this Standard has been developed from a 

principles-based perspective,” there is no statement on the purpose or principles of developing 

the Standard in the ED. Therefore, we suggest that paragraphs explaining the purpose and the 

principles should be included in the ED with reference to the paragraphs 9 to 14 of the IFRS 

Practice Statement. 

Staff position: Staff does not consider 

some of the information in those 

paragraphs of the IFRS guidance to be 

appropriate, as they refer to forward-

looking information and the IFRS 

Conceptual Framework. Staff will consider 

adding relevant guidance that doesn’t 

conflict with the IPSASB’s decision on the 

scope of FDSDA, including prospective 

information. Staff notes that the IPSASB 

has already considered and rejected 

guidance that refers to ‘management’. 
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010 However, the illustrative example does not make clear who in the public entity is taking 

ownership for the discussion and analysis. The origin of discussion and analysis would aid 

accountability, particularly where there has been a change on executive roles in a year.  

Also, a more liberal use of footnotes in the exemplar would reinforce the objectivity of the 

evidence base and allow the user to better assess the accuracy of interpretation in the 

commentary. 

 

012 Guidance is to be provided regarding the preparers of the financial statement discussion and 

analysis.  Will they be company directors, company financial controllers, or independent 

accountants/auditors? 

 

017 Perspective 

Similar to the IFRS Practice Statement where it is clearly expressed that management 

commentary should provide the management’s view, HoTARAC recommends clarification on 

whose views shall be represented in FSDA. 

In developing the proposals, HoTARAC agrees the FSDA should not become a forum for overly-

optimistic forecasts from management and agrees that there should be some restriction on the 

information used. 

 

026 Further, we consider the FSDA would be improved if its purpose was broadened to include the 

provision of management’s perspective of the entity performance, position and direction so as to 

assist users to understand all material factors that have influenced the information presented in 

the financial statements (and that might include information items not presented in the financial 

statements as they do not meet accounting recognition, measurement or disclosure 

requirements and/or non-financial factors). The IASB Management Commentary has a broader 
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purpose; as currently presented the FSDA is over focused on explaining the financial 

statements.  
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003 The SRS-CSPCP also discussed the difficulties that a small public body may encounter in 

drawing up a Financial Statement Commentary. Therefore, in order to be of use for a smaller 

public entity, it would be desirable to include an example, in which all 4 criteria are described 

concisely. For large public entities it is then relatively simple to complete the example and adapt 

it to their needs. 

Staff position: See staff’s position under 

SMC 7 on whether to develop a second 

illustrative example for smaller entities.  

019 Finance is also of the view that differential reporting is an important issue in the development of 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards, including FSDA. … 

Differential Reporting 

Finance broadly agrees with the HoTARAC response that the IPSASB should acknowledge 

different requirement of users of financial statements and sees differential reporting as an 

important issue in the continuing development of IPSASs, including the FSDA.  

Staff position: Staff agrees that the 

different needs of users could be 

acknowledged, but notes that ED 47 

encourages entities to tailor the 

information reported in FSDA, which 

accomplishes the goal of ‘differential 

reporting’.  

Staff notes that this issue could be 

reconsidered for FSDA in the event the 

IPSASB addresses differential reporting 

for the financial statements to which 

FSDA relates. 
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003 Its contents should, however, be noticeably improved in 2 ways. 

Firstly it should be more clearly explained that the list of points mentioned does not necessarily 

reflect reality or the needs of any single entity in the public sector. Consequently the points 

mentioned are only suggestions, and the list is not exhaustive. 

The contents would also have to be structurally better adapted.  To be consistent, the structure 

would have to correspond to that mentioned under Point 15.  Therefore Part A, as proposed, 

would have to be forgone. All the more so, because the qualitative characteristics are already 

treated in the Conceptual Framework, which leads to duplication. Furthermore, Sections B and 

C, as they are mentioned in this document, should be combined. They are part of the same 

section Analysis of the entities financial statements including variances and trends. In order to 

ensure a certain logic in the presentation, the SRS-CSPCP proposes that the Implementation 

Guidance be structured as follows. 

 Section A:  Guidance on „overview of the entity“ 

 Section B:  Guidance on „objectives and strategies“ 

 Section C:  Guidance on „commentary (instead of analysis) of the entities financial 

statements, including variances and trends“ 

 Section D:  Guidance on „risks and uncertainties“ 

In the document proposed the content for Sections A, B and D are lacking. Most of the comment 

is therefore still to be drawn up. 

Staff position:  

 Staff agrees to add guidance in the 

opening paragraph of each section of 

the Implementation Guidance that notes 

that (1) information is not required if it is 

already presented in the financial 

statements, and (2) it is up to the 

preparer of FSDA to tailor the guidance 

to the needs of users of the entity’s 

financial statements.. 

 Staff appreciates the logic suggested, 

but does not consider more detailed 

guidance is required on paras. 15 (a), 

(b), and (d). Sufficient guidance is 

provided on those items in paragraphs 

18 – 32 of ED 47 and in the Illustrative 

Example.  

 Staff disagrees that Section A of the 

Implementation Guidance, dealing with 

qualitative characteristics can be 

foregone. It shows how the QCs in 

IPSAS 1 apply specifically to FSDA. Staff 

notes that if this project is not 

completed prior to the approval of Phase 
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1 of the Conceptual Framework, then it 

would need to reflect the QCs in the CF. 

 Staff agrees that Sections B and C of the 

Implementation Guidance both apply to 

para. 15(c); however Section B expands 

on paras. 21 - 22 and Section C expands 

on para. 26.  

Staff does not propose changes. 

005 ED47.7 clarifies that a FSDA is to be issued in conjunction with the annual financial 

statements. The same clarification should be stated in ED47.6, so that we propose the 

following text: “An entity shall issue the financial statement discussion and analysis 

when it issues annual financial statements.” 

Staff position: Staff agrees to make the 

suggested change. See AP 6.1 SMC 1. 

005.1 Property, Plant, and Equipment Paragraph ED47.B.IG10 addresses the rationale for the 

recommended background information. We therefore propose to move this paragraph to the top 

of the section “Property, Plant, and Equipment”, i.e. inserting it before paragraph ED47.B.IG3. 

Staff position: Staff agrees with this 

comment and proposes to make the 

change suggested. 

005.2 Surplus or Deficit for the Period Paragraph ED47.B.IG19 (a) recommends the analysis of net 

revenues or expenses by nature. This is an overlap with paragraphs ED47.B.IG16 and 

ED47.B.IG17 and we thus propose to delete this paragraph without replacement.  

Surplus or Deficit for the Period Paragraph ED47.B.IG19 (b) recommends the comparison of 

direct/ identifiable program revenues to expenses by function. The established approach for 

partitioning the activities of an entity, however, is the segment reporting. We propose to replace 

“program” by “segment” to ensure a consistent approach throughout the financial statements 

including the FSDA. 

Staff position: 

 Staff agrees to delete this duplication. 

 Staff notes that the intent of this 

paragraph was to be consistent with 

IPSAS 1.112 and .113, which classifies 

by nature and function (program or 

purpose). Staff will make the wording 

consistent with ISPAS 1. 

005.3 Commitments, Contingencies, and Events after the Reporting Date Paragraph ED47.B.IG22 (a) 

should not be part of the enumeration, but normal text. The enumeration should include only 

bullets (b) to (f); the numbering should be adjusted accordingly. 

Staff position: Staff agrees to make this 

correction to para. B.IG22. 

Staff will consider the suggestion for para. 
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Commitments, Contingencies, and Events after the Reporting Date Paragraph ED47.B.IG23 

should be moved to the introductory remark on page 23. This change is already part of our 

proposed wording of the introductory remark stated in section a. above. 

B.IG23 in light of changes proposed under 

item a for this respondent. 

005.4 Furthermore, we propose to remove paragraphs ED47.C.IG2 to ED47.C.IG3 “Actual-to-Budget 

Variances” from the Implementation Guidance, and incorporate them as mandatory direction in 

the body text of ED47 and IPSAS 24 instead. 

Staff position: Staff does not agree with 

moving this guidance. See the proposed 

changes to address inconsistency in 

application of IPSAS 24, in SMC 4 and 

SMC 5. 

005.5 Following our rationale outlined above, also the recommendation of providing an explanation of 

the concept of the net book value as stated by ED47.B.IG3 (b) should be deleted. We propose 

the following wording of ED47.B.IG3 (b), limiting the sub-paragraph to the first part of the clause: 

“An analysis of the change in the net book value of property, plant, and equipment by major 

class. 

 

009 4. We recognize that there are some philosophical differences between the Cash 

Reporting IPSAS and the accrual IPSAS since the former emphasizes “fiscal 

discipline” and the latter emphasizes both “fiscal discipline and fiscal 

sustainability”.  However, we would like to have seen some reference in the 

Conclusions to why a FSD&A for the Cash IPSAS was not included in the 

proposed IPSAS for the following reasons: 

a. As a minimum, we believe that a FSD&A should be encouraged in the Cash 

IPSAS similar to what was done in developing the standards for 

“Budget/Actual Comparative Statements (1.9)” and “Recipients of External 

Assistance (1.10)” and that such an IPSAS should be issued for comment at 

the same time as this ED 47.  It is as important for preparers of the required 

financial statements under the Cash IPSAS to explain the financial data in their 

statements as it is for those preparing financial statements under the accrual 

IPSAS. 

Staff position: Staff notes that ED 47 was 

developed to apply to accrual-basis IPSAS 

financial statements. See wording in AP 

6.1, SMC 1. 
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b. The cash basis (or the modified cash basis) is the approach traditionally 

adopted in the public sector for accounting officers of individual ministries, 

departments and agencies to account to governing body for their financial 

management of the entity for which they are responsible.  With the accrual 

basis, actual cash receipts are replaced by estimates of revenue due for the 

year in question and estimates of expenditure (based on guesses on the 

useful life of buildings and other assets and the cost of funding future 

pensions). 

014 Information about the entity’s risks and uncertainties 

In our opinion, the content described under paragraph 15 (d) does not go far enough. In addition 

to risks and uncertainties there needs to be disclosure of opportunities. We realize that 

opportunities are mentioned briefly in paragraphs 27 and 30, but believe there would be merit in 

making such information more prominent and transparent. In addition, the entity’s strengths and 

weaknesses in relation to these opportunities and risks posed by the operating environment 

should also be disclosed. 

Staff position: Staff agrees that 

opportunities should also be referred to in 

para. 15(d) as a basis for the discussion in 

paras. 27 and 30. 

016 We consider that the proposals in ED 47 would require further development if the 

IPSASB wished to issue a standard. In particular, we have identified a number of 

issues relating to scope, being:  

(a) Clarification of the information that should be included in the FSDA over and 

above that already disclosed in the financial statements. ED 47, paragraph 16, 

acknowledges the potential for similar information to be required by both FSDA 

and the financial statements. It states “However, some matters may be required 

to be included in the financial statements by relevant IPSASs that may also be 

required to be included in financial statement discussion and analysis in 

accordance with this Standard. In those cases, financial statement discussion 

and analysis should not merely repeat what is in the financial statements, but it 

should complement and supplement the financial statement explanations by 

 



 IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) Agenda Item 6.2 

Agenda Item 6.2 

Page 137 of 144 

 

RESPONSE 

# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS STAFF COMMENTS 

Other Comments (Including Editorial Suggestions) 

providing insights and perspectives thereon.” We do not consider that this 

guidance is sufficient to assist preparers in deciding for example, what 

information to provide about financial risks, over and above the risk disclosures 

already made in accordance with IPSAS 30 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. 

We consider that further detailed guidance is required in respect of this and 

other topics to help preparers identify the information that should be included in 

FSDA. 

(b) The links between FSDA and non-financial information such as objectives and 

strategies (we have separately discussed service performance information 

below); and 

(c) Staff note: Item (c) pertains to prospective information and is addressed in that 

section. 

017 HoTARAC has also identified the following editorial matters:  

017.1  Paragraph 29 – the paragraph should be amended to “A discussion of the entity’s 

manages…” 

 

017.2  Appendix A – Amendments to Other IPSASs – IPSAS 24 Presentation of Budget 

Information in Financial Statement – Paragraph 54A – this paragraph requires the 

amendment should apply the amendments to the paragraphs 21A, 24A and 153E 

of IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. However, these paragraphs are 

new paragraphs rather than amendments to existing paragraphs. 

 

017.3  Paragraph BC 13(f) – the second sentence should be amended to “The IPSASB 

noted in some of the…” 

 

017.4  Implementation Guidance Section B – the heading for the first dot point – A 

Statement of Financial Position – could be italicised for consistency of styles with 

other headings.  

 

017.5  Paragraph B.IG12(c) – the second last sentence is incomplete.  
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017.6  Paragraph B.IG 16(b)(i) – could be clarified as to the nature of the transfers 

referring to. 

 

017.7  Paragraph B.IG16(c) – could also be clarified as to the circumstances referring to.  

017.8  Paragraph B.IG19(a) – given this is in the context of an entity’s surplus or deficit, 

the phrase “net revenue or expenses” needs to be clarified as to what “view” of 

the surplus/deficit is intended. 

 

017.9  Paragraph B.IG21(c) – refers to “statement of operations”. HoTARAC believes 

this should be amended to “statement of financial performance”.  

 

017.10  Paragraph B.1G22 – states the description of events occurring after the reporting date and 

planned future events are provided in paragraph B13(c). However, HoTARAC is unable to 

find B13(c) in the ED. HoTARAC also consider B.IG22 (b), (c), (d) and (f) are examples of 

additional information for B.IG22(a) and therefore the numberings should be changed to 

reflect this. 

 

017.11  Paragraph C.IG4(b) – using “government business enterprises” as an example of a 

“specific revenue sources” might not be appropriate. 

 

017.12  Paragraph C.IG5 – HoTARAC recommend IPSASB revise some of the examples provided 

for the changes may be within the control of the entity as being those changes are within 

the control of the entity might not always be the case globally. 

 

017.13  Paragrapth C.IG8 –this paragraph should be amended to: “When historical information is 

not be readily available…” 

Staff position: Staff agrees with the 

proposed change. 

025 We are however of the view that the Implementation guideline (A.IG 13), provide that the source 

is quoted where applicable. This will further validate the sources and also act as a reverence 

point for users of financial statements. 

In our opinion, the implementation guideline should provide a lower benchmark of what 

constitute the future as describe in B.IG15. This will minimizing minimize time based discrepancy 

Staff position: Staff proposes to add 

‘source’ to the information to be disclosed 

in para. A.IG14. 

Staff does not consider it necessary to 

further define ‘future’ as the methodology 
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which may arise due to subjective treatment of what constitutes ‘the future’ by different entities 

preparing their financial statements analysis and discussion under this standard when it 

becomes effective. 

and assumptions are required to be 

disclosed in para. A.IG13. This would 

ordinarily include the time frame. 

027 Overview of the entity 

5. Paragraph .18(a) and (b) requires information about an entity’s vision, mission and 

governance (eg legislative or regulatory structure, management structure). During the 

consultation on the Exposure Draft, stakeholders questioned how the disclosure 

information required under paragraph 18(a) and (b) links to the definition of financial 

statement discussion and analysis, as information about an entity’s vision, mission and its 

governance will not necessarily be presented in its financial statements. 

Staff position: See proposed changes to 

FSDA Definition 

027.1 Information about the entity’s objectives and strategies 

6. Paragraph .19 provides guidance on the required disclosure relating to the entity’s 

objectives and strategies. This paragraph can also be interpreted broadly and could result 

in overlapping requirements with, for example, service performance information, as the 

paragraph requires an explanation on how the achievement of the entity’s financial 

objectives will be measured.  

We therefore propose that this potential overlap between information required for 

financial statement discussion and analysis and other information that are presented in 

reports that are outside the financial statements, should be further explained.   

 Staff position: See AP 6.1, SMC 3 for 

proposed wording changes that address 

this concern. 

027.2 Analysis of the entity’s financial statements 

7. We propose that paragraph .23 should be expanded to include examples of 

circumstances where comparative information should be included in financial statement 

discussion and analysis. 

8. We propose that “prospective role” in paragraph .24 should be deleted as it is not clear 

from the discussion that follows what is meant by a prospective role. 

9. We propose that paragraph .25 be expanded to state clearly that sufficient information 

Staff position:  

 Staff proposes to combine para. 23 

with para. 26 as a lead-in to the 

guidance in par. 26. 

 Staff agrees to delete the phrase 

‘prospective role’ from para. 24. The 

term ‘predictive’ conveys the 
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should be presented about an entity’s financial statements to allow users to make their 

own forecasts and projections. The information presented in financial statement 

discussion and analysis should have a predictive value to allow users to develop their 

own forward-looking projections, rather than management making such assessments.  

  

necessary information. 

 Staff agrees to expand para. 25 as 

suggested by the respondent to clarify 

the intent of FSDA which is not to 

provide prospective information, but 

to allow users to develop their own 

prospective judgments. 

 Staff agrees with the respondent’s 

concern regarding para. 26 and with 

the suggested amendment to para. 

26(a). The change should be explained 

in the Basis for Conclusions. 

Respondent #29 suggests wording to 

address this issue. 

See also respondents # 33 and #34 

(and #13, #20, and #24 under SMC 5). 

027.3 Risks and uncertainties 

10. Paragraph .27 requires information about and entity’s risks and uncertainties in assisting 

users to evaluate the impact of such risks in the current period and on expected 

outcomes. Information about an entity’s risks and uncertainties will not necessarily be 

included or presented in the financial statements, but information on how the entity 

manages such risks and uncertainties may well be, for example the information required 

on risks related to financial instruments.  

We therefore recommend that the paragraph be amended to require presentation of 

information on how the entity manages its risks and uncertainties. 

11. Paragraph .29 states that a discussion of how the entity manages its risks will help users 

obtain a complete picture of the entity’s exposure to risks that directly affect financial 

Staff position:  

 Staff agrees with the respondent’s 

suggestion to amend para. 27 to relate 

to ‘management of the entity’s risks 

and uncertainties’. 

 Staff agrees with the respondent’s 

comment on para. 29 and proposes to 

add ‘more’ preceding ‘complete 

picture’ to indicate it is a matter of 

degree. 

 Staff agrees to provide guidance on 
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statement items and disclosure. We are of the view that such a discussion will not 

necessarily provide a complete picture of the entity’s exposure to risks, as other factors 

may also be relevant that will not necessarily be included in the financial statement 

discussion and analysis. 

We therefore propose that the word “complete” be deleted from the statement.  

12. We propose that paragraph .29 should highlight specific risk areas that could be 

considered to avoid requiring disclosure of sensitive or political risks. 

some types of the risks and 

opportunities an entity may face in 

Section B of the Implementation 

Guidance. This will be linked to the 

financial statements as noted in the 

respondent’s comments on para. 11. 

027.4 The following editorial and other minor comments are proposed: 

Paragraph Comment 

Paragraph .29 first sentence Amend “entity’s” to “entity”. 

“A discussion of how the entity’s 

manages its risks ....” 

Heading to paragraphs .33 and .34 

“Transition” vs the heading “Transitional 

provisions” in the Basis for Conclusions 

The reference to the transitional 

provisions should be consistent.  

 

 

031 Exposure draft (ED) 47 regarding financial statement discussion and analysis, states 

that the information required by the ED should be clearly identified and distinguished 

from the financial statements. There are also resulting changes made to IPSAS 1 that 

states that the required information is not part of the financial statements.  

 

031.1 We would encourage management to use tables, graphs and percentages to improve 

comparability, without repeating the Annual Financial Statement information. (From 

there, relevant references to paragraphs can be made.) 

 

031.2 Par. 25 refers to the “main events, trends and factors influencing the current reporting 

period”. These terms are not clearly defined and could result in differences between 

the preparers and auditors. These differences could have reporting implications should 
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assurance type reports be required. 

031.3 The section under the heading “risks and uncertainties”, paragraphs 27 to 32 contain a 

number of “requirements” expressed with the word “may”. The authority attached to the 

requirement expressed as “may”, is illustrative and could result in the requirement 

being ignored by management as there is not a clear “requirement” to include certain 

disclosures. 

 

033 Paragraph 19 is unclear as to whether financial or non-financial objectives and/or strategies 

such as service performance objectives and strategies should be discussed. The second 

sentence of paragraph 19 specifically refers to ‘financial objective’, but the first does not, which 

raises the following issues: 

a. If the requirement only relates to financial objectives, this needs to be clarified 

b. If the requirements do not cover non-financial objectives/strategies, in particular, service 

performance objectives/strategies, it is likely that providing information about the entity’s 

objectives and strategies will be significantly incomplete for many entities. However, it might 

be difficult for the IPSASB to include requirements on non-financial information for FSD&A 

at this stage, until the Board has completed the service performance reporting project. 

Staff position: The first reference in 

paragraph 19 is intended to be broader to 

include non-financial objectives and 

strategies, while the second is specifically 

related to financial objectives and 

strategies.. See AP 6.1, SMC 3 for the 

proposed additional guidance in the 

scope to clarify the relationship of FSDA 

with the notes to the financial statements, 

long-term fiscal sustainability reports and 

service performance reports. 

033.1 In the context of paragraph 18, we suggest that paragraph 18 (c) explicitly refer to the financial 

dependencies and relationships that an entity has and recommend the following amendment: “… 

entity’s relationships with other entities, in particular, relationships of financial relevance (e.g. 

funding arrangements)”. Some public sector entities have relationships in many ways to a lot of 

entities but we believe there should be an emphasis on financial support. 

Staff position: The term ‘financial 

relevance’ is not clear, and staff considers 

it is not necessary in light of the example. 

Staff proposes adding the example of 

‘financial support’ to ‘funding 

arrangements’. 

033.2 Paragraph 26(b): Here it needs to be considered that in the case of first-time adoption of accrual 

basis IPSASs, entities are not required to present comparative information (as tentatively 

decided by the IPSASB in June 2012). As paragraph 26(b) is currently phrased, an entity 

electing not to present comparative information in its first IPSAS financial statements would be 

Staff position: First-time adoption will be 

considered in light of the IPSASB’s 

decision on whether to issue the material 

as an IPSAS. Nevertheless, staff will 
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required to present such information. Therefore, paragraph 34 should provide a reference to 

paragraph 26(b). 

consider necessary changes to the 

guidance on comparative information. 

033.3 Paragraph 28: It only explicitly refers to assets, and not liabilities. Based on the experiences of 

the current sovereign debt crisis, discussions about risks may also refer to the liability situation 

(including unrecognized contingent liabilities) of an entity and what this means for an entity’s 

financial management. 

Staff position: Staff agrees with the 

respondent’s comments on para. 28 and 

agrees to add guidance on liabilities. 

033.4 Paragraph 29 should be amended to include all risks, not just financial risks as that will provide 

users with a more complete view of their exposures, and what measures management has/will 

implement to mitigate those risks. 

Staff position: Staff agrees with the 

respondent’s proposal. It will be 

considered along with other respondent’s 

comments on this paragraph. 

033.5 Paragraph 30: “… care must be taken to ensure it is fact-based, and neutral” (also repeated in 

paragraph 27) – should these be the overall characteristics of the information presented in the 

FSD&A? Instead of repeating it in different paragraphs of the proposed standard, we 

recommend the IPSASB move this to the ‘Qualitative characteristic’ section of this guidance 

(paragraph 9). 

Staff position: Staff agrees with the 

respondent’s proposal because it will 

reduce repetition.  

Staff will also consider whether it should 

be included as guidance with the 

definition of FSDA. 

033.6 Overall comment on paragraphs 27-32: There seems to be a large amount of overlap between 

these requirements and other IPSASs, in particular, IPSAS 14 Events after the Reporting Date 

and IPSAS 30 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. While the scope of the ED appears to be 

broader than IPSAS 30, we would expect considerable overlap of information. 

Staff position: The lead-in to para. 15 

specifically limits what is disclosed in 

FSDA if the information is already 

included in the financial statements. This 

would apply to IPSAS 30. Staff will 

consider how to best convey that if the 

content required in FSDA is already 

reported in an entity’s financial 

statements it need not also be reported in 

the FSDA as well. 
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034 Paragraph 22 of the ED is too liberal in allowing measures of performance “… that are not 

required by or defined by IPSASs.”  The FSDA should be constrained to information that would 

not detract from IPSAS-based information in the FSDA or the financial statements. 

 

 

037 The implementation guidance about Property, Plant, and Equipment in sections B.IG3-B.IG.10 is 

far and above the requirements required to analyse and discus an entity’s financial statements. 

Information about asset age and physical condition are more appropriately contained in a 

recommended practice guideline on asset condition reporting. 

Staff proposal: See comments of 

respondents #17 and #21 in relation to this 

issue. 

Staff considers that this information is 

important for users to understand the 

financial statements in light of the large 

values related to PP&E. If asset condition 

is allowed to continually deteriorate this 

may signal the need for a tax increase to 

fund asset replacement, or entering into 

SCAs. It is also linked to SPR and LTFS, 

although it may be looked at in more 

depth or over longer periods in those 

reports than in FSDA. 
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Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 

 

    Geographic Breakdown 
   

    Region Respondents Total 

 Africa and the Middle East 8, 18, 23, 25, 27, 31 6 

 Asia 29 1 

 Australasia and Oceania 11, 16, 17, 19, 26, 34 6 
 Europe 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 12, 13, 14, 20, 21, 22 11 

 Latin America and the Caribbean 36 1 

 North America 7, 15, 24, 30, 32, 35, 37 7 

 International 5, 9, 10, 28, 33 5 

 Total   37 
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  Functional Breakdown 
   

    Function Respondents Total 

 Accountancy Firm 33 1 
 Audit Office 2, 11, 12, 21, 31 5 

 Member or Regional Body 6, 8, 10, 14, 20, 25, 26, 29 8 

 Preparer 5, 17, 19, 22, 24, 28, 30, 32, 35, 37 10 

 Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 1, 3, 4, 7, 13, 16, 18, 27, 34 9 

 Other 9, 15, 23, 36 4 

 Total   37 
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   Linguistic Breakdown: 
  

   Language Respondents Total 

English-Speaking 
7, 8, 11, 13, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 24, 26, 27, 30, 31, 32, 34, 
35, 37 18 

Non-English Speaking 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18,  21, 22, 29, 36 12 

Combination of English and Other 5, 9, 10, 23, 25, 28, 33 7 

Total   37 
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